UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DO PARANÁ

SUSANA AGUILAR MUGICA

PADRÕES ESPAÇO-TEMPORAIS DE AVES AQUÁTICAS: EFEITO DA CONFIGURAÇÃO DA PAISAGEM E DAS MUDANÇAS CLIMÁTICAS EM CUBA



SUSANA AGUILAR MUGICA

PADRÕES ESPAÇO-TEMPORAIS DE AVES AQUÁTICAS: EFEITO DA CONFIGURAÇÃO DA PAISAGEM E DAS MUDANÇAS CLIMÁTICAS EM CUBA

Tese apresentada ao curso de Pós-Graduação em Zoologia, Setor de Ciências Biológicas, Universidade Federal do Paraná, como requisito parcial à obtenção do título de Doutor em Ciências, área de concentração Zoologia.

Orientadora: Profa. Dra. Lilian Tonelli Manica

CURITIBA 2020

Universidade Federal do Paraná. Sistema de Bibliotecas. Biblioteca de Ciências Biológicas. (Rosilei Vilas Boas – CRB/9-939).

Aguilar Mugica, Susana.

Padrões espaço-temporais de aves aquáticas: efeito da configuração da paisagem e das mudanças climáticas em Cuba. / Susana Aguilar Mugica. – Curitiba, 2020.

182 f. : il.

Orientadora: Lilian Tonelli Manica. Tese (Doutorado) – Universidade Federal do Paraná, Setor de Ciências Biológicas. Programa de Pós-Graduação em Zoologia.

1. Ave aquática. 2. Cuba. 3. Umidade. 4. Mudanças climáticas. 5. Ave -Migração. 6. Biologia costeira. I. Título. II. Manica, Lilian Tonelli. III. Universidade Federal do Paraná. Setor de Ciências Biológicas. Programa de Pós-Graduação em Zoologia.

CDD (20.ed.) 598.297291



MINISTÉRIO DA EDUCAÇÃO SETOR DE CIENCIAS BIOLOGICAS UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DO PARANÁ PRÓ-REITORIA DE PESQUISA E PÓS-GRADUAÇÃO PROGRAMA DE PÓS-GRADUAÇÃO ZOOLOGIA -40001016008P4

TERMO DE APROVAÇÃO

Os membros da Banca Examinadora designada pelo Colegiado do Programa de Pós-Graduação em ZOOLOGIA da Universidade Federal do Paraná foram convocados para realizar a arguição da tese de Doutorado de SUSANA AGUILAR MUGICA intitulada: PADRÕES ESPAÇO-TEMPORAIS DE AVES AQUÁTICAS: EFEITO DA CONFIGURAÇÃO DA

PAISAGEM E DAS MUDANÇAS CLIMÁTICAS EM CUBA, sob orientação da Profa. Dra. LILIAN TONELLI MANICA, que após terem inquirido a aluna e realizada a avaliação do trabalho, são de parecer pela sua APROVAÇÃO no rito de defesa.

A outorga do título de doutor está sujeita à homologação pelo colegiado, ao atendimento de todas as indicações e correções solicitadas pela banca e ao pleno atendimento das demandas regimentais do Programa de Pós-Graduação.

CURITIBA, 18 de Fevereiro de 2020.

gmanica

LILIAN TONELLI MANICA

Presidente da Banca Examinadora (UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DO PARANÁ)

FERNANDA THIESEN BRUM

Avaliador Externo (UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DO PARANÁ - UFPR)

MARCIO ROBERTO PIE

Avaliador Interno (UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DO PARANÁ)

BMONICA ERICA HASUI

Avaliador Externo (UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DE ALFENAS)

Aos meus filhos Daniel e Sergio

AGRADECIMENTOS

Muitas pessoas e instituciones contribuíram para o um bom desenvolvimento desta tese, em Cuba e no Brasil, sou muito grata a todos....

Primeiramente quero agradecer à minha orientadora, Lilian Tonelli Manica, principalmente pela confiança depositada sobre mim desde o início do doutorado e durante todo este tempo, pela sua orientação e seus ensinamentos.

Sou imensamente grata à minha família, meu pai Francisco Aguilar, minha mãe Lourdes Mugica, minha irmã Karen Aguilar, e outros membros da minha família que me deram força nesse período de tanto esforço, longe do meu país e da minha família. Minha mãe e minha irmã não foram apenas um apoio fundamental como família, mas também como apoio profissional para esta pesquisa. Aos meus queridos filhos Daniel e Sergio por suportar essa fase de ausência e muita concentração nos estudos.

À minha amiga Susel Castellanos pelo seu guia desde o início deste doutorado e todo seu apoio durante esses anos de pesquisa.

A Martin Acosta da Universidade da Habana, especialmente, por toda a sua participação neste estudo, revisões do manuscrito, sugestões e apoio no trabalho de campo.

A todos os colegas do Laboratório de Ecologia Comportamental e Ornitologia (LECO), por qualquer ajuda prestada nesses anos.

A todos do Programa de Pós-graduação em Zoologia da UFPR e todos os professores que compartilharam seus conhecimentos durante as disciplinas.

Aos professores Isabela Galarda e Marcio Pie da UFPR e Danilo Boscolo, da Universidade de São Paulo, em Ribeirão Preto, por fazerem parte do meu comitê de acompanhamento de doutorado e de todas as sugestões para esta tese.

Ao professor André Padial do PPG Ecologia e Conservação da UFPR por suas sugestões na estatística.

Aos professores do Curso de Ecologia da Paisagem da Universidade Federal do São Carlos, principalmente Felipe Martelo e Milton Cezar Ribeiro.

Ao Carlos Mancina del Instituto de Ecologia y Sistematica de Cuba, Fernanda Thiesen Brum, do PPG Ecologia e Conservação da UFPR e Daphne Spier Moreira da UFPR Campus Litoral, pelo treinamento e as sugestões metodológicas em modelos de distribuição de espécies.

Ao professor Ricardo Remond da Facultade de Geografía, Universidade da Habana, por seu treinamento em Sistemas de Informação Geográfica.

Aos colegas David Green e Jennifer Wheeler pela revisão do inglês e pelas sugestões ao manuscrito.

À Omar Labrada, Dunia Navarro, Luis Inguanzo, Alberto Rodríguez, Raul Gomez, Zaimiuri Hernandes, Manuel Lopes (técnicos de área protegidas cubanas), Rodolfo Castro del Instituto Nacional de Ciencias Agricolas en Pinar del Rio e Ayleni Gonzales da Universidade da Habana, pela assistência no trabalho de campo.

À equipe do Corpo de Guarda florestal Nacional de Cuba (Manuel Lama e Bertha Crespo), estações de Guarda florestal El Cajio (Sandro) e de Helpi, Ponto de Guardafronteira do Cajio e áreas protegidas da Empresa Nacional de Proteção da Flora e Fauna de Cuba (Refugios de Fauna San Ubaldo Sabanalamar (Mayra e Yasmari), Golfo de Batabano (Teresa, Elvis e Juan Carlos), Sureste del Ingles (Borrego) Delta del Cauto, Monte Cabaniguan, Canales del Hanabana, Punta Caribe, Tunas de Zaza e o Parque Nacional Cienaga de Zapata) por apoiar esta pesquisa.

Agradeço ao Centro Nacional de Areas Protegidas del Mnisterio de Ciencia Tecnologia y Medio Ambiente de Cuba (aos colegas Amnerys Gonzales, Rolando Fernandez de Arcila e Maria Antonia Castañeiras) e ao projeto GEF (Global Environment Facility) *Application of a Regional Approach to the Management of Marine and Coastal Protected Areas in Cuba's Southern Archipelagos* pelo apoio deste estudo.

A banca por ter aceito avaliar essa tese, Luis Mestre, Fernanda Thiesen e Marcio Pie da UFPR e Erica Hasui da Universidade Federal de Alfenas.

Por fim, quero agradecer ao CNPq (Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico) por conceder minha bolsa e a taxa de bancada que financiaram parte deste projeto de doutorado.

Muito Obrigada!

RESUMO

Cuba é a maior ilha do Caribe, possuindo as áreas úmidas mais extensas da região. Das ~ 370 espécies de aves cubanas, 40% são dependentes de zonas úmidas e a maioria é migratória. O conhecimento do uso destas áreas por aves é crítico para a conservação regional, principalmente no que refere-se à estrutura da paisagem. Além disso, as aves dependentes das áreas úmidas são consideradas altamente ameaçadas pelos efeitos das mudanças climáticas. No Capítulo 1, nós caracterizamos assembléias de aves aquáticas da costa sul cubana, relatamos suas variações espaço-temporais e sugerimos estratégias de conservação. Realizamos amostragens em seis zonas úmidas entre 2011-2013. Identificamos diferencas na composição das aves aquáticas entre locais e estações, mas não entre anos. Não foram encontradas diferenças na variabilidade espacial ou temporal da abundância entre locais, estações ou anos. Doze espécies apresentaram abundância superior a 1% da população global. Este estudo destaca a importância global da costa sul cubana para a conservação das aves aquáticas, particularmente durante a migração no outono. Com estes resultados propomos a criação de novos áreas de conservação. No Capítulo 2, testamos o efeito da configuração da paisagem na estrutura das comunidades de aves aquáticas em áreas úmidas costeiras em um gradiente de conservação no sudoeste de Cuba. Foram realizados levantamentos de aves aquáticas em 14 pontos na costa durante o outono de 2016. A estrutura da paisagem foi descrita por 11 índices em três escalas espaciais. Nossos resultados mostram que na escala de 6 km a área de mangue influenciou negativamente a abundância de aves, enquanto que, na escala de 2 km, a porcentagem coberto por lagoas teve um efeito positivo. Também na escala de 2 km, a porcentagem de cobertura por manguezais e lagoas influenciou positivamente a composição de especies. A porcentagem de área com uso antrópico não influencia nenhuma variável da comunidade de aves. Nossos resultados mostram que detectar os efeitos de escala dos recursos de paisagem é muito importante para um manejo eficaz das aves aquáticas. No Capítulo 3, previmos distribuições atuais e futuras do flamingo Phoenicopterus ruber e da garça-vermelha Egretta rufescens usando modelos de distribuição de espécies. Para cada espécie, previmos dois cenários de emissões em 2050 e 2070, em Cuba. As variáveis bioclimáticas que mais contribuíram para modelar a distribuição do flamingo foram a variação média diária e sazonalidade da temperatura. A variação média diária da temperatura também contribuiu mais para a modelagem garça-vermelha, seguida pela precipitação no quarto mais quente. Nossos resultados mostram que a distribuição atual do flamingo deve reduzir 38% no cenário pessimista de 2070, enquanto a área de distribuição da garça-vermelha deverá aumentar em 44%. Nossas descobertas sugerem que a modelagem da distribuição de espécies pode informar sobre o manejo futuro do flamingo e da garçavermelha. É necessária uma estratégia de conservação para proteger o flamingo sob um clima em mudança. Os resultados desta tese não apenas destacam a boa saúde de zonas úmidas cubanas, mas incentivam seu manejo no nível da paisagem e a previsão dos efeitos de mudanças climáticas.

Palavras-chave: Cenários climáticos futuros, Comunidade de aves aquáticas, Estrutura da paisagem, Variação sazonal, Zonas úmidas costeiras

ABSTRACT

Cuba is the largest Caribbean island, presenting the most extensive wetlands in the region. From all ~370 bird species in this country, 40% are wetland-dependent and most are migratory. Understanding how birds use Cuba's wetlands and how landscape structure affects waterbird distribution is critical for regional conservation. Also, wetland-dependent birds are considered to be endangered by climate change effects. In chapter 1, we characterized waterbird assemblages in Cuban south coastal wetlands, reported spatiotemporal variations in waterbirds and suggested conservation strategies. We conducted surveys across six wetlands (2011-2013). Differences in waterbird composition were identified among sites and seasons but not among years. No differences were found in spatial or temporal variability in abundance among sites, seasons or years. Twelve species were at abundance levels exceeding 1% of their estimated global population. This study highlights the global importance of Cuban south coast to waterbird conservation. Based on our results, we encourage the creation of conservation areas. In chapter 2, we aimed to investigate the effect of landscape configuration on the structure of waterbird communities in coastal wetlands in a conservation gradient in southwestern Cuba. We conducted waterbird surveys across 14 points on southwest coast during fall migration of 2016. Landscape structure was described using 11 indices at three spatial scales. Our results show that, in 6km, the mean patch area of mangrove had a negative influence in waterbird abundance, while at 2km the percentage of landscape covered by lagoons have a positive effect. Instead, a higher percentage of landscape covered by mangroves and lagoons had a positive effect in waterbird composition in 2 km. The percentage of anthropogenic land use does not influence any response variable. Our study shows that detecting the scale of effect of important landscape resources is very important for the effective management of waterbird. In chapter 3, we predicted current and future distributions of American Flamingo Phoenicopterus ruber and Reddish Egret Egretta rufescens, two resident species in Cuba, using species distribution models with Maxent software. For each species, we predicted two emissions scenarios in 2050 and 2070, in Cuba. Bioclimatic variables that contributed the most to modeling the potential distribution of American Flamingo were mean diurnal temperature range (mean of monthly (max temp - min temp)) and temperature seasonality. Mean diurnal range also contributed most to the modeling of Reddish Egret followed by precipitation of warmest quarter. Our results show that the current distribution of American Flamingo is predicted to reduce 38% under a changing future climate, in the pessimistic scenario of 2070, while the current distribution size of Reddish Egret is predicted to increase in 44%. Our findings suggest that species distribution modeling can inform the current and future management of the American Flamingo and Reddish Egret throughout Cuba. A conservation strategy is needed to conserve American Flamingo under a changing climate. The results of this thesis not only highlights the good health of Cuban wetlands, but encourage their management at the landscape level and the prediction of the possible effects of future climate changes.

Keywords: Coastal wetlands, Future climate scnarios, Landscape structure, Seasonal variation, Waterbird community

LISTA DE FIGURAS

<u>Capítulo I - Spatio-temporal patterns of waterbird assemblages in Cuba's south coast</u> wetlands: conservation implication

Figure 1 Location of wetland study sites on the Cuban south coast......30

Figure 5 Multivariate dispersion of waterbird abundance among six Cuban south coastal wetlands (2011 to 2013) based on the Jaccard index method (Betadisper plot). Codes for the sampled sites (S1 to S6) are presented in Table 1......40

<u>Capítulo II- Effect of landscape structure on waterbirds community in a conservation</u> <u>gradient in southwestern wetlands coast of Cuba</u>

<u>Capítulo III - Potential effects of climate change on the distribution of waterbirds in</u> <u>Cuba</u>

Figure 2 Maps of binary suitable area from 10 percentile training presence logistic threshold (Maxent output) in current (2000) and future climate scenarios (RCP 2.6 W/m² and RCP 8.6 W/m²) for 2050 and 2070 for American Flamingo in Cuba. Maps were obtained using an ensemble-forecast approach across the three general circulation models BCC-CSM1-1, CCCM4 and GISS-E2-R. Gray = not suitable area, Pink = suitable area......130

LISTA DE TABELAS

<u>Capítulo I - Spatio-temporal patterns of waterbird assemblages in Cuba's south coast</u> wetlands: conservation implication

<u>Capítulo II- Effect of landscape structure on waterbirds community in a conservation</u> <u>gradient in southwestern wetlands coast of Cuba</u>

<u>Capítulo III - Potential effects of climate change on the distribution of waterbirds in</u> <u>Cuba</u>

Table 1 Bioclimatic variables used in the species distribution modeling for	American
Flamingo and Reddish Egret	122
Table 2 Contribution (%) of environmental variables to the Maxent SDMs of	American
Flamingo and Reddish Egret	128

SUMÁRIO

GENERAL INTRODUCTION	
CAPÍTULO I. Spatio-temporal patterns of waterbird assemblages in	Cuba's south coast
wetlands: conservation implication	
Abstract	26
1. Introduction	
2. Materials and Methods	
2.1 Study Area	
2.2 Waterbird Surveys	
2.3 Data Analysis	
3. Results	
3.1 Composition of the waterbird assemblage	
3.2 Spatial and temporal patterns in waterbird assemblages	
3.3 Conservation assessment	
4. Discussion	
4.1 Conservation implications	
5. Aknowledgments	
6. References	
7. Supplementary materials	
CAPÍTULO II. Effect of landscape structure on waterbirds communi	ity in a conservation
gradient in southwestern wetlands coast of Cuba	
Abstract	
1. Introduction	
2. Materials and Methods	
2.1 Study Area	
2.2 Waterbird survey	75
2.3 Landscape structure	77
2.4 Data Analysis	
3. Results	
3.1 Characterization of the waterbird community structure	
3.2 Landscape configuration correlates with waterbirds commun	nity structure 83

4.	Discussion	89
	4.1 Conservation implications	
5.	Acknowledgments	
6.	References	
7.	Supplementary materials	104
CAP	PÍTULO III. Potential effects of climate change on the distribution of wa	aterbird in Cuba
1.	Introduction	113
2.	Material and Methods	117
	2.1 Study species	117
	2.2 Species occurrence data	119
	2.3 Environmental variables	
	2.4 Bioclimatic variables of future climate projections	122
	2.5 Background points	123
	2.6 Species distribution models	
	2.7 Geospatial Analysis of the Impacts of Climate Change	125
3.	Results	126
	3.1 Model performance and environmental variables	126
	3.2 Potential effects of climate change	128
4.	Discussion	135
	4.1 American Flamingo	135
	4.2 Reddish Egret	138
	4.4 Modeling approach	
	4.5 Conservation implications	
5.	Aknowledgments	
6.	References	
7.	Supplementary materials	153
FIN	AL CONSIDERATIONS	160
RFF	TERENCES	162
TATAL.		

GENERAL INTRODUCTION

Waterbirds have been recognized as indicators of wetland health given that their presence provides information on this ecosystem functioning (Becker 2003). Waterbirds depend on wetlands for survival because these areas are used during all stages of their annual life cycle (Mugica et al. 2006). Specifically, coastal wetlands are areas of great importance as they harbor fragile ecosystems, which are very sensitive to climate change (Erwin 2009).

Cuba is the largest Caribbean island which contains the most extensive wetlands in the region (CNAP 2013). The Cuban archipelago covers 109,886 km² and comprises 4,196 islands and cays. The main island of Cuba has an extension of 1,250 km from East to West and is bordered by four group of cays: Sabana Camagüey Archipelago, Canarreos Archipelago, Jardines de la Reina Archipelago and Los Colorados Archipelago. Cuba is divided into three biogeographic regions: east, central and west (Vales et al. 1998).

In Cuba, 369 bird species have been recorded (Garrido and Kirckconnell 2010), of which 150 are wetland-dependent. These waterbirds are grouped into 8 orders and 27 families, being Anatidae, Scolopacidae and Laridae the richest ones (Acosta and Mugica 2006). Among all species, 123 are migratory, 27 winter residents, 10 summer residents, 16 transients, 43 accidentals and 27 maintain bimodal populations (Garrido and Kirckconnell 2010). Given its biogeographic position, Cuba receives an important flow of migratory birds from North America (Frederick et al. 1996). For these reasons, studies of waterbirds in Cuba are important not only at the local, but also at the regional level.

Studies on waterbirds in Cuba focus mostly on ecological aspects related to population dinamics, morphology, feeding or reproduction (Denis et al. 1999; Denis et al. 2004; Denis

et al. 2006), with ducks and herons being the most studied groups. In recent years, a scientific advance has been carried out in Cuba through research addressing the dynamics of waterbird populations, such as those in anthropic wetlands (rice fields) in the Sur del Jíbaro, Sancti Spiritus (Mugica et al. 2001; Acosta et al. 2002; Mugica et al. 2003), Havana Bay, (González 2007), La Havana artificial lagoon (Silvera, 2005) and in natural wetlands in Ciénaga de Zapata (LLanes 1993, Parada 2000), Río Máximo (Perera 2004), Ciénaga de Birama (Molina 2007), Playa la Tinaja (Acosta et al. 1992) and Ciénaga de Lanier (Forneiro 2000). In general, these studies comprised few and small wetlands, and none included the three biogegraphic regions of the island and covered a long-term temporal scale to allow for a robust sampling of different periods of the waterbirds' life cycle.

Wetland and waterbirds conservation

Biodiversity conservation strategies are more efficient when relying upon studies and managements at large spatial and temporal scales (Poiani et al. 2000). The spatial and temporal scales are of particular interest for wetland conservation since these areas are used by high mobile organisms such as waterbirds (Wen et al. 2016). These species normally use multiple wetlands on their daily and annual activities, even though this aspect is often ignored in species conservation planning (Haig et al. 1998). The coastal wetlands in Cuba have differents degrees of degradation, fragmentation and habitat loss due to the anthropic actions (Iturralde and Serrano 2015). In this sense, the study of landscape patterns is essential for conservation biology in anthropic regions (Bennet 2004).

In recent years, multiple investigations related to spatial patterns in organisms and specifically birds have been carried out, focusing on the effect of patches and heterogeneity,

habitat connectivity and the influence of the spatial context in this group (Boscolo et al. 2009; Brandolin and Blendinger 2016; Herbert et al. 2018). However, this approach has not been studied in the Cuban context.

Landscape studies are often conducted at a single spatial scale for the studied species (Trzcinski et al. 1999; Holland and Fahrig 2000). However, it is likely that different species respond to their environments at different spatial scales (Lyra-Jorge et al. 2010; Jackson and Fahrig 2015). Usually little is known about the scales at which a species responds to structural characteristics of its environment. Furthermore, even though there have been several studies on the spatial scale in waterbirds (Perez-Garcia et al. 2014, Webb et al. 2010; Beatty et al. 2014), this has been little evaluated in coastal wetlands. Understanding issues associated with scale is essential in landscape ecology (Turner and Gardner 2015).

In addition to habitat loss and fragmentation, wetland-dependent birds are considered to be at particularly high risk for negative climate change effects (Steen and Powell 2012). Global climate warming is projected to be between 0.3 and 4.8°C by 2100 (IPCC 2013), with significant consequences for global biodiversity (Thomas et al. 2004). Much of the capacity to mitigate against species losses will lie in our ability to anticipate the effects of climate change (Heller and Zavaleta 2009). Climate change is identified as one of the greatest threats to biodiversity in Cuba (CITMA 2016). However, there are few studies that explore possible changes in the distribution of wildlife species in future climate scenarios.

In this context, species distribution modeling (SDMs) is widely used to address issues in biogeography, global climate change, and conservation biology (Engler et al. 2004; Guisan et al. 2006). SDMs utilize species presence data and associated ecological variables, e.g. physical and environmental conditions, to map areas of suitable habitat for the species in question (Guisan and Thuiller 2005). Improving the efficiency of the SDMs, i.e. identifying areas with the highest conservation value, establishment of protected areas, implementation of suitable conservation measures and determining the potential impacts of predicted future climate change on species' range shift, is a critical point for conservation biology (Carvalho et al. 2010; Bosso et al. 2013). Also, several studies have use SDMs to evaluated the effect of climate change specifically in waterbirds (Hu et al. 2010; Steen and Powell 2012; Hu and Liu 2014).

Considering the information gaps and the importance of the topics discussed above for bird conservation in Cuba, the general objectives of this thesis are to i) characterize waterbird assemblages in Cuban south coastal wetlands, report spatio-temporal variations in waterbird diversity and suggest conservation strategies, ii) test the effects of landscape structure on waterbird communities in coastal wetlands within a conservation gradient in southwestern Cuba and evaluate the relative contribution of the configuration of lagoons, mangrove, rice field and anthropogenic land to waterbirds diversity, and iii) evaluate the effect of climate change in two key waterbird species in Cuba through SDMs.

References

- Acosta M, Mugica L (2006) Aves acuáticas en Cuba 136-159. En: Aves acuáticas en los humedales de Cuba. (L. Mugica; D. Denis; M. Acosta, eds.) Ed. Científico-Técnica. La Habana, Cuba
- Acosta M, Morales J, González M, Mugica L (1992) Dinámica de la comunidad de aves de la playa La Tinaja, Ciego de Ávila, Cuba. Ciencias Biológicas 24: 44-56
- Acosta M, Mugica L, Denis D (2002) Dinámica de los principales gremios de aves que habitan la arrocera sur del Jíbaro, Sancti Spiritus, Cuba. El Pitirre 15(1): 25-30
- Beatty WS, Webb EB, Kesler DC, Raedeke AH, Naylor LW, Humburg DD (2014) Landscape effects on mallard habitat selection at multiple spatial scales during the non-breeding period. Landscape Ecology 29:989–1000. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10980-014-0035-x
- Becker PH (2003) Biomonitoring with birds. En: Bioindicators and biomonitors. B. A Markert, A. M. Breure, H. G. Zechmeister, (ed). Elsevier Science Ltd.

- Bennet AF (2004) Enlazando el paisaje: El papel de los corredores y la conectividad en la conservación de la vida silvestre. UICN-Unión Mundial para la Naturaleza, San José, Costa Rica
- Bosso L, Rebelo H, Garonna AP, Russo D (2013) Modelling geographic distribution and detecting conservation gaps in Italy for the threatened beetle Rosalia alpina. Journal for Nature Conservation 21: 72–80
- Boscolo D, Metzger JP (2009) Is bird incidence in Atlantic forest fragments influenced by landscape patterns at multiple scales? Landscape Ecology 24:907–918. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10980-009-9370-8
- Brandolin PG, Blendinger PG (2016) Effect of habitat and landscape structure on waterbird abundance in wetlands of central Argentina. Wetlands Ecological Manage 24:93–105 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11273-015-9454-y
- Carvalho SB, Brito JC, Pressey RL, Crespo E, Possingham HP (2010) Simulating the effects of using different types of species distribution data in reserve selection. Biological Conservation 143: 426–438
- CITMA Ministerio de Ciencia Tecnología y Medio Ambiente (2016) Estrategia Ambiental Nacional, La Habana, Cuba. http://repositorio.geotech.cu. Accessed 30 Oct 2019
- CNAP Centro Nacional de Áreas Protegidas (2013) Plan del Sistema Nacional de Áreas Protegidas 2014-2020, Ministerio de Ciencias Tecnología y Medio Ambiente, la Habana, Cuba. 366 pp
- Denis D, Ponce de León JL (2006) Ecología reproductiva de la Garza Rojiza *Egretta rufescens* (Aves: Ardeidae) en la ciénaga de Birama. Biología. 20(1-2):17-23
- Denis D, Mugica L, Acosta M, Torreia L (1999) Nuevos reportes sobre la época reproductiva de aves acuáticas coloniales en Cuba. El Pitirre 12 (1): 7-9
- Denis D, Rodríguez P, Rodríguez A, Jiménez A, Ponce de León JL (2004) Segregación espaciotemporal en varias colonias de garzas (Aves: Ardeidae) en la Ciénaga de Biramas, Cuba. En: Humedales de Iberoamérica. Ed. J. J. Neiff. pp 204-210
- Ekroos J, Kuussaari M (2012) Landscape context affects the relationship between local and landscape species richness of butterflies in seminatural habitats. Ecography 35(3):232–238. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.2011.07005.x
- Engler R, Guisan A, Rechsteiner L (2004) An improved approach for predicting the distribution of rare and endangered species from occurrence and pseudoabsence data. Journal of Applied Ecology 41: 263–274
- Erwin KL (2009) Wetlands and global climate change: the role of wetland restoration in a changing world. Wetlands Ecol Manage 17: 71. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11273-008-9119-1
- Finlayson CM, Davies GT, Moomaw WR, Chmura GL, Natali SM, Perry JE, Roulet N, Sutton-Grier AE (2019) The Second Warning to Humanity – Providing a Context for Wetland Management and Policy. Wetlands 39:1–5. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13157-018-1064-z
- Forneiro Y (2000) Representatividad de los humedales del occidente de Cuba. Tesis de diploma. Facultad de Biología. Universidad de la Habana. La Habana, Cuba
- Frederick PC, Bildstein KL, Fleury B, Odgen J (1996) Conservation of large, nomadic populations of White Ibises (*Eudocimus albus*) in the United States. Conserv. Biol. 10:203–216
- Garrido O, Kirkconnell A (2010) Aves de Cuba. Cornell University Press, New York. 287 pp
- González A (2007) Caracterización de dos comunidades de aves acuáticas en humedales asociados a la Bahía de la Habana. Tesis de Diploma, Universidad de la Habana, Cuba. 68 pp.

- Guisan A, Broennimann O, Engler R, Vust M, Yoccoz NG, et al. (2006) Using niche-based models to improve the sampling of rare species. Conservation Biology 20: 501–511
- Guisan A, Thuiller W (2005) Predicting species distribution: offering more than simple habitat models. Ecology Letters 8: 993–1009
- Haig SM, Mehlman DW, Oring LW (1998) Avian movement and wetland connectivity in landscape conservation. Conservation Biology 12: 749-758
- Heller NE, Zavaleta ES (2009) Biodiversity management in the face of climate change: a review of 22 years of recommendations. Biological conservation 142: 14-32
- Henry DAW, Cumming GS (2017) Can waterbirds with different movement, dietary and foraging functional traits occupy similar ecological niches? Landscape Ecology 32:265–278. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10980-016-0449-8
- Herbert JA, Chakraborty A, Naylor LW, Beatty WS, Krementz DG (2018) Effects of landscape structure and temporal habitat dynamics on wintering mallard abundance. Landscape Ecology 33:1319–1334. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-018-0671-7
- Holland JD, Fahrig L (2000) Effect of woody borders on insect density and diversity in crop fields: A landscape-scale analysis. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 78: 115–122
- Hu J, Hu H, Jiang Z (2010) The impacts of climate change on the wintering distribution of an migratory bird. Oecologia 164: 555–565. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-010-1732-z
- Hu J, Liu Y (2014) Unveiling the Conservation Biogeography of a Data Deficient Endangered Bird Species under Climate Change. PLOS ONE 9 (1). e84529. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0084529
- IPCC (2013) Resumen para responsables de políticas. En: Stocker, T. F., D. Qin, G.-K. Plattner, M. Tignor, S. K. Allen, J. Boschung, A. Nauels, Y. Xia, V. Bex y P.M. Midgley (Eds.): Cambio Climático 2013: Bases físicas. Contribución del Grupo de trabajo I al Quinto Informe de Evaluación del Grupo Intergubernamental de Expertos sobre el Cambio Climático. 1-27. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, Reino Unido y Nueva York, NY, Estados Unidos de América.
- Iturralde MA, Serrano H (2015) Peligros y vulnerabilidades de la zona marino-costera de Cuba: estado actual y perspectivas ante el cambio climático hasta el 2100. Agencia de Medio Ambiente, CITMA. Editorial Academia, La Habana, Cuba
- Jackson HB, Fahrig L (2015) Are ecologists conducting research at the optimal scale? Glob Ecol Biogeogr 24: 52–63. https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.12233
- Lindenmayer D, Hobbs RJ, Montague-Drake R, Alexandra J, Bennett A, Burgman M, Cale P, Calhoun A, Cramer V, Cullen P, Driscoll D, Fahrig L, Fischer J, Franklin J, Haila Y, Hunter M, Gibbons P, Lake S, Luck G, MacGregor C, McIntyre S, Nally RM, Manning A, Miller J, Mooney H, Noss R, Possingham H, Saunders D, Schmiegelow F, Scott M, Simberloff D, Sisk T, Tabor G, Walker B, Wiens J, Woinarski J, Zavaleta E (2008) A checklist for ecological management of landscapes for conservation. Ecological Letter 11:78–91. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2007.01114.x
- Llanes A (1993) Dinámica de la Comunidad de aves en el Refugio de Fauna Las Salinas, Ciénaga de Zapata, Matanzas. El Pitirre 6 (3)
- Menéndez L, Guzmán JM, Capote RT, Rodríguez LF, Gonzáles AV (2003) Situación ambiental de los manglares del archipiélago cubano. In: Memorias IV Convención Internacional sobre Medio Ambiente y Desarrollo, La Habana, pp 435-451

- Mugica L, Acosta M, Denis D (2001) Dinámica temporal de la Comunidad de aves asociada a la arrocera Sur del Jíbaro. Biología 15(2): 86-96
- Mugica L, Acosta M, Denis D (2003) Variaciones espacio temporales y uso del hábitat por la comunidad de aves en la arrocera Sur del Jíbaro, Sancti Spiritus, Cuba. Biología 17(2): 105-113
- Mugica L, Acosta M, Denis D (2006) Conservando las aves acuáticas. Capítulo VII. pp En: Aves acuáticas en los humedales de Cuba. (L. Mugica, D. Denis, M. Acosta, eds.) Ed. Científico-Técnica. La Habana, Cuba
- Parada A (2000) Caracterización y dinámica de la ornitocenosis del Refugio de Fauna Las Salinas de Brito, Ciénaga de Zapata, Cuba. Tesis de Diploma, Universidad de la Habana, Cuba. 44 pp.
- Perera S (2004) Dinámica de la Comunidad de Aves Acuáticas del Refugio de Fauna Rió Máximo, Camagüey. Tesis de diploma. Universidad de la Habana, Cuba.
- Pérez-García JM, Sebastián-González E, Alexander KL, Sánchez-Zapata JA, Botella F (2014) Effect of landscape configuration and habitat quality on the community structure of waterbirds using a man-made habitat. European Journal of Wildlife Research 60:875-883. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10344-014-0854-8
- Poiani KA, Richter BD, Anderson MG, Richter HE (2000) Biodiversity conservation at multiple scales: functional sites, landscapes, and networks. BioScience 50(2): 133-146
- Silvera Y (2005) Dinámica de la comunidad de aves acuáticas en la micropresa del parque Lenin durante las etapas migratorias del 2002 al 2005. Tesis de diploma. Facultad de Biología. Universidad de la Habana. Ciudad de la Habana. 60pp.
- Steen V, Powell AN (2012) Potential Effects of Climate Change on the Distribution of Waterbirds in the Prairie Pothole Region, U.S.A. Waterbirds 35(2): 217-229
- Trzcinski MK, Fahrig L, Merriam HG (1999) Independent effects of forest cover and fragmentation on the distribution of forest breeding birds. Ecological Applications 9: 586–593
- Thomas CD, Cameron A, Green RE, Bakkenes M, Beaumont LJ, Collingham YC, Erasmus BFN, de Siqueira MF, Grainger A, Hannah L, Hughes L, Huntley B, van Jaarsveld A S, Midgley GF, Miles L, Ortega-Huerta MA, Peterson
- AT, Phillips OL, Williams SE (2004) Extinction risk from climate change. Nature 427: 145-148
- Thornton DH, Branch LC, Sunquist ME (2011) The influence of landscape, patch, and within-patch factors on species presence and abundance: a review of focal patch studies. Landscape Ecology 26:7–18. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-010-9549-z
- Turner MG, Gardner RH (2015) Lanscape Ecology in Theory and Practice, Pattern and Process, second edition. Springer-Verlag, New York
- Vales M, Alvares A, Montes L, Feraz H (eds.) (1998) Estudio Nacional de Biodiversidad, Proyecto GEF/PNUMA, CITMA, La Habana, Cuba
- Webb E, Smith LM, Vrtiska MP, Lagrange TG (2010) Effects of Local and Landscape Variables on Wetland Bird Habitat Use During Migration Through the Rainwater Basin. Journal of Wildlife Management 74(1):109–119. https://doi.org/10.2193/2008-577
- Wen L, Saintilan N, Reid JRW, Colloff MJ (2016) Changes in distribution of waterbirds following prolonged drought reflect habitat availability in coastal and inland regions. Ecology and Evolution 6 (18):6672-6689. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.2091
- Wiens JA (2002) Central concepts and issues of landscape ecology. In: Gutzwiller KJ (ed) Applying landscape ecology in biological conservation. Spinger-Verlag, New York, pp 3–21

Xu Y, Si Y, Yin S, Zhang W, Grishchenko M, Prins H H T, Gong P, de Boer WF (2019) Speciesdependent effects of habitat degradation in relation to seasonal distribution of migratory waterfowl in the East Asian–Australasian Flyway. Landscape Ecology 34:243–257. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-018-00767-7

CAPÍTULO I. Spatio-temporal patterns of waterbird assemblages in Cuba's south coast wetlands: conservation implication

Capítulo publicado na revista *Wetlands* (2019) doi.org/10.1007/s13157-019-01178-3 Qualis CAPES (Biodiversidade 2013-2016): B1

Autores: Susana Aguilar, Lilian Tonelli Manica, Martín Acosta, Rodolfo Castro, Zaimiuri Hernández, Alieny González, Manuel López e Lourdes Mugica Abstract Cuba is the largest Caribbean island, supporting the most extensive wetlands in the region. Of the ~370 bird species in this country, approximately 40% are wetlanddependent and most are migratory. Knowledge of bird use of Cuba's wetlands is critical for regional conservation. This study characterized waterbird assemblages in Cuban south coastal wetlands, reports spatio-temporal variations in waterbird diversity and suggests conservation strategies. We conducted 543 surveys across six wetlands (2011-2013). We recorded 110 species. Blue-winged Teal (Spatula discors) and Least Sandpiper (Calidris minutilla) were the dominant species. The site with the highest richness and waterbird abundance was Humedal Sur de Los Palacios. Differences in waterbird composition were identified among sites and seasons but not among years. No differences were found in spatial or temporal variability in abundance among sites, seasons or years. Assemblage composition was not spatially dependent on the location of wetlands. Twelve species were at abundance levels exceeding 1 % of their estimated global population. This study highlights the global importance of the Cuban south coast to waterbird conservation, particularly during fall migration and the uniqueness of Humedal Sur de Los Palacios. We encourage creation of new Ramsar sites, an Important Bird Area and a new protected area.

Keywords Diversity. Community structure. Migration. Multivariate analysis. Seasonal variation. Waterbird composition

1. Introduction

Wetlands are important conservation sites due to their high biodiversity (Malik and Joshi 2013) and the ecosystem services they provide (Green and Elmberg 2013; Sutton-Grier and Sandifer 2018). However, the rapid degradation of these ecosystems globally (Perillo et al. 2005; Davidson 2014) produces an urgent need for ecological studies to support conservation actions (Lee 2017). Coastal wetlands provide suitable habitats and food resources for a variety of birds (Ali et al. 2016), including stopover sites for migratory waterbirds (Bamford et al. 2008; Webb et al. 2010). Because of their high mobility, waterbirds respond quickly to habitat changes (Romano et al. 2005; Cumming et al. 2012; Henry and Cumming 2017), thus they are considered good bio-indicators of habitat quality (Bhat et al. 2009; Bai et al. 2015) and they provide information on the health of wetland ecosystems (Amat and Green 2010; Ogden et al. 2014).

Studies of bird community structure and function are important for grounding ecological theory and conservation practice (Chettri et al. 2001; Hurlbert 2004). Conserving bird diversity requires an understanding of bird–environment relationships year-round (Newton 1998; Russell et al. 2014) and a management of both breeding and wintering habitats of migratory birds (Rappole et al. 2003; Kirby et al. 2008). Consequently, a knowledge of the processes occurring in winter, as well as the annual and seasonal variations in waterbird diversity, are necessary to understand the function and biodiversity values of wetlands (Saygili et al. 2011). The worldwide conservation crisis emphasizes the need for a large scale, long term and multiple species approach in recent research. This approach is of particular interest for the conservation of wetlands that host highly mobile organisms such as

waterbirds. The population dynamics of these species depend on multiple wetlands; this aspect, however, is often ignored in conservation planning (Haig et al. 1998; Wen et al. 2016).

Cuba is the largest Caribbean island (48 % of the region's emerged land area) and it contains the most extensive wetlands in the region (1,366,844.89 ha) covering 12.4 % of the country's surface (CNAP 2013). Given its biogeographical position, Cuba receives a significant flow of migratory birds, as shown by recaptures of individuals banded in North America (Frederick et al. 1996; Blanco et al. 2014). Two of the six migratory American Flyways for migratory birds extend across Cuba: the Mississippi and Atlantic Flyways (González et al. 2006).

Of the 369 bird species reported for Cuba (Garrido and Kirckconnell 2010), 150 are wetland-dependent and these are mostly migratory species (82 %) (Acosta et al. 2011). In Cuba, several studies have been conducted on waterbird dynamics in both natural (Acosta et al. 1992; González et al. 2016b) and anthropogenic wetlands (Mugica et al. 2001; Acosta et al. 2002; Mugica et al. 2003; González and Jiménez 2011). To date, most studies have been conducted in a single wetland site; none have covered an extensive area of the island, or included several years or several periods of avian annual life cycles.

Historically, Cuban biodiversity has been better studied on the north coast than on the south coast (Rodríguez et al. 2014). However, the south coast is lower and swampier, with more wetland areas, and it contains the largest wetlands in Cuba and the insular Caribbean region, including Zapata Swamp. Many wetlands on the south coast have been recognized as Important Bird Areas (Aguilar 2010) and Ramsar sites (CNAP 2013). Nonetheless, only general information has until now been available on the diversity and dynamics of waterbirds assemblages on the Cuban south coast (Mugica et al. 2014). Here we provide baseline

information on waterbird assemblages in a three-year study of the six natural wetlands of this region. Our study is of paramount importance for wetland conservation planning and for highlighting the Cuban south coast's value at the national and international level. Our specific aims are to (i) characterize the waterbird assemblages in natural wetlands on the Cuban south coast; (ii) test the effect of spatial and temporal (annual and seasonal: spring migration, summer and fall migration) variation on watebird diversity in the region, and (iii) develop recommendations for wetland management to improve waterbirds conservation.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1 Study Area

We carried out the study in six natural wetlands along the southern Cuban coast. About 942 km of the coast were surveyed (from 83°42'W, 22°11'N to 77°02'W, 20°25'N) from Pinar del Río province to Granma province (Table 1, Fig. 1). In a general way, this stretch of coast comprises a strip of wetlands with similar landscapes. They are characterized by swampy lowland plains, including coastal lagoons, salt marshes, mudflats and estuaries. They are covered mainly by mangrove ecosystems (with the exception of Canales del Hanábana, the only freshwater wetland included in our study), swamp grasslands and swamp forests, flooded or temporarily flooded, with different degrees of salinity. Their differences are mainly in the size, configuration, water salinity and diversity of coastal habitats. Specific descriptions of each wetland are shown in Supplementary material 1. We selected these sites because they contain the largest number and variety of wetland habitats in the region. All the study sites are national protected areas except Humedal Sur de Los Palacios (Table 1). The

climate on Cuba's southern coast is subtropical humid, with two clearly defined seasons, dry season (winter) from November to April, and the rainy season (summer) from May to October. The average annual temperature is 24 °C.



Fig. 1 Location of wetland study sites on the Cuban south coast

Code	Study sites	¹ Protection	Province	Habitats	Sampled	Latitude and
		designation			area size (ha)	Longitude
S1	Punta Caribe	FR	Pinar del Río	Mudflats, temporary salty lagoons, mangrove	300	83°37'44''W 22°11'55''N
S2	Humedal Sur de Los Palacios	IBA	Pinar del Río	Salty lagoons, mangrove, mudflats. Near rice paddies	140	83°12'01''W 22°20'49''N
S3	Zapata	NP, IBA BR, RS	Matanzas	Largest wetland in the Caribbean. Shallow salty lagoons, mangroves, swampy grasslands	480	81°13'21''W 22°09'23''N
S4	Canales del Hanábana	FR, IBA BR, RS	Matanzas	Basin of the Hanábana river. Fresh water deep and shallow channels, fresh water flooded grasslands	500	81°02'12''W 22°21'29''N
S5	Tunas de Zaza	FR, IBA	Sancti Spíritus	Mudflats, temporary salty lagoons, mangrove. Near rice paddies	200	79°32'14''W 21°39'25''N
S6	Delta del Cauto	FR, IBA, RS	Tunas- Granma	Second largest wetland in the Caribbean. Mudflats, salty, freshwater and brackish lagoons, mangrove, estuarine habitats associated with Cauto River. Near rice paddies	560	77°09'08''W 20°35'30''N

Table 1 Natural wetland study sites (2011 to 2013) on the Cuban south coast

¹Protection designation:

Protected Areas: NP. National Park, FR. Faunal Refuge (CNAP 2013) International designation (does not confer protection): BR. Biosphere Reserve, RS. Ramsar Site (CNAP 2013), IBA. Important Bird Area (Aguilar 2010)

2.2 Waterbird Surveys

We conducted bird surveys at each wetland site in three seasons and during three consecutive years, from May 2011 to November 2013. The seasons sampled were: spring migration (February and March), summer season (May and June) and fall migration (October and November), except in 2011 when a spring migration survey was not conducted. This approach recorded the most important migration movements in the annual cycle as well as resident birds. Bird counts were carried out during three alternative days (one day out of a three-day period), always simultaneously by observers located in each of the six wetland sites, in the second half of each month, to standardize and collect comparable data. Occasionally, counts were not conducted during poor weather conditions or if a boat was not available.

In each wetland site, we chose between five and eight sampling locations (in lagoons and salt marshes), depending on site characteristics (e.g. size, accessibility, habitat heterogeneity). Sampling locations, where counts were conducted, were the most prominent waterbird feeding or resting areas in each wetland site. Therefore, they were not selected randomly. We conducted fixed point counts (Bibby et al. 2000) at each sampling location. During the counts, all individuals of each species seen or heard in a period of time (30 minutes) were recorded without prefixing a radius and always in the first four hours after sunrise. A GPS was used to record geographical coordinates. In total, we conducted 543 waterbird surveys during this study.

Each species was identified and classified according to its occurrence (common, rare, very rare and vagrant) (Garrido and Kirkconnell 2010) and status (bimodal, summer migrant,

permanent resident and winter migrant) (Navarro and Reyes 2017). Bimodal species are those characterized by both resident and winter migratory populations. Observations were made using 10 x 50 binoculars and 20 x 60 spotting scopes. Bird taxonomy follows the American Ornithological Society (AOS) checklist (Chesser et al. 2018). Species conservation status was noted according to the Red Lists of González et al. (2012) and IUCN (2017). We recorded only aquatic birds and species that depend on wetlands to meet their daily needs. As our survey method was diurnal, results may be biased low for secretive birds, (e.g., gallinules) and nocturnal birds (e.g., night-herons; whistling ducks).

2.3 Data Analysis

We estimated total abundance of each species per sampling plot, in each season, as well as maximum abundance (registered in any one-day observation). Density (bird/ha) was calculated for each species, per site, in each season. To derive the density, we used the sampled area size (hectares) for each wetland site, shown in Table 1. The sampled area size was obtained as the total area covered by all lagoons and salt marches sampled in the wetland site. We obtained the estimated extension of lagoons and salt marshes sampled from a Cuban wetland shapefile layer (CNAP 2013) using a geographic information system software QGIS 2.18.14.

Frequency of waterbird species was given as the number of samplings where the bird was recorded/total number of samplings (N = 543). Relative abundance was determined separately for each status category by dividing total maximum abundance for each species across the three seasons by the total abundance of all species included in the corresponding status category; the outcome was multiplied by 100. The Alpha diversity index, such as

species richness, Shannon diversity index (Magurran 1988) and Pielou evenness index (Pielou 1969) were also calculated for the six study sites. Total abundance and density were summarized for the six sites in each season. Waterbird abundance per month for each season, in the six wetlands, was calculated for 2012 and 2013 separately (monthly samplings for 2011 were not included in this latter calculation because these were incomplete).

Permutational multivariate analysis of variance (PERMANOVA; Anderson 2001) was used to test the effect of wetland site, season and year (2012 and 2013) on waterbird composition. We also tested the differences among wetland sites and years (2011 to 2013) considering only the fall migration season because most species presented their highest abundance and densities in this season. Bird abundance was previously transformed with log (x + 1) to ensure normality. Significance testing of the Bray–Curtis similarity measures (Legendre and Legendre 1998) and *post hoc* comparisons (P < 0.05) were made using 999 permutations.

Non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS; Kruskal 1964) ordination was carried out to analyze the degree of similarity in waterbird assemblage structure among the six wetlands sites (data log (x + 1) transformed). The analysis was based in the Bray–Curtis metric of dissimilarity. We used two-dimensional joint plots to compare spatial patterns and species composition similarities of the waterbird communities among sites. A stress value of < 0.3 is deemed adequate. Data entities that are closer together in the plot reflect waterbird communities that are more similar than those further apart (McCune and Grace 2002). A multivariate test for abundance homogeneity of group dispersions (permutation dispersion) (BETADISPER; Anderson 2006; Anderson et al. 2006) was conducted among sites, seasons and years, using Jaccard distance method. The Mantel test was performed to detect whether assemblage composition of waterbirds and presence/ absence of waterbird species were linked to site spatial positions in the region (correlation between an Euclidean distance matrix and the Bray–Curtis dissimilarity matrix) (Legendre and Legendre 1998). The test was carried out in each month evaluated (16 months) for both assemblage composition and presense/absence. To calculate the linear distance separating the populations sampled, a matrix was constructed with the coordinates in decimal degrees of latitude and longitude at each site. All statistical analyses were conducted in R software environment version 3.4.4 (R Core Team 2018) using vegan (version 2.5-1) (Oksanen et al. 2018) and MASS packages (Venables and Ripley 2002).

The conservation importance of the Cuban south coastal wetlands for waterbird populations was assessed by comparing the observed abundance for each species with global flyway population estimates (Wetland International 2018). A species' population was determined to be globally important to conservation if it regularly met or exceeded the 1% global population threshold set by Criterion 6 of the Ramsar Convention (Ramsar Convention Secretariat 2010).

3. Results

3.1 Composition of the waterbird assemblage

We recorded a total of 110 species and 367,941 individuals at six Cuban south coastal wetlands, representing 72 genera and 23 families (Supplementary material 2). The most species-rich families were Scolopacidae (22 species), Anatidae (19 species), Laridae (15

species) and Ardeidae (12 species). The order best represented was Charadriiformes with 48 species. Most species (71 %; 79 species) were considered common birds, while the others were rare (20 species), very rare (7 species) or accidental (5 species). The Blue-winged Teal *Spatula discors* was the most abundant species followed by Least Sandpiper *Calidris minutilla*, American Flamingo *Phoenicopterus ruber*, American Coot *Fulica americana* and Glossy Ibis *Plegadis falcinellus*.

The most frequently observed birds were six species of egrets and herons (Great Blue Heron *Ardea herodias*, Great Egret *Ardea alba*, Snowy Egret *Egretta thula*, Little Blue Heron *Egretta caerulea*, Green Heron *Butorides virescens* and Tricolored Heron *Egretta tricolor*), with 70 to 85 % of occurrences, followed by White Ibis *Eudocimus albus*, Black-necked Stilt *Himantopus mexicanus* and American Flamingo, with 75.7 %, 66.1 % and 64.1 % respectively (see Supplementary material 2). Of the species detected, four are categorized as threatened; West Indian Whistling-Duck *Dendrocygna arborea*, Masked Duck *Nomonyx dominicus*, Snowy Plover *Charadrius nivosus* and Piping Plover *Charadrius melodus*. Piping Plover was recorded for the first time on the southern coast of Cuba (Humedal Sur de Los Palacios) with 19 individuals.

Among the wetland birds observed, 78.2 % (86 species) were winter migrants, 31 of which were bimodal, 18.2 % (20 species) were permanent residents and 3.6 % (4 species) were summer migrants. These results highlight the importance of the region for North American birds during the winter. The results showed that 45 % of bimodal birds were observed during fall migration, 38 % during spring migration and 17 % during the summer season. Although some species were characterized by resident and migratory populations, it is evident that Cuba supports important numbers of birds during fall migration, since 66 % of the species presented their highest abundance and densities in this season.

In the bimodal group, the American Coot had the highest values of relative abundance (22.65) with very high migratory populations. The species with the second highest relative abundance was the Glossy Ibis (16.21), with the highest abundance and density during the two migratory seasons, also reflecting a strong migratory component. The two bimodal species with the largest populations during summer, and apparently the least influenced by migratory populations from North America, were Killdeer *Charadrius vociferus* and American Avocet *Recurvirostra americana*. The species with highest relative abundance within the winter migrant category were Blue-winged Teal (69), Least Sandpiper (11.76) and Short-billed Dowitcher *Limnodromus griseus* (5.39).

3.2 Spatial and temporal patterns in waterbird assemblages

The site with highest species richness and greatest waterbird abundance in all seasons, primarily during fall migration, was Humedal Sur de Los Palacios, followed by Delta del Cauto (Fig. 2). However, Humedal Sur de Los Palacios had the highest values of species richness. These estimates resulted in having a low index of Shannon diversity (H'), as well as low evenness (J), indicating a greater dominance of specific species in the waterbird assemblage composition (Table 2). In contrast, Canales del Hanábana showed the highest diversity and equitability indices.

Fall migration season showed the highest values of total abundance and density at each of the sites evaluated, while the lowest values (Table 2; Fig. 2) were recorded in the summer season. Given that the months corresponding to fall migration (October and November), were characterized by the highest numbers of waterbirds at all sites during our study (Fig. 3), this
season is likely the most important time for the conservation of waterbirds on the south coast of Cuba.



Fig. 2 Spatio-temporal variation in waterbird abundance (bars), per seasons (SM: Spring Migration, SS: Summer Season, FM: Fall Migration) and richness: S (points), in each site during 2012 and 2013, in the Cuban south coastal wetlands. Codes for the sampled sites (S1 to S6) are presented in Table 1

			Total density		Diversity	y indices
Code	Sites	SM	SS	FM	H'	J
S1	Punta Caribe	5.71	6.43	20.14	2.69	0.66
S2	Humedal Sur de Los Palacios	170.22	44.11	525.84	1.89	0.41
83	Zapata	66.53	7.46	153.42	1.41	0.34
54	Canales del Hanábana	21.47	7.07	25.83	3.06	0.75
85	Tunas de Zaza	9.10	15.96	16.01	2.81	0.67
56	Delta del Cauto	62.30	15.05	118.17	2.31	0.53

Table 2 Density of waterbirds per sites, in Cuban south coastal wetlands, per season (SM: Spring Migration, SS: Summer Season, FM:
Fall Migration). Diversity indices of waterbirds per sites, H': Shannon-Weaver index, J: Pielou index

Waterbird composition was significantly different (PERMANOVA, P < 0.05) among sites (F_{5,244} = 31.93, P = 0.001, Fig. 4), and seasons (F_{2,244} = 11.11, P = 0.001, Fig. 3). However, there were no differences in the assemblage compositions of waterbirds (P > 0.05) among years (F_{1,244} = 1.79, P = 0.053). Considering only the fall migration season, assemblage composition, was significantly different among sites (F_{5,135} = 15.27, P = 0.050), but there was not a significant difference in waterbird assemblage composition among the three years for this season (F_{2,135} = 2.19, P = 0.117). This result indicates that all sites do not have the same importance during fall migration and these conditions are relatively stable over time.



Fig. 3 Total maximum waterbird abundance per month, in each season (SM: Spring Migration, SS: Summer Season, FM: Fall Migration) in 2012 and 2013, in six Cuban south coastal wetlands

When we assessed the spatial pattern and species composition similarities of waterbird communities among sites, we identified the following sites as those with the greatest similarity in assemblage composition: Humedal Sur de Los Palacios (S2) and Delta del Cauto

(S6), followed by Punta Caribe (S1) and Zapata (S3). The site most dissimilar in its assemblage composition was Canales del Hanábana (S4) (Fig. 4).



Fig. 4 Two-dimensional non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) plot (stress = 0.16) of waterbird composition (abundance data log (x + 1) transformed) in six Cuban south coastal wetlands (N = 92), based on the Bray–Curtis metric of dissimilarity (years 2011-2013). Codes for the sampled sites (S1 to S6) are presented in Table 1

The Betadisper test revealed no differences (P > 0.05) in spatial or temporal variability in abundances of waterbirds among sites, seasons or years. Therefore, waterbird abundances were not more variable among the six wetlands ($F_{5,86}$ =1.76, P = 0.11, Fig. 5). Also, there were no differences in the temporal variability of the sites among the three seasons ($F_{2,89} = 2.59$, P =0.084, Fig. 6a) and among the three years ($F_{2,89} = 0.07$, P = 0.934, Fig. 6b).



Fig. 5 Multivariate dispersion of waterbird abundance among six Cuban south coastal wetlands (2011 to 2013) based on the Jaccard index method (Betadisper plot). Codes for the sampled sites (S1 to S6) are presented in Table 1

Mantel test results indicated no spatial correlation for any of the months sampled (16 months) among the six wetlands, both for waterbird abundance and presence/absence (P > 0.05; P values varied between 0.51 and 0.99). Mantel r values for the 16 months varied between - 0.06 and - 0.66 (Supplementary material 3). Therefore, neither waterbird

assemblage composition nor presence/absence of waterbird species was found to be linked to a site's spatial position on the south coast of Cuba.



Fig. 6 Multivariate dispersion of waterbird abundance in each season (SM: Spring Migration, SS: Summer Season, FM: Fall Migration) (Fig. 6a) and years (Fig. 6b) among six Cuban south coastal wetlands (2011 to 2013) based on the Jaccard index method (Betadisper plots)

3.3 Conservation assessment

Twelve waterbird species in the Cuban south coastal region, were found at abundance levels exceeding the 1 % criterion of the world's population in more than one site (Table 3). The American Flamingo was recorded with > 1% of the world's population in the most wetlands (5 sites), followed by the Roseate Spoonbill *Platalea ajaja* with four sites. Notably, the Glossy Ibis, American Flamingo and Roseate Spoonbill exceeded the 1 % criterion at remarkably high abundance (i.e. 35, 25 and 17 times greater), respectively. This observation demonstrates the great importance of Cuba's south coastal wetlands for the conservation of

these species. All six wetlands surveyed supported at least two species that met the 1 % criterion for recognition as an internationally important site. Delta del Cauto had the most species (6) that met this criterion, followed by Humedal Sur de Los Palacios (5 species).

Table 3 Waterbird species that meet Ramsar 1% criterion (Wetlands International 2018) in Cuban south coastal wetlands from 2011 to 2013. Totalwaterbirds abundance at Cuban south coastal wetlands and maximum abundance of specific sites. Maximum abundance > 1% of the estimatedglobal flyway population are shown in bold. Codes for the sampled sites (S1 to S6) are presented in Table 1

				Site	es /Abundaı	nce (Maxim	um)	
		Abundance						
	1% of	in Cuban						
	world	south						
Species	population	coastal	S1	S2	S3	S4	S5	S6
West Indian Whistling Duck Dendrocygna arborea	140	534	47	26	10	374	31	46
White-cheeked Pintail Anas bahamensis	750	1732	0	341	0	1370	0	21
Blue-winged Teal Spatula discors	89500	113056	3250	53588	22272	3923	50	29973
American Flamingo Phoenicopterus ruber	400	10277	538	657	1082	0	2390	5610
Wilson's Plover Charadrius wilsonia	100	652	134	325	11	0	26	156
Least Sandpiper Calidris minutilla	7000	12073	150	1964	248	317	585	8809
Short-billed Dowitcher Limnodromus griseus	1100	5989	61	4471	387	348	150	572
Laughing Gull Leucophaeus atricilla	550	769	83	165	5	0	150	366
Caspian Tern Hydroprogne caspia	190	541	34	115	272	2	110	8
Reddish Egret Egretta rufescens	60	370	48	28	54	2	68	170
Glossy Ibis Plegadis falcinellus	210	7531	0	901	0	503	122	6005
Roseate Spoonbill Platalea ajaja	45	790	33	232	144	1	210	170
Number of species per site with more than								
1% of world population	12		2	5	3	3	3	6

4. Discussion

This is the most comprehensive study on waterbird assemblages in Cuban natural wetlands to date, consisting of a 3-year assessment of an extensive area of wetlands using standardized methods. We identified spatio-temporal patterns of waterbird assemblages characterized in three seasons of the avian annual cycle, along a quarter of Cuba's coastline and in areas representing 40 % of Cuban wetlands. Documentation of the wide occurrence and abundance of migrants and species important for conservation affirms the national and international importance of wetlands of the Cuban south coast as habitat for waterbirds. Two families, Scolopacidae and Anatidae, consisting primarily of migratory species, were the most-highly represented families, highlighting the strong migratory component of the bird assemblage of this region (Mugica et al. 2006a). Species richness recorded for the southern coast of Cuba represents 68 % of the waterbird species reported for Cuba (Acosta et al. 2011), indicating that the region provides habitat for most of these species in the country.

Our results for Blue-winged Teal, consistent with other studies in Cuba, report this species as the most abundant of the Cuban anatids (Rodríguez 2004; Acosta and Mugica 2006; Blanco et al. 2014). The abundance of Least Sandpipers also coincides with reports from other studies that identify this species as the most common in its genus to occur in Cuban wetlands (Blanco 2006). Both species are winter migrants and species that exceed 1% of the world's population in Cuba's south coastal wetlands (Table 3). Additionally, several other studies report a high frequency of egrets and herons in Cuban wetlands (González et al. 2016a; 2018).

The fact that the Glossy Ibis is one of the most abundant species of the Cuban south coast, at a level exceeding 35 times the estimate for 1% of the world's population, indicates the global importance of these wetlands to this species. The Glossy Ibis was formerly considered uncommon in Cuba (Garrido and Kirkonnell 2010); however, in the 1980s its populations began to increase sharply in close relationship with rice fields (Acosta and Mugica 2013). This species feeds on rice during the winter (Acosta et al. 1996). The reduction in use of pesticides in Cuba (Mugica et al 2006a) and the increased use of these sites for breeding were presumably the biggest factors in the dramatic in the Glossy Ibis

populations. Specifically, the largest nesting colony (5,000 individuals) of this species reported in Cuba is found in Delta del Cauto (Denis et al. 2005; Mugica et al. 2006b; Acosta and Mugica 2013).

The American Flamingo was one of the most frequent and abundant species in our study, with numbers in Cuban south coastal wetlands exceeding by 25 times the estimate of 1% of the world's population. It is distributed mainly in the Caribbean (Blanco et al. 2002), and the Cuban population is one of the most important in the region (Ottenwalder 1991), producing at least 50% of annual recruitment (Morales 1996). Delta del Cauto supports the second largest nesting sites in the Cuban archipelago with 20,000-30,000 reported nests (Denis et al. 2005). During this study, we discovered several juveniles banded in Yucatan, Mexico (HTTZ, HTTV, HTTD, HSBP bands) which documents movement in the Caribbean and use of Cuban wetlands during the first years of life (data in accordance with Blanco et al. 2002 and Galvez et al. 2016). Lack of published studies on flamingo population dynamics in a wide region of Cuba emphasizes the important contribution of our study to the understanding of spatio-temporal patterns of this species.

Several factors have been associated with waterbird abundance and richness, such as wetland size (Cintra et al. 2007; Sebastian-González and Green 2014), food resources and landscape configuration (Amezaga et al. 2002; Taft and Haig 2006; Pérez-García et al. 2014). Our finding that the south coastal wetlands with the highest species richness and waterbird abundance occurs at Humedal Sur de Los Palacios, followed by Delta del Cauto, may be attributable to their landscape structure, proximity to rice fields, large size of water bodies, stable (perennial) lagoons of various depths, as well as heterogeneity (mix of wetland types). These two areas were the most similar in species composition (Fig. 4) and we recorded the largest number of birds exceeding 1% of the world population (Table 3) at these locations.

In constrast, Humedal Sur de Los Palacios showed lower equitability, which indicates large concentrations of individuals of the same species. Both sites are near to two of the major rice paddies in Cuba (Mugica et al. 2006a). Rice cultivation in proximity to refuge areas in the coastal wetlands allows birds to use both ecosystems. Waterbirds uses the rice fields mainly for resting and feeding; in this way they acquire their daily nutritional needs with relatively low energetic cost (Stafford et al. 2010; King et al. 2010; Toral et al. 2011). Multiple studies have been carried out on the ecology of bird communities in rice fields of the southern coast of Cuba (Mugica et al. 2001; Acosta et al. 2002; Acosta and Mugica 2013), however, the functional connectivity with the coastal wetlands of this region has not been well explored. Connectivity of complementary wetlands within a mosaic can be a management strategy to reduce disturbance and provide the resources required by diverse waterbird assemblages (Kelly et al. 2008; Ma et al. 2010).

Canales del Hanábana can be considered a unique site, with a species composition dissimilar to the other wetland sites; it is also the most diverse site of the six sampled (Fig. 4). This was an expected result, given the wetland's specific characteristics. First, it contains exclusively fresh water (CNAP 2015), so some species with preference for this habitat type (e.g., Anatidae, Rallidae, Podicipedidae) are better represented. The aquatic vegetation is very beneficial to wetland birds as it provides food, resting places, shelter and nesting habitat for many birds (Mugica et al. 2006b). In addition, it is the farthest site from the coastline of the six wetlands studied, therefore its use by marine species (e.g., Laridae, Fregatidae and Scolopacidae) is limited. Canales del Hanábana is a protected Faunal Refuge, representing an extensive, unique freshwater habitat within the Cuban national protected areas system (CNAP 2013); hence, its importance to conservation of this ecosystem and the bird community.

Fall migration is characterized by the highest waterbird abundances and densities along the south coast, consistent with other studies of bird dynamics in other Cuban wetlands (Acosta et al. 1992; González et al. 2016b). According to González et al. (2006), bird richness and abundance during fall migration is greater than in the winter season. Fall migration is an essential period for waterbird conservation in Cuba for several reasons. First, many migratory birds arriving in Cuba are transients, and use the archipelago as a stopover site to restore energy and continue their movement to other Caribbean islands or South America (Mugica et al. 2006b). Also, because migration routes reflect avian ecological requirements, waterbirds, for example, require access to coastal and/or inland wetland habitats (CMS 2014). Generally, fall migrants to Cuba, come from North America, covering a journey of several thousand kilometres between their breeding and non-breeding grounds (Peter 2001). The birds arrive with minimum fat reserves, and this vulnerable state is an additional reason why protection of these sites is very important. When birds return to their North American breeding sites in the spring, we find waterbird composition differs with abundances lower than during fall migration. From this observation we suggest that many birds, that use Cuba as a stopover in fall migration, do not make the same use during return in spring migration.

The homogeneity in waterbird abundances among seasons (Fig. 6a) and years (Fig. 6b) indicates community stability over time in our study region. Additionally, species composition also remained constant over the years. This suggests that both resident and migratory bird populations make consisten use of southern Cuba coastal wetlands annually, despite the high mobility and abundance variability of these species (Guevara et al. 2012; Tomankova et al. 2013). This result indicates that the protected status and management of the wetlands, designated as protected areas, may be at an adequate level to support important

waterbirds populations. Longer term monitoring is needed to confirm this conclusion, however.

We hypothesized that wetlands in the western region of Cuba are most important in terms of richness and abundance of migratory species, given their spatial location, closer to the Mississippi Flyway (Mugica et al. 2014), as well as wetlands of the eastern region that is traversed by birds following the Atlantic Flyway (Garrido and Kirkconnell 2010). However, we did not find any relationship between waterbird assemblage composition nor presense/absense of waterbird species based on a site's location in the western, central or eastern region of the island, in any of the sampled months. Waterbirds are highly mobile species that easily disperse in search of resources (Wen et al. 2016), and it appears that the distance among the studied wetlands does not represent an obstacle for their dispersion.

4.1 Conservation implications

Our study provides quantitative evidence that the southern coast of Cuba, as a whole, is of global importance for waterbird conservation, as many of the 350 migrant species that breed in North America and winter in the Caribbean and South America are in rapid decline (Birdlife International 2018). Also, each wetland individually can be considered of global importance (Table 3), according to Ramsar criteria (Ramsar Convention Secretariat 2010). Based on data from this study, proposals for three new Ramsar sites (Humedal Sur de Los Palacios, Punta Caribe and Tunas de Zaza) and a new Important Bird Area (IBA, Punta Caribe), according to Birdlife International criteria (2018), can be made. Additionally, the current IBA status of four sites (Humedal Sur de Los Palacios, Zapata, Tunas de Zaza and Delta del Cauto), is reaffirmed ten years after their original identification (Aguilar 2010), as

well as the status of two Ramsar sites (Zapata and Delta del Cauto), established in 2002 (CNAP 2009).

Even though our results indicate stability in waterbird populations in the southern coast of Cuba, we recommend the new designations of global importance for four sites, which are currently protected areas, because international designations strengthen protection at the national level and commit governments and citizens to prioritize these lands for conservation. International conservation status and recognition may protect these sites in the long-term, as economic demands for infrastructure development, tourism, agriculture and maritime transport could threaten these wetlands at a national scale. Additionally, these sites require long-term monitoring and management and global recognition may provide greater national and international visibility thus increaseing priority for conservation funding.

We identified Humedal Sur de Los Palacios as the most important site for conservation among the wetlands studied as it has the highest species richness and abundance of waterbirds. Among the main threats to this site is illegal hunting of waterbirds for food or sport, which could affect populations in the near future. However, to date, no legal protection is provided for this wetland, which constitutes a large gap in the Cuban national system of protected areas.

5. Aknowledgments

We thank the National Center of Protected Areas (CNAP) (Ministry of Technology and Environmental of Cuba) and the GEF (Global Environment Facility) project: Application of a Regional Approach to the Management of Marine and Coastal Protected Areas in Cuba's Southern Archipelagos (ID 3607/2009-2014) for support of this study. We also gratefully

acknowledge O. Labrada, D. Navarro, L. Inguanzo and A. Rodríguez for assistance with fieldwork and I. Galarda and A. Padial for statistical advice. J. Wheeler assisted with the English revision of this manuscript. Finally, S. Aguilar is grateful to CNPq (Brazilian National Council Scientifc and Technological Development) for granting her a PhD. Scholarship.

6. References

- Acosta M, Morales J, González M, Mugica L (1992) Dinámica de la comunidad de aves de la playa La Tinaja, Ciego de Ávila, Cuba. Ciencias Biológicas 24:44-56
- Acosta M, Mugica L (2006) Aves acuáticas en Cuba. In: Mugica L, Denis D, Acosta M (eds) Aves acuáticas en los humedales de Cuba. Editoral Científico-Técnica, La Habana, pp 136-159
- Acosta M, Mugica L (2013) Ecología de las aves acuáticas en las arroceras de Cuba. Editoral Científico-Técnica, La Habana
- Acosta M, Mugica L, Denis D (2002) Dinámica de los principales gremios de aves que habitan la arrocera sur del Jíbaro, Sancti Spíritus, Cuba. El Pitirre 15(1):25-30. http://www.bu.edu/scscb/publications/Archives/Pitirre%2015(1)%202002.pdf#page=27
- Acosta M, Mugica L, Rodríguez A, Jiménez A (2011) A General overview of waterbird communities in Cuba. Journal of Caribbean Ornithology 24:10-9
- Acosta, M., Mugica L, Mancina C, Ruiz X (1996) Resource partitioning between Glossy ibis and American White Ibis in a rice field system in southcentral Cuba. Colonial Waterbirds 19 (1): 65-72
- Aguilar S (ed) (2010) Áreas Importantes para la Conservación de las Aves en Cuba. Editorial Academia, La Habana
- Ali E, Halassi I, Houhamdi M (2016) Diversity patterns and seasonal variation of the waterbird assemblages in Mediterranean wetlands of Northeastern Algeria. Zoology and Ecology 26(2):85-92. https://doi.org/10.1080/21658005.2016.1163865
- Amat JA, Green AJ (2010) Waterbirds as Bioindicators of Environmental Conditions. In: Hurford C, Schneider M, Cowx I (eds) Conservation Monitoring in Freshwater Habitats. Springer, Dordrec, pp 45-52
- Amezaga J, Santamaría ML, Green AJ (2002) Biotic wetland connectivity-supporting a new approach for wetland policy. Acta Oecológica 23:213-222. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1146-609X(02)01152-9
- Anderson MJ (2001) A new method for non-parametric multivariate analysis of variance. Austral Ecology 26:32-46. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1442-9993.2001.01070.pp.x

- Anderson MJ (2006) Distance-Based Tests for Homogeneity of Multivariate Dispersions. Biometrics 62(1):245-253. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1541-0420.2005.00440.x
- Anderson MJ, Ellingsen KE, McArdle BH (2006) Multivariate dispersion as a measure of beta diversity. Ecology Letters 9(6):683-693. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2006.00926.x
- Bai Q, Chen J, Chen Z, Dong G, Dong J, Dong W, Wing Kan Fu V, Han J, Lu G, Li J, Liu Y, Lin Z, Meng D, Martinez J, Ni G, Shan K, Sun R, Tian S, Wang F, Xu Z, Yu Y, Yang J, Yang Z, Zhang L, Zhang M, Zeng X (2015) Identification of coastal wetlands of international importance for waterbirds: a review of China coastal waterbird surveys 2005-2013. Avian Research 6:1-16. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40657-015-0021-2
- Bamford M, Watkins D, Bancroft W, Tischler G, Wahl J (2008) Migratory shorebirds of the East Asia-Australasian Flyway: population estimates and internationally important sites. Wetlands International-Oceania, Canberra, Australia
- Basal: Proyecto Bases Ambientales para la sostenibilidad alimentaria local (2014) Modelo de Ordenamiento Ambiental del Municipio Los Palacios, provincia Pinar del Río. Instituto de Geografía Tropical, La Habana, Cuba
- Bhat IP, Cristopher SS, Hosetti BB (2009) Avifaunal diversity of Anekere wetland, Karkala Udupi District, Karnataka, India. Journal of Environment Biology 30:1059-1062. http://jeb.co.in/journal_issues/200911_nov09/paper_22.pdf
- Bibby C, Burgess N, Hill D, Mustoe S (2000) Bird Census Techniques.2nd Edition. Academic Press
- Birdlife Internacional (2018) Sites (Important Bird Areas), Global IBA Criteria. <u>http://datazone.birdlife.org/site/ibacritglob</u>. Accessed 3 Sept 2018
- Blanco P (2006) Distribución y áreas de importancia para las aves del orden Charadriiformes en Cuba. Tesis doctoral, Universidad de La Habana
- Blanco P, Sánchez B, Del Pozo P (2002) Recapturas del Flamenco Rosado (*Phoenicopterus ruber*) en Cuba durante el período de 1966 al 2000. El Pitirre 15(1):34-37
- Blanco P, Vilella FJ, Sánchez B (2014) Waterfowl in Cuba: current status and distribution. Wildfowl Special Issue 4:498-511. https://wildfowl.wwt.org.uk/index.php/wildfowl/article/view/2618/1734
- Chesser RT, Burns KJ, Cicero C, Dunn JL, Kratter AW, Lovette IJ, Rasmussen PC, Remsen JV, Stotz DF, Winger BM, Winker K (2018) Check-list of North American Birds (online). American Ornithological Society. <u>http://checklist.aou.org/taxa. Accesed 21 Sep 2018</u>
- Chettri N, Sharma E, Deb DC (2001) Bird community structure along a trekking corridor of Sikkim Himalaya: a conservation perspective. Biological Conservation 102(1):1–16. Doi:10.1016/S0006-3207(01)00092-1
- Cintra R, Ribeiro PM, Banks C (2007) Composition and Structure of the Lacustrine Bird Communities of Seasonally Flooded Wetlands of Western Brazilian Amazonia at High Water. Waterbirds 30(4):521-540
- CMS Convention of Migratory Species (2014) A Review of Migratory Bird Flyways and Priorities for Management. CMS Technical Series 27, UNEP / CMS Secretariat, Bonn, Germany. https://www.cms.int/en/publication/review-migratory-bird-flyways-and-priorities-management-ts-no-27

- CNAP Centro Nacional de Áreas Protegidas (2009) Plan del Sistema Nacional de Áreas Protegidas 2009-2013. Ministerio de Ciencias Tecnología y Medio Ambiente, La Habana, Cuba
- CNAP Centro Nacional de Áreas Protegidas (2013) Plan del Sistema Nacional de Áreas Protegidas 2014-2020. Ministerio de Ciencias Tecnología y Medio Ambiente, La Habana, Cuba. http://www.snap.cu/
- CNAP Centro Nacional de Areas Protegidas (2015) Plan de Manejo: Refugio de Fauna Canales del Hanábana 2015-2019. Empresa Forestal Integral Ciénaga de Zapata, MINAGRI, Matanzas, Cuba
- Cumming GS, Paxton M, King J, Beuster H (2012) Foraging guild membership explains variation in waterbird responses to the hydrological regime of an arid-region flood-pulse river in Namibia. Freshwater Biology 57(6):1202-1213. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2012.02789.x
- Davidson NC (2014) How much wetland has the world lost? Long-term and recent trends in global wetland area. Marine and Freshwater Research 65:934–941. https://doi.org/:10.1071/MF14173
- Denis D, Mugica L, Rodríguez A, Acosta M, Labrada O (2005) Lista y comentarios de la avifauna de la Ciénaga de Birama, Cuba. Biología 19 (1-2):66-73. https://doi: 10.1111/brv.12045
- Frederick PC, Bildstein KL, Fleury B, Odgen J (1996) Conservation of large, nomadic populations of White Ibises (*Eudocimus albus*) in the United States. Conservation Biology 10:203–216. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1739.1996.10010203.x
- Galvez X, Guerrero L, Migoya R (2016) Evidencias físicas de la estructura metapoblacional en el Flamenco Caribeño (*Phoenicopterus ruber*) a partir de avistamientos de individuos anillados. Revista Cubana de Ciencias Biológicas 4 (3):93-98
- Garrido O, Kirkconnell A (2010) Aves de Cuba. Cornell University Press, New York
- González A, Acosta M, Mugica L, Jiménez A, García-Lau I (2016b) Variación temporal del ensamble de aves acuáticas de Las Salinas, Ciénaga de Zapata, Cuba, durante el periodo 2012-2013. Revista Cubana de Ciencias Biológicas 5(1):71-81
- González A, Aguilar S, Mugica L, Acosta M, Pérez A, de la Cruz JM, Hernández Z, Castro R, Navarro D, Inguanzo R, Rodríguez A, Labrada O, López M (2018) The Ardeid Assemblages in the South Coastal Wetlands of Cuba. Journal of Heron Biology and Conservation 3:3 [online]. URL: http://www.HeronConservation.org/JHBC/vol03/art03/. Accessed 10 July 2018
- González A, Jiménez A (2011) Estado de dos comunidades de aves acuáticas que habitan en humedales costeros asociados a la bahía de la Habana, Cuba. Journal of Caribbean Ornithology 24:56–66
- González A, Jiménez A, Mugica L, Acosta M, García-Lau I, Castro R, López M, de la Cruz JM, Pérez A, Hernández Z, Aguilar S (2016a) Current status of Reddish Egrett (*Egretta rufescens*) in Cuba. Waterbirds 39 (1):1-12. https://doi.org/10.1675/063.039.0102
- González H, Llanes A, Sánchez B, Rodríguez D, Pérez E, Blanco P (2006) Características de la migración otoñal de las aves terrestres en varias regiones de Cuba. Journal of Caribbean Ornithology 19:73-90. http://jco.birdscaribbean.org/index.php/jco/article/view/276
- González H, Rodríguez Chettino L, Rodríguez A, Mancina CA, Ramos I (eds) (2012) Libro Rojo de los vertebrados de Cuba. Editorial Academia, La Habana, Cuba
- Green AJ, Elmberg J (2013) Ecosystem services provided by waterbirds. Biological Reviews 89(1):105–122. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/brv.12045

- Guevara EA, Santander T, Duivenvoorden JF (2012) Seasonal Patterns in Aquatic Bird Counts at Five Andean Lakes of Ecuador. Waterbirds 35(4):636-641. https://doi.org/10.1675/063.035.0413
- Haig SM, Mehlman DW, Oring LW (1998) Avian movement and wetland connectivity in landscape conservation. Conservation Biology 12:749-758. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.1998.97102.x</u>
- Henry DAW, Cumming GS (2017) Can waterbirds with different movement, dietary and foraging functional traits occupy similar ecological niches? Landscape Ecol 32:265–278. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10980-016-0449-8
- Hurlbert AH (2004) Species–energy relationships and habitat complexity in bird communities. Ecology Letters 7:714–720. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2004.00630.x
- IUCN International Union for Conservation of Nature (2017) The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2017-3. http://www.iucnredlist.org. Accessed 31 Jan 2018
- Kelly JP, Stralberg D, Etienne K, McCaustland M (2008) Landscape influence on the quality of heron and egret colony sites. Wetlands 28:257–275. https://doi.org/10.1672/07-152.1
- King S, Elphick CS, Guadagnin D, Taft O, Amano T (2010) Effects of Landscape Features on Waterbird Use of Rice Fields Waterbirds 33 (Special Publication 1):151-159. https://doi.org/10.1675/063.033.s111
- Kirby JS, Stattersfield AJ, Butchard SHM, Evans MI, Grimmett FA, Jones VR, O'Sullivan J, Tucker GM, Newton I (2008) Key conservation issues for migratory land and waterbird species on the world's major flyways. Bird Conservation International 18:S49–S73. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0959270908000439
- Kruskal JB (1964) Nonmetric multidimensional scaling: a numerical method. Psychometrika 29:115-129. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02289694
- Lee LH (2017) Perspectives on Landscape Aesthetics for the Ecological Conservation of Wetlands. Wetlands 37:381–389. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13157-016-0873-1
- Legendre P, Legendre L (1998) Numerical Ecology, 2nd edn. Elsevier Science BV, Amsterdam, Netherlands
- Ma Z, Cai Y, Jiakuan BL (2010) Managing Wetland Habitats for Waterbirds: An International Perspective Chen. Wetlands 30:15-27. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13157-009-0001-6
- Magurran AE (1988) Ecological Diversity and its Measurement. Princeton University Press, Princeton, New Jersey
- Malik DS, Joshi N (2013) Habitat selection pattern of migratory avifauna in relation to nutrients in Asan wetland at Doon Valley (Garhwal Himalaya), India. International Journal of Recent Scientific Research 4:1470-1475
- McCune B, Grace JB (2002) Analysis of Ecological Communities. MJM Software Design Gleneden Beach, Oregon, USA
- Morales J (1996) El Flamenco Rosado Caribeño. Revista Flora Fauna 0:14-17
- Mugica L, Acosta M, Aguilar S (2014) Programa de aves acuáticas y marinas. In: Avila H (ed) Estado actual de la biodiversidad marino-costera en la región de los archipiélagos del sur de Cuba. Impresos Dominicanos s.r.l, pp 101-118

- Mugica L, Acosta M, Denis D (2001) Dinámica temporal de la Comunidad de aves asociada a la arrocera Sur del Jíbaro. Biología 15(2): 86-96
- Mugica L, Acosta M, Denis D (2003) Variaciones espacio temporales y uso del hábitat por la comunidad de aves en la arrocera Sur del Jíbaro, Sancti Spíritus, Cuba. Biología 17(2):105-113
- Mugica L, Acosta M, Denis D (2006b) Conservando las aves acuáticas. In: Mugica L, Denis D, Acosta M (eds) Aves acuáticas en los humedales de Cuba. Editorial Científico-Técnica, La Habana, pp 136-159
- Mugica L, Acosta M, Denis D, Jiménez A, Rodríguez A, Ruiz X (2006a) Rice culture in Cuba as an important wintering site for migrant waterbirds from North America. In: Boere GC, Galbraith CA, Stroud DA (eds) Waterbirds around the world. The Stationery Office, Edinburgh, UK, pp 172-176
- Navarro N, Reyes E (2017) Annotated Checklist of the Birds of Cuba. Editorial Nuevos Mundos, St. Agustin, FL, No. 1.
- Newton I (1998) Population limitation in birds. Academic, San Diego
- Ogden JC, Baldwina JD, Bass OL, Browder JA, Cook MI, Fredericke PC, Frezzaf PE, Galvez RA, Hodgsonh AB, Meyer KD, Oberhofer LD, Paul AF, Fletcher PJ, Davis SM, Lorenz JJ (2014) Waterbirds as indicators of ecosystem health in the coastal marine habitats of southern Florida: 1. Selection and justification for a suite of indicator species. Ecological Indicators 44:148–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2014.03.007
- Oksanen JF, Blanchet G, Friendly M, Kindt R, Legendre P, McGlinn D, Minchin PR, O'Hara RB, Simpson GL, Solymos PM, Stevens HH, Szoecs E, Wagner H (2018) vegan: Assemblages Ecology Package. R package version 2.5-1. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=vegan
- Ottenwaldar JA (1991) Situación poblacional del Flamenco (*Phoenicopterus ruber*) en la región del Caribe. In: Reunión técnica sobre la situación problemática del Flamenco Rosa en el Mediterráneo Occidental y Africa Noroccidental. Agencia de Medio Ambiente, Junta de Andalucía, Sevilla, España, pp 83-91
- Pérez-García JM, Sebastián-González E, Alexander KL, Sánchez-Zapata JA, Botella F (2014) Effect of landscape configuration and habitat quality on the community structure of waterbirds using a man-made habitat. European Journal of Wildlife Research 60:875-883. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10344-014-0854-8
- Perillo GME, Pérez DE, Picolo MC, Palma ED, Cuadrado DG (2005) Geomorphologic and physic characteristics of a human impacted estuary: Quequen Grande river estuary, Argentina. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf science 62:301-312
- Peter B (2001) Bird Migration: A General Survey. Oxford University Press
- Pielou EC (1969) An Introduction to Mathematical Ecology. Wiley, New York
- R Core Team (2018) R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. https://www.R-project.org/
- Ramsar Convention Secretariat (2010) Designating Ramsar Sites: Strategic Framework and guidelines for the future development of the List of Wetlands of International Importance, Ramsar handbooks for the wise use of wetlands, 4th edition, vol. 17. Ramsar Convention Secretariat, Gland, Switzerland

- Rappole JH, King DI, Diez J (2003) Winter vs. breeding habitat limitation for an endangered avian migrant. Ecological Application 13:735–742. doi.org/10.1890/10510761(2003)013[0735:WVBLFA]2.0.CO;2
- Rodríguez A (2004) Análisis de los patrones de migración de varias especies de anátidos en el Neotrópico durante el período 1910-2004. Dissertation, University of Havana
- Rodríguez BD, Arias A, Ruiz E (eds.) (2014) Fauna terrestre del archipiélago Sabana-Camaguey, Cuba. Editorial Academia, La Habana
- Romano M, Barberis I, Pagano F, Maidagan J (2005) Seasonal and interannual variation in waterbird abundance and species composition in the Melincue' saline lake, Argentina. European Journal of Wildlife Research 51:1–13. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10344-005-0078-z
- Russell IA, Randall RM, Hanekom N (2014) Spatial and Temporal Patterns of Waterbird Assemblages in the Wilderness Lakes Complex, South Africa. Waterbirds 37(1):1-18. https://doi.org/10.1675/063.037.0104
- Saygili F, Yigit N, Bulut S (2011) The spatial and temporal distributions of waterbirds in Lakes Aks ,ehirEber and Lake Köyceig z in western Anatolia, Turkey - a comparative analysis. Turkey Journal of Zoology 35:467-480. http://journals.tubitak.gov.tr/zoology/abstract.htm?id=11806
- Sebastian-González E, Green AJ (2014) Habitat Use by Waterbirds in Relation to Pond Size, Water Depth, and Isolation: Lessons from a Restoration in Southern Spain. Restoration Ecology 22(3): 311–318. https://doi.org/10.1111/rec.12078
- Stafford JD, Kaminski RM, Reinecke KJ (2010) Avian Foods, Foraging and Habitat Conservation in World Rice Fields. Waterbirds 33 (Special Publication 1): 133-150. https://doi.org/10.1675/063.033.s110
- Sutton-Grier AE, Sandifer PA (2018) Conservation of Wetlands and Other Coastal Ecosystems: A Commentary on their Value to Protect Biodiversity, Reduce Disaster Impacts, and Promote Human Health and Well-Being. Wetlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13157-018-1039-0
- Taft OW, Haig SM (2006) Landscape context mediates influence of local food abundance on wetland use by wintering shorebirds in an agricultural valley. Biological Conservation 128: 298-307. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2005.09.036
- Tomankova I, Boland H, Reid N, Fox A (2013) Assessing the extent to which temporal changes in waterbird community composition are driven by either local, regional or global factors. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 23: 343–355. https://doi.org/10.1002/aqc.2303
- Toral G, Aragone's D, Bustamante J, Figuerola J (2011) Using Landsat images to map habitat availability for waterbirds in rice fields. Ibis The international journal of avian science 153: 684–694. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1474-919X.2011.01147.x
- Venables WN, Ripley BD (2002) Modern Applied Statistics with S, Fourth Edition. Springer, New York
- Webb E, Smith LM, Vrtiska MP, Lagrange TG (2010) Effects of Local and Landscape Variables on Wetland Bird Habitat Use During Migration Through the Rainwater Basin. Journal of Wildlife Management 74(1):109–119. https://doi.org/10.2193/2008-577

- Wen L, Saintilan N, Reid JRW, Colloff MJ (2016) Changes in distribution of waterbirds following prolonged drought reflect habitat availability in coastal and inland regions. Ecology and Evolution 6 (18):6672-6689. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.2091
- Wetlands International (2018) Waterbird Population Estimates. http://www.wpe.wetlands.org on. Accessed 1 Feb 2018

7. Supplementary materials

Supplementary material 1 Description of six wetland sites under study (2011 to 2013) on the Cuban south coast

S1. Punta Caribe:

Punta Caribe is a Faunal Refuge of recent creation (CNAP 2013). It is located on the southern coast of Pinar del Rio province, in western Cuba. It is a small wetland with predominance of intertidal mudflats, temporary lagoons and mangrove ecosystems. The area includes 2.5 km of the Guamá river basin, with an exuberant mangrove forest, reaching up to 6 m in height. Mangrove and swamp grass are the predominant plant formations in the area (Novo 2010). The wetland has a small extension of swamp forest and about 10 km² covered by temporary lagoons and salt marshes. It is the smallest wetlands sampled.

S2. Humedal Sur de los Palacios:

Humedal Sur de Los Palacios is an unprotected wetland, located on the south coast of the Pinar del Rio province, in western Cuba. It was recognized as an Important Bird Area (IBA) (Aguilar 2010). It is formed by an elongated coastal strip of mangrove forest (main plant formation), natural coastal wetlands, coastal salty lagoons, marshes, swamp grass and intertidal mudflats. These natural coastal lagoons are among the largest on the southern west coast of Cuba (Basal 2014). There are approximately 30 km² of lagoons and salt marshes in this wetland, where Maspoton and Media Casa lagoons are the most remarkable. The area is surrounded by extensive rice fields in the north side, that are among the most important in the country.

S3. Zapata:

Ciénaga de Zapata is a National Park, located within a Biosphere Reserve, a Ramsar site (CNAP 2013) and an IBA (Aguilar 2010). It is located in southern Matanzas province, in western Cuba. This area is considered the largest and best-preserved wetland in the insular Caribbean, with the largest area of marshes in Cuba and considerable extensions of forests (mangrove and semideciduous). It contains the largest and most complex karst drainage system in Cuba, Zapata Basin, that produces a unique hydrological phenomenon such as the swamp spring vegetation complex and a surface drainage system characterized by the existence of several rivers, lagoons, marshes, ditches and channels (Rodríguez et al. 1993). Las Salinas is a well-known system at Ciénaga de Zapata including coastal shallow lagoons, surrounded by mangroves. The main plant formations are mangroves, flooded savannahs and swamp grassland. Lagoons and salt marshes cover about 47 km² in this wetland.

S4. Canales del Hanábana:

Canales del Hanábana is a Faunal Refuge, also located in southern Matanzas province, in western Cuba. It is part of a Biosphere Reserve, a Ramsar site (CNAP 2013) and IBA (Aguilar 2010). The area contains a large system of fresh water channels of 5.7 km² and lagoons, combined with fresh water flooded grassland areas. The hydrographic network is fed by the Hanábana river, considered as the most important in the area. It is the only Cuban protected area that is completely covered by fresh water ecosystems. Swamp grasslands predominate in 87% of the area, with swamp forests and freshwater vegetation in a lesser extent. Swamp grasslands are composed of herbaceous plants that remain flooded most of the year. The swamp forest is characterized has an arboreal stratum of 5-15 m height. These

forests grow on peaty soils, temporarily flooded and have the highest floristic species richness in the area (CNAP 2015). The site is surrounded by rice fields in the north.

S5. Tunas de Zaza:

Tunas de Zaza is a Faunal Refuge (CNAP 2013), and an IBA (Aguilar 2010). It is located in the Zaza river delta, in Sancti Spiritus province southern coast, central Cuba. It comprises a set of natural coastal wetlands, important salty lagoons such as El Basto and La Limeta, and huge intertidal mudflats. The presence of the Zaza river, provides an important lagoon system, connecting the lagoons, estuaries and the sea. Mangrove is the most abundant plant formation in the area and occurs throughout the lower coastline, the lagoon systems and at the river mouths of the Tayabacoa and Zaza rivers. They have an arboreal stratum of 5-15 m in height and can occupy several kilometers in width. Other plant formations covering this wetland, in a lesser extent, are the evergreen microphyll forest, sandy vegetation complex, coastal scrub and savanna with *Copernicia* palms (ENPFF 2009). About 25 km² of lagoons and salt marshes are estimated in the protected area. In the eastern limits of the area, it's found the largest rice paddies of the country.

S6. Delta del Cauto:

Delta del Cauto is a Faunal Refuge, a Ramsar site (CNAP 2013) and an IBA (Aguilar 2010). It is located in Las Tunas and Granma provinces in south-eastern Cuba. It is the most extensive, complex and best-preserved deltaic system of Cuba and the Caribbean and the second wetland in extension, being the final result of the largest Cuban fluvial system, the Cauto river. This river is the main source of fresh water in this wetland, connecting innumerous lagoons, estuaries and the sea, and resulting the formation of an estuarine system. Towards the interior, it has a system of sweet and salty lagoons of great extension, such as Birama, Hoja de Maíz and Leonero (the latter permanently sweet). Further to the coast, there are extensive salting ponds, shallow lagoons with saline-hypersaline functioning or temporarily sweet (Denis et al. 2005). Lagoons and salt marshes cover a large area in the wetland, about 142 km². The predominant habitats are mangroves, swamp grasslands and savannahs (Guanal with *Copernicia giga* palm). Mangroves forest are considered the most vigorous in the country (approximately 30 m high). Other plant formations covering a less extension include swamp forest and aquatic vegetation in fresh water.

References

- Aguilar S (ed) (2010) Áreas Importantes para la Conservación de las Aves en Cuba. Editorial Academia, La Habana
- Basal: Proyecto Bases Ambientales para la sostenibilidad alimentaria local (2014) Modelo de Ordenamiento Ambiental del Municipio Los Palacios, provincia Pinar del Río. Instituto de Geografía Tropical, La Habana, Cuba
- CNAP Centro Nacional de Áreas Protegidas (2013) Plan del Sistema Nacional de Áreas Protegidas 2014-2020. Ministerio de Ciencias Tecnología y Medio Ambiente, La Habana, Cuba. http://www.snap.cu/
- CNAP Centro Nacional de Areas Protegidas (2015) Plan de Manejo: Refugio de Fauna Canales del Hanábana 2015-2019. Empresa Forestal Integral Ciénaga de Zapata, MINAGRI, Matanzas, Cuba
- Denis D, Mugica L, Rodríguez A, Acosta M, Labrada O (2005) Lista y comentarios de la avifauna de la Ciénaga de Birama, Cuba. Biología 19 (1-2):66-73. https://doi: 10.1111/brv.12045
- ENPFF Empresa Nacional para la Proteccion de la Flora y la Fauna (2009) Plan de Manejo Refugio de Fauna Tunas de Zaza 2010-2014. Sancti Spiritus, Cuba

- Novo R (2010) Informe Proyecto Sistema Áreas Protegidas de Pinar del Río. Jardín Botánico de Pinar del Río. Centro de Investigaciones y Servicios Ambientales ECOVIDA, Pinar del Río, Cuba
- Rodríguez YJ, Fernández L, Cruz R (eds.) (1993) Estudio Geográfico Integral: Ciénaga de Zapata. Academia de Ciencias de Cuba e Instituto Cubano de Geodesia y Cartografía, La Habana, Cuba

Tunas de Zaza, S6. Delta del Cauto. Total abundance and density (birds/ha) of waterbirds for each season (SM. Spring Migration, SS. Summer Season, FM. Fall Migration). Maximum abundance (Max Abun), registered in any one-day observation. Frequency of waterbirds (Fr) (number of sampling plots where the bird was seen/total number of sampling plots: N = 543). Relative abundance (Rel Abun) (sum of the maximum abundance of each species in the three seasons/total abundance of all species included in the correspondent status category).	y observ maximu	densit ation. m abu	y (birc Frequ indanc	ls/ha) c ency o e of ear	of wate of wate ch spe	srbirds rbirds cies in	for eaci (Fr) (m the thre	h seasoi umber c e seaso	n (SM. S) of sampli ns/total ٤	pring Ang plot	density (birds/ha) of waterbirds for each season (SM. Spring Migration, SS. Summer Season, FM. Fall Migration). Maximum ation. Frequency of waterbirds (Fr) (number of sampling plots where the bird was seen/total number of sampling plots: N = n abundance of each species in the three seasons/total abundance of all species included in the correspondent status category).	SS. Surr te bird v species i	vas seen	son, FM. J total num in the corr	Fall Migr ber of sa esponder	ation). M mpling pl nt status c	aximum ots: N = ategory)
			s	Sites					Ţ	Total abundance	indance		Total density	ensity	I		
Family/Species (¹ Threatened category)	S1	S2	S3	S4	S5	S6	² Stat us	³ Occ urre nce	SM	SS	FM	SM	SS	FM	Max Abun	Fr %	Rel Abun
Anatidae																	
Black-bellied Whistling-Duck Dendrocygna autumnalis				x			MM	VR	0	0	4	0.00	0.00	0.01	б	0.37	0.00
West Indian Whistling-Duck Dendrocygna arborea	х	x	Х	Х	Х	Х	PR	С	334	344	464	0.77	0.70	1.08	200	24.68	3.25
Fulvous Whistling-Duck Dendrocygna bicolor		x		х	x	x	В	С	3584	1605	2886	9.12	3.51	6.78	1400	26.89	8.83
Snow Goose Anser caerulescens		x				Х	MM	A	26	0	0	0.16	0.00	0.00	21	1.10	0.01
Wood Duck Aix sponsa		×		x		x	В	С	23	٢	84	0.13	0.01	0.30	45	6.63	0.12
Green-winged Teal Anas crecca		×					MM	R	225	0	500	1.61	0.00	3.58	500	2.58	0.38
Redhead Aythya americana		×					MM	R	8	0	0	0.06	0.00	0.00	×	0.55	0.00
Mallard Anas platyrhynchos		×		x			MM	VR	0	0	ю	0.00	0.00	0.01	4	0.74	0.00
White-cheeked Pintail Anas bahamensis		x		х		Х	PR	С	1345	144	1689	4.44	1.01	4.92	500	25.41	9.05
Northern Pintail Anas acuta		x	Х			Х	MM	С	95	0	25	0.57	0.00	0.17	009	6.26	0.06
Blue-winged T eal Spatula discors	x	×	×	x	x	x	MM	С	17939	108	113056	71.93	0.60	507.90	30026	42.36	69.36
Cinnamon Teal Spatula cyanoptera		x				х	MM	V	17	0	2522	0.12	0.00	5.16	2500	2.03	1.34
Northern Shoveler Spatula clypeata		×	×	x		x	MM	С	889	51	2658	5.51	0.25	6.15	2300	14.92	1.90
American Wigeon Mareca americana		×	x			х	MM	С	232	0	578	1.30	0.00	1.25	545	9.02	0.43
Ring-necked Duck Aythya collaris			х	х		Х	MM	С	10	0	79	0.02	0.00	0.19	40	2.76	0.06
Lesser Scaup Aythya affinis			x	x		x	MM	C	57	0	122	0.12	0.00	0.25	78	4.97	0.09

Red-breasted Merganser Mergus servator		×	×	×			ΜM	С	4	0	5	0.02	0.00	0.04	7	2.58	0.00
Ruddy Duck Oxyura jamaicensis		х		х		х	В	С	~	0	45	0.05	0.00	0.09	14	1.47	0.06
Masked Duck Nomonyx dominicus (VU*, LC**)						x	PR	R	4	0	0	0.01	0.00	0.00	7	0.37	0.01
Phoenicopteridae																	
American Flamingo Phoenicopterus ruber	×	×	x		x	×	PR	C	8003	4182	7390	17.63	10.06	19.13	2850	64.09	55.76
Podicipedidae																	
Least Grebe Tachybaptus dominicus	х	х	х	х	х	х	PR	C	10	4	4	0.05	0.01	0.03	4	4.60	0.05
Pied-billed Grebe Podilymbus podiceps		х	х			х	В	C	23	6	28	0.08	0.06	0.09	20	10.50	0.07
Rallidae																	
Black Rail Laterallus jamaicensis	×				x		ΜM	R	4	1	1	0.01	0.00	0.00	б	1.29	0.00
Mangrove Rail Rallus longirostris	×	×	х		х	×	PR	C	50	48	35	0.27	0.18	0.17	11	30.02	0.38
King Rail Rallus elegans		×					В	C	-	0	2	0.01	0.00	0.01	7	1.10	0.00
Yellow-breasted Crake Hapalocrex flaviventer		х					PR	R	-	0	1	0.01	0.00	0.01	-	0.74	0.01
Purple Gallinule Porphyrio martinicus	х	х			х	х	В	C	356	181	695	0.72	0.41	1.42	320	17.31	1.35
Common Moorhen Gallinula chloropus	х	×	х	х	х	x	в	C	344	73	248	0.75	0.16	0.51	89	19.71	0.73
American Coot Fulica americana	x	×	x	х	x	x	В	C	7412	13	13290	15.48	0.05	27.78	12968	20.44	22.65
Aramidae																	
Limpkin Aramus guarauna		×		х	х	×	PR	С	30	68	54	0.07	0.14	0.12	23	23.57	0.43
Recurvirostridae																	
Black-necked Stilt Himantopus mexicanus	х	×	х		х	x	В	C	1604	991	2373	6.91	3.08	10.22	1102	66.11	5.43
American Avocet Recurvirostra americana	×	×		x		×	В	К	63	4	200	0.38	0.01	1.32	130	11.79	0.29
Haematopodidae																	
American Oystercatcher Haematopus palliatus		х		х			В	К	4	0	1	0.03	0.00	0.01	2	1.10	0.01
Charadriidae																	

Charadriidae

Black-bellied Plover Pluvialis squatarola	х	x	×		×	ММ	ч С	1474		101	448	9.74	0.21	2.37	750	24.13	1.07
American Golden-Plover Pluvialis dominica		x	х			ΜM	A R		69	0	30	0.49	0.00	0.21	40	3.13	0.05
Snowy Plover Charadrius nivosus (VU*, NT**)		x				PR	R		19	0	22	0.14	0.00	0.16	17	1.84	0.12
Wilson's Plover Charadrius wilsonia	x	x	x	×	×	SM	1 C		534 2	242	283	2.80	0.61	1.11	300	34.07	0.82
Semipalmated Plover Charadrius semipalmatus	x	x	x	×		ΜM	л С		82	37	251	0.30	0.08	0.67	06	9.39	0.20
Piping Plover Charadrius melodus (VU*, NT**)		x				ММ	A R		13	0	9	60.0	0.00	0.04	10	1.29	0.01
Killdeer Charadrius vociferus	х	x	х	x	x	В	C		150	171	120	0.59	0.41	0.38	67	28.73	0.48
Jacanidae																	
Northern Jacana Jacana spinosa		x			х	PR	C		114	108	127	0.24	0.23	0.26	39	19.34	0.99
Scolopacidae																	
Whimbrel Numenius phaeopus					x	ΜM	л VR		24	15	13	0.05	0.03	0.03	22	2.58	0.03
Long-billed Curlew Numenius americanus		x		×		ММ	л VR	~	0	0	2	0.00	0.00	0.01	5	0.18	0.00
Marbled Godwit Limosa fedoa					х	ΜM	л VR	~	8	4	0	0.02	0.01	0.00	5	0.92	0.01
Ruddy Turnstone Arenaria interpres	х	х	х	x x	x	ΜM	АС		130	58	248	0.42	0.14	0.87	70	20.99	0.23
Stilt Sandpiper Calidris himantopus	х	x	x	×		ΜM	СС		٢	4	40	0.01	0.01	0.11	30	2.76	0.03
Sanderling Calidris alba	х	x		×		ΜM	л С		150	60	452	0.70	0.12	1.11	350	7.18	0.35
Dunlin Calidris alpina		x	х			ММ	A R		55	0	65	0.37	0.00	0.46	65	1.66	0.06
Least Sandpiper Calidris minutilla	x	x	×	x	×	ММ	ЛС	11118		1024 1	10089	28.55	2.80	30.52	8000	44.38	11.76
White-rumped Sandpiper Calidris fuscicollis	х	х		x x		ММ	A R		135	116	841	0.38	0.24	1.80	800	2.95	0.58
Pectoral Sandpiper Calidris melanotos		x				ΜM	A R		0	0	1	0.00	0.00	0.01	-	0.18	0.00
Semipalmated Sandpiper Calidris pusilla	x	х		x	x	ММ	СС		27	18	154	0.18	0.04	0.38	500	7.73	0.11
Western Sandpiper Calidris mauri	x	х	x	x	x	ΜM	АС	1024		200	2289	3.41	0.42	5.31	640	16.94	1.86
Short-billed Dowitcher Limnodromus griseus	х	х	х	x	x	ΜM	СС	4214		327	5655	23.76	2.20	34.41	5000	28.36	5.39
Long-billed Dowitcher Limnodromus scolopaceus	x	×		x x		MM	АК		287	70	1161	0.81	0.15	4.38	500	8.66	0.80

Common Snipe Gallinago gallinago	x	x		×			WМ	С	330	0	479	0.67	0.00	0.98	200	7.37	0.43
Spotted Sandpiper Actitis macularius		х	х		x	х	WМ	С	25	0	115	0.07	00.00	0.67	56	11.23	0.07
Solitary Sandpiper Tringa solitaria		x		x	×	×	WМ	C	15	3	81	0.03	0.01	0.17	70	3.31	0.05
Lesser Y ellowlegs Tringa flavipes	x	x	x	x	×	×	WМ	C	439	151	395	1.51	0.61	1.60	101	35.36	0.52
Willet Tringa semipalmata	x	x	x	x	×	×	В	C	453	210	452	2.29	1.01	1.80	222	39.41	1.22
Greater Y ellowlegs Tringa melanoleuca	x	x	x	x	×	×	WМ	С	439	151	395	1.51	0.61	1.59	101	35.36	0.52
Red-necked Phalarope Phalaropus lobatus		х		x			WМ	A	9	0	4	0.04	00.00	0.03	12	1.10	0.01
Red Phalarope <i>Phalaropus fulicaria</i>		х					WМ	A	4	0	0	0.03	00.00	0.00	4	0.55	0.00
Laridae																	
Black-legged Kittiwake Rissa tridactyla	x						WМ	A	0	8	5	0.00	0.03	0.02	8	0.92	0.01
Bonaparte's Gull <i>Chroicocephalus philadelphia</i>	x						WМ	VR	80	0	250	0.27	0.00	0.83	250	0.55	0.17
Laughing Gull Leucophaeus atricilla	x	x	x	x	×	×	В	С	322	457	745	1.46	1.41	2.43	150	56.72	1.67
Ring-billed Gull Larus delawarensis		х			x		WМ	С	74	135	157	0.19	0.28	0.33	06	4.05	0.17
Herring Gull Larus argentatus	х	х					WМ	С	52	0	L	0.37	00.00	0.02	52	1.66	0.03
Least Tern Sternula antillarum	x	x	x			×	SM	С	27	52	20	0.13	0.20	0.10	22	21.55	0.08
Bridled T ern Onychoprion anaethetus		x					SM	С	1	0	0	0.01	0.00	0.00	с	0.55	0.00
Gull-billed Tern Gelochelidon nilotica		х	x		x	x	WМ	R	28	22	28	0.09	0.11	0.08	20	13.63	0.04
Caspian Tern <i>Hydroprogue caspia</i>	x	x	x		×	×	WМ	С	372	85	501	1.11	0.52	1.65	272	30.76	0.51
Black Tern Chlidonias niger		х					WМ	R	0	0	1	0.00	00.00	0.01	-	0.18	0.00
Common Tern Sterna hirundo		х		x	x		WМ	R	б	10	13	0.02	0.02	0.03	23	3.13	0.01
Forster's Tern Sterna forsteri	x						WМ	R	0	0	1	0.00	0.00	0.003	-	0.37	0.00
Royal Tern Thalasseus maximus	х	х	x			х	В	С	165	115	217	0.82	0.59	0.87	237	39.04	0.54
Sandwich Tern Thalasseus sandvicensis	х	х			x	x	SM	С	13	31	90	0.05	0.07	0.24	21	5.34	0.10
Black Skimmer Rynchops niger	×		×		×	×	MM	C	55	0	253	0.12	0.00	0.51	245	4.97	0.16

-70	
•=	
•=	
=	
•	
ు	
•=	
\mathbf{C}	
-	

Ciconiidae																	
Wood Stork <i>Mycteria americana</i>		х	х	х	Х		PR	Я	31	40	57	0.09	0.10	0.16	27	19.34	0.36
Fregatidae																	
Magnificent Frigatebird Fregata magnificens	×	x	×		x	x	PR	C	49	43	46	0.22	0.20	0.22	16	27.81	0.39
Sulidae																	
Brown Booby Sula leucogaster	×						PR	К	0	7	0	0.00	0.01	0.00	7	0.18	0.01
Phalacrocoracidae																	
Neotropic Cormorant Phalacrocorax brasilianus		х	x	х	х	х	PR	C	891	1876	1295	1.83	3.89	2.65	1000	30.94	11.57
Double-crested Cormorant Phalacrocorax auritus	×	x	×		x	x	В	C	5367	4962	4490	32.56	26.33	26.71	3621	63.90	16.21
Anhingidae																	
Anhinga Anhinga anhinga	×	x	×	х	х	х	PR	C	157	120	242	0.56	0.44	0.80	46	52.67	1.48
Pelecanidae																	
American White Pelican Pelecanus erythrorhynchos	х	х	х	х			ΜM	C	339	479	551	1.79	3.21	3.52	403	26.52	0.72
Brown Pelican Pelecanus occidentalis	Х	х	х	х	Х	Х	В	C	250	56	306	0.91	0.20	1.09	69	48.43	0.67
Ardeidae																	
American Bittern Botaurus lentiginosus				х			ΜM	VR	0	4	1	00.00	0.01	0.002	7	0.92	0.00
Least Bittern Ixobrychus exilis		х		х		х	В	C	31	21	30	0.08	0.05	0.07	8	14.55	0.09
Great Blue Heron Ardea herodias	×	x	×	x	x	x	В	С	280	172	367	0.81	0.48	1.10	83	79.93	0.90
Great Egret Ardea alba	х	x	х	х	х	х	В	C	574	309	828	1.48	0.97	3.54	406	82.50	1.87
Snowy Egret Egretta thula	×	x	×	x	x	x	В	C	1638	1455	2637	5.25	4.64	9.98	629	84.16	6.27
Little Blue Heron <i>Egretta caerulea</i>	×	x	×	x	x	x	В	C	977	730	666	3.11	2.00	4.03	171	85.08	2.96
Tricolored Heron Egretta tricolor	×	x	×	x	x	x	В	С	305	416	656	1.04	1.16	2.45	156	73.11	1.51
Reddish Egretta rufescens	х	х	х	х	х	х	В	C	184	205	333	0.49	0.5	0.88	164	46.41	0.79
Cattle Egret Bubulcus ibis	×	×	×	x	×	x	В	С	2274	1004	2041	5.60	2.63	8.68	902	37.38	5.82

Green Heron Butorides virescens	×	×	×	×	×	×	В	C	394	487	492	0.98	1.13	1.34	120	70.17	1.50
Black-crowned Night-Heron Nycticorax nycticorax	х	x	х	х	х	х	В	C	340	330	418	0.881	0.78	1.55	133	53.22	1.19
Yellow-crowned Night-Heron Nyctanassa violacea	×	x	x	×	×	×	В	С	85	43	174	0.286	0.10	0.47	48	27.44	0.33
Threskiornithidae																	
White Ibis Eudocimus albus	×	x	x	×	×	×	PR	C	1300	1134	1213	3.88	3.07	3.82	378	75.69	10.39
Glossy Ibis Plegadis falcinellus	×	x		×	×	×	В	C	6978	1848	5859	16.03	4.03	16.36	4508	36.28	16.06
Roseate Spoonbil <i>Platalea ajaja</i>	х	х	х	x	х	x	PR	C	727	484	496	2.71	1.46	2.11	144	51.75	4.86
Pandionidae																	
Osprey Pandion haliaetus	х	x	x	×	x	×	В	С	84	52	98	0.33	0.18	0.30	18	55.06	0.26
Accipitridae																	
Snail Kite Rostrhamus sociabilis		x		×	x	×	PR	С	39	44	46	0.10	0.09	0.12	14	25.23	0.37
Northern Harrier Circus hudsonius		x	x	×	x	×	ММ	С	23	4	21	0.05	0.01	0.06	9	11.79	0.03
Cuban Black Hawk Buteogallus gundlachii	х	х	х	x	х		PR	C	29	30	23	0.11	0.11	0.10	13	31.31	0.23
Alcedinidae																	
Belted Kingfisher Ceryle alcyon		х	x			x	ММ	C	67	73	295	0.27	0.17	0.73	150	34.44	0.23
Falconidae																	
Crested Caracara Caracara cheriway		х	Х	Х	х	Х	PR	С	34	28	34	0.10	0.09	0.10	7	23.20	0.27
American Kestrel Falco sparverius		х		x	х	x	В	С	33	53	38	0.15	0.18	0.16	6	32.78	0.14
Merlin Falco columbarius		х	Х	х	х	х	MM	С	33	30	30	0.08	0.06	0.07	11	14.00	0.05
Peregrine Falcon Falco peregrinus	×	x	x	×	×	×	MM	С	25	9	31	0.11	0.03	0.14	4	25.78	0.03
¹ Threedened estacons: 1C-1 eset Concern NT-New Threedened VI: Uniformable (*Convisies et al. 2012: **IIICN 2017)	Ioar Three	outono	IM F	Vulnov	ahla (*Conz	álaz at a	1 2012.	СI II**	12017)							

¹Threatened category: LC. Least Concern, NT. Near Threatened, VU. Vulnerable (*González et al. 2012; **IUCN 2017) ²Status: B. Bimodal SM. Summer Migrant, PR. Permanent Resident, WM. Winter Migrant (Navarro and Reyes 2017) ³Occurrence: V. Vagrant, C. Common, R. Rare, VR. Very Rare (Garrido and Kirkconnell 2010)

Supplementary material 3 Mantel test to detect whether presence/ absence and waterbird composition was linked to the spatial position (coordinates in decimal degrees of latitude and longitude) of the six sites in the south coast of Cuba (correlation between a Euclidean distance matrix and the Bray–Curtis dissimilarity matrix). Test was conducted for each month evaluated (16 month) in three seasons (SM. Spring Migration, SS. Summer Season, FM. Fall Migration), from 2011 to 2013 (P < 0.05)

			Presence/a	absence	Waterbird c	omposition
Year	Season	Month	r	Р	r	Р
2011	SS	May	-0.487	0.982	-0.455	0.972
		June	-0.618	0.993	-0.599	0.990
	FM	October	-0.587	0.985	-0.585	0.997
		November	-0.668	0.993	-0.635	0.982
2012	SM	February	-0.065	0.482	-0.111	0.556
		March	-0.629	0.985	-0.501	0.925
	SS	May	-0.089	0.513	-0.118	0.532
		June	-0.417	0.942	-0.524	0.974
	FM	October	-0.454	0.932	-0.522	0.942
		November	-0.528	0.970	-0.581	0.983
2013	SM	February	-0.248	0.746	-0.25	0.721
		March	-0.358	0.872	-0.350	0.864
	SS	May	-0.358	0.872	-0.118	0.532
		June	-0.134	0.601	-0.203	0.665
	FM	October	-0.106	0.586	-0.211	0.675
		November	-0.459	0.922	-0.423	0.922

CAPÍTULO II. Effect of landscape structure on waterbirds community in a conservation gradient in southwestern wetlands coast of Cuba

Autores: Susana Aguilar, Lourdes Mugica, Martin Acosta, Karen Aguilar, Danilo Boscolo, Rodolfo Castro, Zaimiuri Hernández and Lilian Tonelli Manica

> Manuscrito submetido à revista *Landscape Ecology* Qualis CAPES (Biodiversidade 2013-2016): A1

Abstract

Landscape structure can affect waterbird distribution across wetlands. While forest fragmentation effects have been extensively studied in birds, we still lack knowledge about how the loss of wetlands might impact waterbird populations. We investigated the effects of landscape configuration on waterbird communities in southwestern Cuba and evaluated the contribution of the configuration of lagoons, mangrove, rice fields and anthropogenic land use to waterbird diversity. Also, we identified the scale at which descriptors of waterbird community are most sensitive to landscape variables. We conducted surveys in 14 landscapes during fall migration season of 2016. Landscape structure was described with 11 landscape variables at three spatial scales. We used Generalised Linear Models to test the effects of landscape variables on waterbird community and Akaike's information criterion, for model selection. Our results show that, at the scale of 6 km, mangrove mean patch area had a negative influence on waterbird abundance, while percentage of landscape covered by lagoons had a positive effect at 2 km. However, a higher percentage of mangroves and lagoons had a positive effect in waterbird composition at 2 km. The percentage of mangroves had a negative effect on waterbird diversity at 4 km. The percentage of anthropogenic land use did not influence any response variable at the evaluated scales. Detecting the scales of effect of two important landscape resources is very important for the effective management of waterbird populations. These features contribute to the adequate planning of reserves on the coast of Cuba.

Key words. Coastal wetlands, Habitat fragmentation, Landscape structure, Multi-scale models, Scale of response, Spatial scale

1. Introduction

Landscape structure is potentially a crucial factor affecting the distribution of waterbirds in wetlands (Chan et al. 2007). Many landscape traits, such as type of surrounding habitat (Naugle et al. 2001; Riffell 2001), the amount of a nearby wetland (Fairbairn and Dinsmore 2001; Naugle et al. 2001; Taft and Haig 2006), and connectivity to other habitat patches (Haig et al. 1998; Guadagnin and Maltchik 2007), may affect the population density of certain species or the waterbird assemblage composition in wetland habitats. While effects of forest loss and fragmentation on terrestrial birds has been extensively studied, the impact of wetland loss on waterbird assemblages has not (Fairbairn and Dinsmore 2001; Riffell et al. 2001). On the other hand, the influence of landscape structure on waterbirds is an issue that has attracted increasing research interest in recent years.

Several studies relating landscape structure and waterbirds focus on artificial wetlands such as rice paddies (Chan et al. 2007; Elphick 2008; King et al. 2010) and artificial ponds (Fronemam et al. 2001; Pérez-García 2014; Hsu et al. 2019). Among studies testing the landscape configuration effects on waterbird community structure in natural wetlands (Perez-García 2014; Brandolin and Blendinger 2016; Herbert et al. 2018), little focus has been given to coastal wetland habitats (Henry and Cumming 2017), especially in the Caribbean region. Nevertheless, these habitats are of great importance for waterbirds (Aguilar et al. 2019) and have undergone considerable degradation (Ma et al. 2010; Finlayson et al. 2019). The underlying drivers behind the loss of coastal wetland biodiversity include habitat change (such as drainage and infilling for agriculture or construction), climate change, pollution, the spread of invasive 'alien' species and overexploitation of resources (Ramsar Convention Secretariat 2011).

An important principle of landscape ecology is that the spatial distribution of environments can have major effects on a wide variety of ecological processes (Wiens 2002), thus determining species and community structure (Knutson et al. 1999; Froneman et al. 2001; Mazerolle et al. 2005; Thornton et al. 2011; Ekroos and Kuussaari 2012). In fact, the lack of knowledge about interactions between communities and landscape complexity are barriers for effective species conservation (Lindenmayer et al. 2008; Prugh et al. 2008; Ranganathan et al. 2010). Landscape patterns that favor population and community connectivity or ecological processes are key elements to conserve natural areas influenced by human impacts (Bennet 2004). For example, habitat cover and configuration must be considered in landscape planning and management for biodiversity conservation, because these are essential factors for many species survival (Williams et al. 2002; Lindenmayer et al. 2008), as shown in recent studies for waterbirds and wetland conservation (Kleyheeg et al. 2017; Xu et al. 2019; Zhang et al. 2019).

The relationship between biological responses and environmental variables also depends on the spatial extent (scale) at which they are measured (Wiens 1989; Bellamy et al. 2013; Jackson and Fahrig 2015). The 'scale of effect', i.e. scale that yields the strongest relationship (Boscolo et al. 2009; Jackson and Fahrig 2015), is usually not known for a given biological system. Consequently, researchers commonly measure landscape variables at multiple scales to characterize habitat features adequately and to identify their spatial configuration affecting the abundance of populations or their assembly (Moudry and Simova 2012; Shirk 2012; Wasserman et al. 2012; Sánchez et al. 2013). Therefore, to understand how anthropogenic environmental changes influence organisms it is crucial to evaluate the spatial scale at which organisms are mostly responding to changes (Ducci et al. 2015). The scale of effect has been evaluated in several research in waterbirds and wetlands landscape

(Chan et al. 2007; Elphick 2008, Perez-Garcia et al. 2014, Webb et al. 2010; Beatty et al. 2014), nevertheless, it has been little explored in coastal wetlands. Detecting the scale of effect of landscape features is very important to decide the landscape units that should be targeted for effective management (Pearce and Boyce 2006; Mander and Uuemaa 2010).

In Cuba, several anthropogenic actions have affected ecosystems negatively in coastal wetlands for a long time. More than 30% of Cuban mangroves have been affected by different types of land use (Menéndez et al. 2003). The southwestern coast of Cuba constitutes a continuous habitat of coastal wetlands characterized by swampy plain bordered by mangroves, with coastal lagoons, marshes and intertidal mudflats (Iturralde and Serrano 2015) which are preferred by waterbirds (Aguilar et al. 2019). This region includes the coastal strip with the highest degree of anthropic modification of coastal wetlands in Cuba (Vega et al. 1990; Moreno et al. 1998; Mitrani et al. 2000; Menéndez and Guzmán 2006) including legally hunting areas of six waterfowl species during the migratory season (Ministry of Agriculture 2015).

The southwestern coast of Cuba provides a suitable habitat for waterbirds and it is known empirically for waterbird concentrations, mainly in the migratory season. However, very few studies have been conducted in the region to foster waterbird conservation strategies. The most studied sites regarding waterbird assemblages are the Zapata Peninsula (González et al. 2016a), which is a national park, a biosphere reserve and a Ramsar site and Humedal Sur de los Palacios and their associated rice paddies (Acosta and Mugica 2013, Mugica et al. 2014; Aguilar et al. 2019). In the remaining study region, in southwestern coast of Cuba, there are few studies focusing on specific watebirds species using these wetlands (Mugica et al. 2002; Mugica et al. 2005; Blanco et al. 2014; González et al. 2016b; González et al. 2018). Even though this region includes recently proposed protected areas, there are no studies at the
landscape level supporting such definitions and effective management, as well as important requirements by waterbird diversity.

In this study, we tested the effects of landscape structure on waterbird communities in coastal wetlands within a conservation gradient in southwestern Cuba and evaluated the relative contribution of spatial configuration of lagoons, mangrove, rice field and anthropogenic land use to waterbirds diversity. Our specific objectives were to (i) identify the scale at which different descriptors of waterbird community are most sensitive and (ii) identify the landscape factors that may influence richness, abundance, composition and diversity of waterbird communities. This information will be useful for waterbirds conservation planning and management actions in the study region.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1 Study Area

We sampled fourteen areas in southwestern coastal wetlands of Cuba, in Pinar del Río, Artemisa, Mayabeque and Matanzas provinces (Fig 1). These areas are located in a coastal region called Ciénaga Litoral del Sur (Núñez 1989), between Cabo Francés and Peninsula de Zapata (from 83 ° 58' W, 22 ° 06' N to 81 ° 15' W, 22 ° 07' N), along ~ 456 km and including wetlands habitats from 2 to10 km wide of the coastline. This coastal strip is limited to the south by the Gulf of Batabanó (León 1996). The main plant formations are mangrove, swamp forest and swamp grasslands. It is a cumulative, biogenic plain on turbid swamp deposits (Mateo and Acevedo 1989; Menéndez and Guzmán 2006). The whole area is characterized by a low, swampy plain, which is waterlogged in almost all its extension, with coastal lagoons, marshes and intertidal mudflats (Iturralde and Serrano 2015). Average temperatures range from 24.0 to 26.0 ° C and the average annual rainfall from 800 to 1000 mm (ICCACC 1989). Five protected areas are included in our study site, one is a Ramsar site and Biosphere Reserve (Zapata Peninsula; CNAP 2013) and two are Important Bird Areas (IBAs) (Zapata Peninsula and Humedal Sur de los Palacios; Aguilar 2010).

The study area is subject to different degrees of anthropic influence and degradation, and presents different patterns of land use. The highest degree of anthropic modification is within the southern coastal strip of Artemisa and Mayabeque provinces, between Playa Majana and Ensenada de Vizcaya (~ 129 km long) (Vega et al. 1990; Moreno et al. 1998; Mitrani et al. 2000, Iturralde and Serrano 2015). Mangroves in this area present one of the lowest ecosystem health indices in the Cuba western region (Menéndez and Guzmán 2006). Historically, these mangroves have been heavily impacted by timber extraction for railway construction and for charcoal production. In the 1950s, the establishment of a series of drainage channels led the mangroves and coastal swamps to dry out and farmers to deforest the swamps' landward margin. In order to counteract the effects of marine intrusion and groundwater salinization, a 50 km long retention wall (Southern Dike) was built in the 1980s; this, however, resulted in higher mangroves mortality due to flooding on its landward side, increased wave impact and reduced freshwater inputs on its seaward side (Menendez et al. 2006).

On the other hand, the western wetlands on the south coast of Pinar del Río province and on part of Artemisa province, from Cabo Francés to Playa Majana (~ 133 km), are less degraded. However, they are affected mainly by agricultural activity (rice cultivation), damming rivers and extreme weather events such as hurricanes (Menéndez and Guzmán 2006). The most preserved wetland in the study region is the Zapata National Park in Matanzas province (CNAP 2013). Agriculture is also the main land use in the northern wetland strip of these provinces, except in Peninsula de Zapata.



Fig. 1 Fourteen sampling areas in four provinces in the western south coast of Cuba. Individual maps for each sampling unit (1-14) show landscapes at three spatial extents (2, 4 and 6 km) and seven classes of land covers

2.2 Waterbird survey

We conducted waterbird surveys during 2016 fall migration season (October–November), at a central sampling point in each sampling area (Fig. 1). We selected fall migration because it is when most species have highest abundance and densities (Acosta et al. 1992; González et al. 2016b), so it is likely the most important time for the conservation of waterbirds on the south coast of Cuba (Aguilar et al. 2019). Sampling points were separated by at least 12 km to avoid data autocorrelation and included three subsampling point counts within a radius of about 500 m at lagoons and salt marshes. We did fix point counts (Bibby et al. 2000) at each subsampling point by counting all individuals of each species seen or heard in 30-minute periods, always in the first four hours after sunrise. Bird counts were carried out during three alternate days (one day out of a three-day period). We used 10 x 50 binoculars and 20 x 60 spotting scopes to detect the birds and a GPS to record geographical coordinates of each sampling point. We recorded only aquatic birds and species dependent on wetlands to meet their daily needs. As our survey method was diurnal, results may be biased low for secretive birds (e.g. gallinules) and nocturnal birds (e.g. night-herons and whistling ducks). Bird taxonomy follows the American Ornithological Society (AOS) checklist (Chesser et al. 2018). Each species was identified and classified according to its occurrence (common, rare, very rare and vagrant; Garrido and Kirkconnell 2010) and status (bimodal, summer migrant, permanent resident and winter migrant; Navarro and Reyes 2017). Bimodal species are those characterized by both resident and winter migratory populations.

For further analyses for each sampling point, we considered species richness (number of species), waterbird abundance (number of individuals) and waterbird composition (matrix of abundances by species) by pooling results of the three subsampling counts. Additionally, to define abundance, we considered the maximum number of individuals of each species during the three days. Frequency of waterbird species was given as the number of samplings where the bird was recorded/total number of sampling points (N = 14). For each sampling point, we also calculated Shannon diversity index (Magurran 1988).

2.3 Landscape structure

We measured 11 landscape variables at three spatial scales in each landscape unit (2, 4 and 6 km radius buffers around the sampling points, Fig. 1). The total extension in each spatial scale was 1,257, 5,026 and 11,309 hectares, respectively. We selected these scales based on the current knowledge about the largest waterbird mobility (Cumming et al. 2012; Henry and Cumming 2017). To avoid spatial autocorrelation, we limited the extent of the higher scale to 6 km. We did not use smaller scales because in these extensions some land cover classes did not have enough variation in size when comparing sampling areas (e.g. mangroves).

Land cover data was obtained from the following shapefile layers: a) Vegetation of Cuba, from Landsat ETM 7 (Estrada et al. 2013); b) Forest Cover of Cuba, from Landsat ETM 7 (Geocuba 2012); c) soil use (IPF 2007) and d) two layers of road and land use in Cuba, from OpenStreetMap (2019) (www.openstreetmap.org). In order to update the information, we digitized and rectified eleven classes for this study, from these shapefile layers, through Google Maps (2019) images, supported by personal field experience. This update was made within the limits of the largest spatial extent (6 km of buffer), in each of the 14 sampled landscapes. The final map was obtained through the overlay of all different layers.

The eleven classes updated were aggregated to form seven classes: anthropogenic land use; rice paddies; swamp forest; mangrove; swamp grassland; lagoons, salt marshes and rivers and sea (Fig. 1). However, we analyzed only four classes (anthropogenic land use; rice paddies; mangrove; lagoons, salt marshes and rivers) because these are the main habitat types that are expected to be influencing the structure of the waterbird communities in the region, according to their ecological requirements and relevant to our hypotheses (Mugica et al. 2006). The anthropogenic land use included several types of land covers, such as villages, industries, bare soil, scrub and secondary forests, pastures, crops, canals and roads. Rice paddies were excluded from anthropogenic land use cover and were analyzed independently, due to its importance for waterbird communities mainly for feeding and resting (King et al. 2010; Toral et al. 2011). The average percentage of sea cover for the 14 landscape units was 43 ± 7 %. Considering that there was few variation across units (CV = 16 %), we assumed it should not have an effect on landscape metrics and the samples could be compared. We converted final shapefile maps in raster files (.tif and .img) with 2-m pixel sizes (resolution) for all landscapes (in total 42 landscapes: 14 for each of the three spatial scale). Data was processed using the geographical information system QGIS 12.14.18.

We quantified 11 landscape variables associated with the four land cover classes, inside each sampling unit at the three spatial extent, using FRAGSTATS v. 4.2 software (McGarigal et al. 2012). We selected indices of landscape composition and configuration that described shape, aggregation, size and quantity of the four different environments in the landscape. We chose these variables because they are expected to influence waterbird diversity due to habitat requirements of these species (Pérez-García et al. 2014; Brandolin and Blendinger 2016; Amira et al. 2018). Landscape variables, at each land cover class, are described in Table 1. Due to their multicollinearity, we used only five metrics as predictor variables in statistical analyses (see Data Analysis).

Land cover class	Code	Variable	Unit	Description
Lagoons, salt marshes	AREMN-lag	Mean patch	m ²	Mean area of all lagoons, salt marshes and rivers
and rivers		area		patches in the landscape
Lagoons, salt marshes	PLAND-lag	Percentage of	%	Percentage of landscape covered by lagoons, salt
and rivers		landscape		marshes and rivers
Lagoons, salt marshes	LPI.lag	Largest patch	%	Percentage of total landscape area comprised by
and rivers		index		the largest patch of lagoons, salt marshes and
				rivers
Lagoons, salt marshes	SHAPEMN.lag	Mean shape	unit	Mean shape of all lagoons, salt marshes and
and rivers		index		rivers patches in the landscape
Lagoons, salt marshes	NP.lag	Number of	n	Number of lagoons, salt marshes and rivers
and rivers		patches		patches
Mangrove	AREMN-mag	Mean patch	m ²	Mean area of all mangrove's patches in the
		area		landscape
Mangrove	PLAND-mag	Percentage of	%	Percentage of landscape covered by mangroves
		landscape		
Mangrove	PD.mang	Patch density	n/m ²	Number of mangrove's patches divided by total
				landscape area
Mangrove	ENNMN.mang	Mean of	m	Mean of Euclidean nearest-neighbor distance
		Euclidean		among mangrove patches
		nearest-		
		neighbor		
		distance		
Rice paddies	PLAND.rice	Percentage of	%	Percentage of landscape covered by rice paddies
		landscape		
Anthropogenic land use	PLAND-ant	Percentage of	%	Percentage of landscape covered by
		landscape		anthropogenic land use

Table 1Landscape variables describing the landscape structure of each sampling point for each land cover class.In bold, five non-collinear variables included in statistical analyses

2.4 Data Analysis

A Mantel test was performed to detect spatial autocorrelation between the linear distance (Euclidean distance matrix) of sampling points and waterbirds composition (Bray–Curtis dissimilarity matrix) in the study area (Legendre and Legendre 1998). To calculate the linear spatial distance, we build a matrix with coordinates in decimal degrees of latitude and longitude at each sampling point. The tests showed no significant spatial correlation (r = 0.15; p = 0.156). This analysis was made in R (R Core Team 2018) using vegan version 2.5-1 (Oksanen et al. 2018).

We tested the relationship between waterbird community's variables [species richness, waterbird abundance and Shannon diversity index] and landscape variables (Table 1) in three steps. First, we selected only landscape variables that were weakly correlated with any other using Pearson's correlation (r < 0.6, Table S1) and indicating no collinearity through variance inflation factor (VIF < 3; Kutner et al. 2004). As a result, we selected only five landscape variables as predictors for further analyses: mean patch area of lagoons, salt marshes and rivers percentage of landscape covered by lagoons, salt marshes and rivers, mean patch area of mangroves, percentage of landscape covered by mangroves and percentage of landscape covered by mangroves and percentage of landscape variables (responses) and the five landscape variables (predictors) for each of the three spatial scales. Response variables were transformed to ensure normality (richness: root square-transformed; abundance and Shannon diversity index: log- transformed). Linear regression was made in R. The landscape variable at the spatial scale with the highest r^2 (Table S2) were further used in the next step of the analyses.

The third step was to build one generalized linear model (GLM) for each waterbird community variable to relate with landscape variables selected in the previous steps. All continuous predictors showed normal distributions, except AREMN-lag, which was logtransformed to achieve a normal distribution. In GLM, we used negative binomial error distribution (log link function) for richness and waterbird abundance data to control for overdispersion and Gaussian distribution for Shannon diversity index (Zuur et al. 2009). This procedure was made in R using MASS (Venables and Ripley 2002) and car packages (Fox and Weisberg 2011). We built single and multi-scale models based on the results of our second step of analyses (linear regressions). Single-scale models were those in which predictors variables belonged to the same spatial scale, while multi-scale refers to models containing landscape variables of distinct scales. We fitted a set of candidate models using the following combinations of predictor variables: a) each variable alone, (b) only variables of mangroves (AREMN-mang and PLAND-mang), c) only variables of lagoons, salt marshes and rivers (AREMN-lag and PLAND-lag, d) combination of two or three variables of mangroves and lagoons, salt marshes and rivers, g) all models including (PLAND-ant) as a covariate, and (d) an intercept-only model (null model) (88 candidate models in total, 22 models for each response variable; Table S3).

As we had multi-models to explain the response variables, we conducted a model selection procedure based on maximum likelihood, considering the Akaike's Information Criterion corrected for small number of observations (AICc; Burnham and Anderson 2002), using the R package AICcmodavg (Mazerolle 2010). Under this approach, the lower the AICc, the better the model fits the data. We also calculated the difference between AICc for a model *i* and the lowest observed AICc (i.e. Δ AICc). The relative ranking of models based on Δ AICc values also provides an estimate of each model's relative explanatory value.

Models with Δ AICc < 2 are equally plausible to explain the observed pattern as the best model (Burnham and Anderson 2002). We also calculated the Akaike's information criterion weight (*w*_i), which expresses the relative contribution of the model *i* to explain the observed pattern and the evidence ratios (ER) between the best and a second models (ratio of *w* of one model against the other, Burnham et al. 2011). When Akaike weights of the most plausible model was lower than 0.80, we used model averaging to draw inferences about the importance of predictors in the most plausible models. With this purpose, we calculated weighted averages of estimates for predictors across all the models using model probabilities as weight, the unconditional standard errors and 95 % unconditional confidence intervals (CI) of each predictor (Burnham and Anderson 2002). Predictors with CI that did not include the 0 value were considered as having an influence on the response variable. The final scale of effect was considered as the scale at which the predictors had an influence on the response variables.

We performed redundancy analyses (RDA) to test the relationships among waterbirds composition and the five landscape variables used in GLMs at each spatial scale (Legendre and Legendre 1998). A significance value for the overall RDA solution was determined by ANOVA (Analysis of Variance) for each spatial scale. Before the analysis, the five landscape variables were standardized, and waterbird composition data was log (x+1) transformed. This procedure was made in R using the vegan package (version 2.5-1; Oksanen et al. 2018). All statistical analyses were conducted in R software environment version 3.4.4 (R Core Team 2018).

3. Results

3.1 Characterization of the waterbird community structure

In total, we recorded 65 waterbird species during the study, belonging to 45 genera and 21 families (Table S4). Species richness per sampling plot ranged from 15 to 38. The most frequently represented families were Scolopacidae and Ardeidae, with 14 and nine species, respectively. A total of 24,432 waterbirds were observed. Most species (86.2 %, 56 species) were considered common birds, while the others were rare (eight species) and one species (Willson's Phalarope *Phalaropus tricolor;* nine individuals in Guanimar, Artemisa province) was classified as accidental. Among observed birds, 80 % (52 species) were migrants, 24 of which were bimodal and 20 % (13 species) were permanent residents. The most frequently observed birds were Double-crested Cormorant *Phalacrocorax auritus* (92.9 %), Laughing Gul *Leucophaeus atricilla* (78.9 %) and four species of egrets and herons (Great Blue Heron *Ardea herodias*, Great Egret *Ardea alba*, Snowy Egret *Egretta thula* and Little Blue Heron *Egretta caerulea*), with 78 to 85 % of occurrences (Table S4). Blue-winged Teal *Spatula discors* was the most abundant species followed by Double-crested Cormorant, American Flamingo *Phoenicopterus ruber*, Snowy Egret *Egretta thula* and Least Sandpiper *Calidris minutilla*.

3.2 Landscape configuration correlates with waterbirds community structure

3.2.1 AICc model selection

Species richness was not related to any variable, as shown by model selection uncertainty (best model, $w_i = 0.193$) (Table 2), with the null model being the best although showing low

probability in comparison to the second model (ER = 1.16). Considering all landscape variables, model-averaged estimates were low and with broad confidence intervals (Table 3).

Four models of waterbird abundance had the best fits ($\Delta AICc < 2$, Table 2). The first most plausible model had low probability ($w_i = 0.212$) and low strength of evidence in comparison with the two other best models (ER = 1.25 and 2.27, respectively). Considering all these models, two variables had the strength of evidence to predict waterbird abundance: mean patch area of mangroves at 6 km spatial scale ($\beta_{AREMN.mang6} = -0.770 \pm 0.338$, CI = - 1.433, -0.107) and percentage of landscape covered by lagoons, salt marshes and rivers at 2 km spatial scale ($\beta_{PLAND.lag2} = 0.814 \pm 0.107$, CI = 0.078, 1.550). These results indicate that waterbird abundance increases in areas with smaller mangrove patches, at 6 km spatial scale and larger percentage of lagoons, salt marshes and rivers at 2 km spatial scale.

Response variable	Models	Κ	AICc	ΔAICc	wi
Richness	~1	2	107.71	0	0.192
	scale(PLAND.lag2)	3	108.02	0.30	0.165
	scale(AREMN.mang6)	3	108.13	0.41	0.156
	scale(PLAND.mang4)	3	109.42	1.70	0.082
	<pre>scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)</pre>	4	109.77	2.05	0.069
	scale(log(AREMN.lag6)	3	110.27	2.55	0.053
	scale(PLAND.ant4)	3	110.56	2.85	0.046
	<pre>scale(PLAND.mang4)+scale(PLAND.lag2)</pre>	4	110.97	3.25	0.037
	<pre>scale(log(AREMN.lag6))+scale(AREMN.mang6)</pre>	4	111.09	3.37	0.035
	<pre>scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4)</pre>	5	111.14	3.42	0.034
Abundance	scale(PLAND.lag2)	3	237.54	0.00	0.212
	scale(log(AREMN.lag2)	3	238.00	0.46	0.169
	<pre>scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.lag2)</pre>	5	239.19	1.65	0.093
	<pre>scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(PLAND.lag2)</pre>	4	239.26	1.72	0.090
	~1	2	239.64	2.10	0.074
	<pre>scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)</pre>	4	240.06	2.52	0.060
	<pre>scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)</pre>	4	240.23	2.69	0.055
	scale(AREMN.mang6)	3	240.92	3.38	0.039
	<pre>scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4)</pre>	5	240.94	3.40	0.039
	<pre>scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2)</pre>	4	241.10	3.55	0.036
	<pre>scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))</pre>	4	241.14	3.59	0.035
Η'	scale(PLAND.mang4)	3	16.92	0.00	0.510
	<pre>scale(PLAND.mang4)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))</pre>	4	20.37	3.45	0.091
	scale(PLAND.mang4)+scale(AREMN.mang4)	4	20.58	3.66	0.082

Table 2Model selection for landscape metrics in relation to richness, abundance, and Shannon diversity index (H') atspatial multiscale, on the southwestern coast of Cuba, in fall migration season of 2016. Models with $\Delta AICc < 4$ are omitted

K: number of parameters, AICc: second-order Akaike's information criteria, wi: Akaike's weight

Response variable	Predictor variables	Model- averaged estimate	Unconditional SE	95% Unconditional confidence interval
Richness	PLAND.mang4	-0.121	0.112	-0.34, 0.09
	AREMN.mang6	-0.200	0.112	-0.42, 0.02
	PLAND.lag2	0.160	0.099	-0.03, 0.35
	AREMN.lag4	0.073	0.115	-0.15, 0.29
	PLAND.ant4	0.150	0.123	-0.09, 0.39
Abundance	PLAND.mang2	0.603	0.450	-0.27, 1.48
	AREMN.mang6	-0.77	0.338	-1.43, -0.10
	PLAND.lag2	0.814	0.375	0.07, 1.55
	AREMN.lag2	0.688	0.385	-0.06, 1.44
	PLAND.ant4	0.458	0.376	-0.27, 1.19
Н'	PLAND.mang4	-0.301	0.104	-0.50, -0.09
	AREMN.mang4	0.039	0.143	-0.24, 0.32
	PLAND.lag6	-0.014	0.124	-0.25, 0.22
	AREMN.lag2	-0.081	0.113	-0.30, 0.14
	PLAND.ant6	-0.178	0.115	-0.40, 0.04

Table 3 Result of model averaging for landscape metrics related to richness, abundance and Shannon diversity index (H') at spatial multiscale on the southwestern coast of Cuba, in fall migration season of 2016. In bold are predictor variables with an influence in each response variable. For abbreviations of landscape variables see Table 1

The first model of waterbird Shannon diversity index showed a higher probability (w_i = 0.510) and strength of evidence in comparison to the second and third models (ER = 5.60 and 6.21; Table 2). The percentage of landscape covered by mangroves at 4 km spatial scale had a negative effect on the waterbird diversity ($\beta_{PLAND.mang4} = -0.301 \pm 0.104$, CI = -0.506, -0.096) (Table 3). Percentage of landscape covered by anthropogenic land use did not predict richness, abundance, waterbird composition and Shannon diversity.

3.2.2 RDA Analysis

RDA analysis for the correlation between landscape variables and waterbird composition were not significant at the spatial scale of 6 and 4 km (F= 1.363, p = 0.113; F= 1.473, p =0.059; respectively). At the smaller spatial scale (2 km), RDA analyzed was significant (F =1.507, p = 0.044), in which the landscape variable explained 48.5 % of the total waterbird community composition variation. Results showed that percentage and mean area covered by lagoons, salt marshes and rivers at 2 km (PLAND.lag2 and AREMN.lag2, respectively) had the highest positive correlation with the waterbird composition score of the first RDA axis (Fig. 2, Table 4). The second RDA axis was determined primarily by the positive correlation of percentage of landscape covered by mangroves at 2 km (PLAND.mang2). These results indicate that areas with larger percentage and patches of lagoons, salt marches and rivers, and larger percentage of mangroves at 2 km spatial scale influence the variation of waterbird community composition. Based on RDA results at 2 km, we found a separation of the species within the waterbird community (Fig. 2). In this way, shorebirds Calidris, the waterfowl Blue-winged Teal Spatula discor and the Reddish Egret Egretta rufescens (sp21, sp23, sp2 and sp53 respectively; Fig. 2) tended to be more abundant in areas with large percentage of lagoons, salt marshes and rivers (PLAND.lag2) and large patches of lagoons, salt marshes and rivers (AREMN.lag2).



Fig. 2 Ordination biplot of the first two axes of RDA (RDA1 and RDA2) of waterbird composition constrained by landscape variables (in blue) at 2 km spatial scale, in western coast of Cuba, in 2016 fall migration season. Sampling areas are indicated in black and waterbird species in red. For abbreviations of landscape variables see Table 4

		Waterbird	d composition
Code	Variables description	RDA1	RDA2
PLAND.mang2	Percentage of landscape	-0.05	0.61
	covered by mangroves		
AREMN.mang2	Mean area of all mangrove's	-0.33	0.42
	patches in the landscape		
PLAND.lag2	Percentage of landscape	0.95	-0.16
	covered by lagoons, salt		
	marshes and rivers		
AREMN.lag2	Mean area of all lagoons, salt	0.83	0.08
	marshes and rivers patches in		
	the landscape		
PLAND.ant2	Percentage of landscape	-0.03	-0.57
	covered by anthropogenic		
	land use		

Table 4Correlation between landscape variables at 2 km spatial scale and the firsttwo RDA axes of waterbird composition scores

4. Discussion

This study shows that the landscape context of coastal wetlands influence waterbird abundance, species composition and diversity. The effects of landscape variables varied according to the spatial scale and the sensitivity of the waterbird community descriptor. Our results show that variations in the scale at which the landscape structure of coastal wetland is measured is a key factor to predict abundance, waterbird composition and diversity.

The positive influence of percentage of landscape covered by lagoons, salt marshes and rivers on waterbird abundance emphasize the importance of this environmental factor in determining habitat use by these species (Froneman et al. 2001; Sebastian-Gonzalez et al. 2010; Chacon de la Cruz et al. 2017; Kleyheeg et al. 2017; Herbert et al. 2018). We found this relationship only at the smallest measured scale (2 km), suggesting that a greater abundance of birds is conditioned by a greater coverage of lagoons, salt marshes and rivers at a local level. We highlight that this study was conducted during the fall migration season, a period with the highest abundance and density of birds in wetlands in the southern coast of Cuba (Aguilar et al. 2019), and consequently an increased food demand. Waterbirds depend on wetlands (Ramsar 2010) for foraging, and lagoons, salt marshes and rivers offers a great diversity of trophic resources (seeds and aquatic plants, aquatic invertebrates and vertebrates, like fishes and frogs) (Ma et al. 2010). According to predictions of Miguel et al. (2015), the scale of effect is smaller for landscape variables that most strongly influence foraging success than for landscape variables that most strongly influence dispersal success. Landscape variables that most strongly affect foraging habitat should have smaller scales of effect because foraging success mainly depend on interactions between individuals and the environment within their home range (i.e. during daily movements).

On the other hand, the mean patch area of mangroves had a negative influence on waterbird abundance at a broader scale (6 km), meaning that smaller fragments of mangrove on a wider scale, along with higher percentage of lagoons, salt marches and rivers at local scale (2 km), will favor a higher number of individuals. Smaller fragments of mangrove, naturally, favor the existence of a larger open water coverage. Waterbirds congregate in large groups for feeding in fall migration, demanding larger lagoons, and therefore smaller mangrove fragments, surrounding lagoons and interspersed among them are an indication of

90

optimal environment conditions for these birds. Waterbird abundance was the only response variable related to a landscape variable within the larger scale of 6 km. This result could be explained because a high number of individuals will need to disperse and explore other habitats on a larger scale, or to use them as roosts for resting, as is the case of small fragments of mangroves. While the metrics related to open water have been widely used to measure the influence of landscape context on waterbird richness and abundance, few studies considered mangroves to measure landscape wetland configuration and their effect on waterbirds. Mangrove habitats' potential to support waterbirds is poorly understood globally (Sandilyan and Kathiresan 2015).

Several waterbirds, resident species (e.g. herons, egrets and ibis) usually use mangrove areas during the reproductive season for nesting, often in large colonies (Mugica et al. 2006). However, during our study season, which was not in the reproductive season, their dependence on mangrove areas are expected to be smaller. Alternatively, waterbirds may need smaller patches of mangroves, even if isolated from the feeding areas, mainly for resting and protection against predators. In addition, mangrove patches on a wider scale of 6 km may be a source of food for waterbirds feeding in interior lagoons, due to their high productivity (Mugica et al. 2006). Fallen mangrove leaves incorporate organic matter between their roots, increasing biomass into trophic chains. This helps lagoons, surrounded and interspersed with mangroves fragments, to have a constant and reliable source of food (e.g. fish and aquatic invertebrates) for these waterbirds (Mugica et al. 2006; Hagy and Kaminsky 2012). Smaller mangrove areas also allow more space for more open water, offering a greater amount and potentially greater diversity of feeding resources for waterbirds wich may reduce interference competition (van Dijk et al. 2012). A balance between these two habitats is thus necessary for the survival of waterbirds in these tropical coastal wetlands. The negative effect of percentage of landscape covered by mangroves on waterbird diversity index can also be explained by the role of mangroves as a habitat resource for waterbirds during the migratory period. However, in this case, this response variable was sensitive at a 4 km scale. This result makes sense because this index considers the number of species present in the area (species richness), and the relative number of individuals of each species (abundance) (Magurran 1988). As it is influenced by two variables with different sensitivity, the scale at which it has an effect could tend to be the mean between the scales of effect of both variables.

Waterbird richness was not influenced by any landscape metric at any spatial scale we evaluated, even though that contradicts previous studies in wetlands (Fairbairn and Dinsmore 2001; Webb et al. 2010). Waterbirds usually gather in close aggregations for foraging following abundant moving resources (e.g., fish populations), even though this behavior is not common when resources are stationary, and prey are not abundant, so they disperse to forage (Goodale et al. 2017). However, the same species may be present in both situations, so abundance may change in response to the moving prey abundance, but not the species richness. It seems that in many cases, just the presence of a few prey items in an area may attract a number of different waterbird species.

Waterbird composition was positively related to the percentage of landscape covered by lagoons and mangroves at the smaller spatial scale (2 km). This result may be given by different requirements of waterbird species in relation to these two resources. For example, areas with larger mangrove coverage may present less congregator species that use mangroves for resting and shelter, while in areas with more open water and reduced mangrove they will be more propitious for congregating species, such as waterfowls (Beatty et al. 2014; Herbert et al. 2018) and shorebirds (Webb et al. 2010). Some not congregating

species, as Reddish Egret, also need large open water to foraging displays (Del Hoyo et al. 1992).

The degree of anthropogenic land use did not influence species richness, abundance, waterbirds composition and waterbird diversity on any spatial scale. However, we emphasize some important considerations regarding this result. First, our sampling points presented only 0.04 to 40% of anthropic areas in the largest scale (6 km), such that half of them have less than 15% of impacted areas by humans. Second, anthropic areas in our study include environments which were probably not repelling waterbirds in the long-term. One of the most impacted areas in our study site include the South dike, built 40 years ago in south Artemisa province (Menendez et al. 2006), which initially caused the death of natural mangroves and their replacement by swamp grasslands. Since then, an alternative lagoon system has taken place, allowing several waterfowl species to congregate during the migratory period. Therefore, along the time, both vegetation and bird communities in restored wetlands became similar to those of natural wetlands (Galatowitsch and van der Valk 1996; VanRees-Siewert and Dinsmore 1996). On the other hand, in highly impacted sampling points, land is used mainly for crops (29 to 93%) and pastures, scrub and secondary forests (29 to 100%), a typical rural anthropic use. Also, these lands are located towards the northern end of the sampling points, farthest from the coast (Fig. 1).

Since anthropic use in the study region is mainly rural, with minor urbanization, industrialization or tourist development, we conclude it does not exert an important pressure on waterbird community, at the scales evaluated. However, we advocate that if anthropic impacts increase, degrading and reducing lagoons, salt marshes and rivers, which affect waterbird communities, as supported in this study, we predict negative consequences to the coastal fauna. In addition, the impact of human disturbances may be low because some

waterbird species are tolerant to human disturbance (Burton et al. 2002). Our results do not mean an increase in anthropic activity has no negative effect upon birds, but that the current human land use, considering spatial scales from 2 to 6 km in the south coast of Cuba, provides little impact. Several other studies showed that human activities directly or indirectly influence waterbird habitat selection and abundance in wetlands (Madsen and Fox 1995; Lepczyk et al. 2008; de Boer et al. 2011; Fox and Madsen 2017).

4.1 Conservation implications

Wetland management aiming preserving habitats for waterbirds must be based on specific knowledge of regional bird communities (Ma et al. 2010). We suggest that to protect waterbird diversity in coastal wetlands of western Cuba, especially during fall migration season, it is essential to implement management plans at the local and regional level for conserving and recovering a heterogeneous landscape at different spatial scales. As we showed here, larger open waters favor increasing waterbird abundance during migration congregation, while mangroves may provide resting and shelter. Thus, conservation strategies for nomadic wildlife, such as these waterbirds, require both classical models of conventional reserves and the establishment of protected areas networks (Margules and Pressey 2000). Waterbird requirements extrapolate local scales since they demand a complex of wetland landscape, then conservation value of individual wetlands cannot be measured in isolation from the wetlands mosaic in which they are inserted (Roshier et al. 2002).

The management of habitat resources for waterbird should consider the scale at which the different descriptors of the community are sensitive. We found a greater influence of landscape variables on waterbird community at 2 km, which is the spatial scale that should receive a greater attention to habitat management. However, on the 4 and 6 km scales there was also some effect of the landscape configuration. In this way, the protection of patch mangrove at 6 km spatial scale is very important to keep waterbird abundance. We recommend that boundaries of protected areas should be based on the results of these scales of effect, both for new areas and for the re-analysis of the limits of existing reserves. Even if our study area includes non-protected areas, biodiversity protection laws, such as the Cuban coast law, for example, must be adequately implemented in order to protect lagoons and salt marshes and mangroves. The protected areas of the study region should follow similar management protocols for these coastal wetland habitats suitable or waterbird, respecting the suggested scales of effect. This work could be relevant, not only for waterbird management and conservation of waterbird in Cuba, but also at the Caribbean region.

5. Acknowledgments

We thank to National Center of Protected Areas (CNAP) from Ministry of Technology and Environmental of Cuba, to Forestgard body of Cuba (Forestgard station El Cajio) and protected areas of National Enterprise for Protection of Flora and Fauna of Cuba (San Ubaldo Sabanalamar, Golfo de Batabano and Sureste del Ingles Faunal Refuges) for supporting this study. We gratefully acknowledged to R. Gomes for help in fieldwork, and I. Galarda Varassin and A. Padial for their comments and statistical suggestions. We are grateful to D. Green for suggestions and English revision of this manuscript. S. Aguilar thanks to CNPq (Brazilian National Council for Scientific and Technological Development) for PhD. scholarship.

6. References

- Acosta M, Morales J, González M, Mugica L (1992) Dinámica de la comunidad de aves de la playa La Tinaja, Ciego de Ávila, Cuba. Ciencias Biológicas 24:44-56
- Acosta M, Mugica L (2013) Ecología de las aves acuáticas en las arroceras de Cuba. Editorial Científico-Técnica, La Habana, Cuba
- Aguilar S (ed) (2010) Áreas Importantes para la Conservación de las Aves en Cuba. Editorial Academia, La Habana, Cuba
- Aguilar S, Manica L T, Acosta M, Castro R, Hernández Z, González A, López M, Mugica L (2019) Spatiotemporal patterns of waterbird assemblages in Cuba's south coast wetlands: conservation implications. Wetlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13157-019-01178-3
- Amira N, Rinalfi T, Azhar B (2018) Effects of intensive rice production practices on avian biodiversity in Southeast Asian managed wetlands. Wetlands Ecol Manage 26:865–877. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11273-018-9614-y
- Beatty WS, Webb EB, Kesler DC, Raedeke AH, Naylor LW, Humburg DD (2014) Landscape effects on mallard habitat selection at multiple spatial scales during the non-breeding period. Landscape Ecology 29:989–1000. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10980-014-0035-x
- Bellamy C, Scott C, Altringham J (2013) Multiscale, presence only habitat suitability models: fineresolution maps for eight bat species. J Appl Ecol 50:892–901. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.12117
- Bennet AF (2004) Enlazando el paisaje: El papel de los corredores y la conectividad en la conservación de la vida silvestre. UICN-Unión Mundial para la Naturaleza, San José, Costa Rica
- Bibby C, Burgess N, Hill D, Mustoe S (2000) Bird Census Techniques, 2nd edn. Academic Press biological response. Methods in Ecology and Evolution, British Ecological Society, pp 1-8
- Blanco P, Vilella FJ, Sánchez B (2014) Waterfowl in Cuba: current status and distribution. Wildfowl Special Issue 4:498-511. https://wildfowl.wwt.org.uk/index.php/wildfowl/article/view/2618/1734. Accessed 3 Aug 2019
- Boscolo D, Metzger JP (2009) Is bird incidence in Atlantic forest fragments influenced by landscape patterns at multiple scales? Landscape Ecology 24:907–918. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10980-009-9370-8
- Brandolin PG, Blendinger PG (2016) Effect of habitat and landscape structure on waterbird abundance in wetlands of central Argentina. Wetlands Ecological Manage 24:93–105 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11273-015-9454-y
- Burnham KP, Anderson DR (2002) Model selection and multimodel inference. A practical information theoretical approach. Springer, New York
- Burnham KP, Anderson DR, Huyvaert KP (2011) AIC model selection and multimodel inference in behavioral ecology: some background, observations, and comparisons. Behav Ecol Sociobiol 65:23– 35. DOI 10.1007/s00265-010-1029-6

- Burton NHK, Armitage MJS, Musgrove AJ, Rehfisch MM (2002) Impacts of man-made landscape features on numbers of estuarine waterbirds at low tide. Environ Manage 30:857–864. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-002-2732-5
- Butler RW (1992) The Birds of North America: Great Blue Heron (Ardea Herodias). No. 25
- Chacon de la Cruz JE, Pompa M, Trevino EJ, Martínez JH, Aguirre CA, Pereda ME (2017) La abundancia de aves acuáticas (Anseriformes) en relación con la complejidad del paisaje en un sitio Ramsar de México. Acta Zoológica Mexicana 33(2). http://www.scielo.org.mx/scielo.php?pid=S0065-17372017000200199&script=sci_arttext. Accessed 4 Aug 2019
- Chan SF, Severinghaus LL, Lee CK (2007) The effect of rice field fragmentation on wintering waterbirds at the landscape level. Journal of Ornithology 148 (Suppl 2): S333–S342 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10336-007-0244-z
- Chesser RT, Burns KJ, Cicero C, Dunn JL, Kratter AW, Lovette IJ, Rasmussen PC, Remsen JV, Stotz DF, Winger BM, Winker K (2018) Check-list of North American Birds (online). American Ornithological Society. http://checklist.aou.org/taxa. Accessed 21 Sep 2018
- CNAP Centro Nacional de Áreas Protegidas (2013) Plan del Sistema Nacional de Áreas Protegidas 2014-2020. Ministerio de Ciencias Tecnología y Medio Ambiente, La Habana, Cuba. http://www.snap.cu/. Accessed 5 April 2019
- Cumming GS, Paxton M, King J, Beuster H (2012) Foraging guild membership explains variation in waterbird responses to the hydrological regime of an arid-region flood-pulse river in Namibia. Freshwater Biology 57(6):1202-1213. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2012.02789.x
- de Boer WF, Cao L, Barter M, Wang X, Sun M, van Oeveren H, de Leeuw J, Barzen J et al (2011) Comparing the community composition of European and eastern Chinese waterbirds and the influence of human factors on the China waterbird community. Ambio 40: 68–77. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-010-0088-2
- Del Hoyo J, Elliott A, Sargatal J (eds.) (1992) Handbook of the Birds of the World Vol.1 Lynx Editions, Barcelona
- Ducci L, Agnelli P, Febbraro MD, Frate L, Russo D, Loy A, Carranza LC, Santini G, Roscioni F (2015) Different bat guilds perceive their habitat in different ways: a multiscale landscape approach for variable selection in species distribution modelling. Landscape Ecology 30:2147–2159. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-015-0237-x
- Ekroos J, Kuussaari M (2012) Landscape context affects the relationship between local and landscape species richness of butterflies in seminatural habitats. Ecography 35(3):232–238. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.2011.07005.x
- Elphick CS (2008) Landscape effects on waterbird densities in California rice fields: taxonomic differences, scale-dependence, and conservation implications. Waterbirds 31:62–69. http://www.jstor.org/stable/25148296. Accessed 9 Feb 2019
- Estrada R, Martín G, Martínez P, Rodríguez SV, Capote RP, Reyes, I, Galano S, Cabrera C, Martínez C, Mateo L, Guerra Y, Batte A, Coya L (2013) Mapa (BD-SIG) de vegetación natural y seminatural de Cuba v.1 sobre Landsat ETM 7 SLC-off gap filled, circa 2011. IV Congreso sobre Manejo de

Ecosistemas y Biodiversidad. URI. http://repositorio.geotech.cu/jspui/handle/1234/597. Accessed 20 Jan 2019

- Fairbairn SE, Dinsmore JJ (2001) Local and landscape-level influences on wetland bird communities of the prairie pothole region of Iowa, USA. Wetlands 21:41–47. https://doi.org/10.1672/0277-5212(2001)021[0041:LALLIO]2.0.CO;2
- Finlayson CM, Davies GT, Moomaw WR, Chmura GL, Natali SM, Perry JE, Roulet N, Sutton-Grier AE (2019) The Second Warning to Humanity – Providing a Context for Wetland Management and Policy. Wetlands 39:1–5. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13157-018-1064-z
- Fox AD, Madsen J (2017) Threatened species to superabundance: The unexpected international implications of successful goose conservation. Ambio 46: 179–187. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-016-0878-2
- Fox J, Weisberg S (2011) An {R} Companion to Applied Regression, Second Edition. Thousand Oaks CA: Sage. URL:http://socserv.socsci.mcmaster.ca/jfox/Books/Companion
- Froneman A, Mangnall MJ, Little RM, Crowe TM (2001) Waterbird assemblages and associated habitat characteristics of farm ponds in the Western Cape, South Africa. Biodiversity Conservation 10:251– 270. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1008904421948
- Galatowitsch SM, van der Valk AG (1996) Characteristics of recently restored wetlands in the Prairie Pothole Region. Wetlands 16:75–83. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03160647
- Garrido O, Kirkconnell A (2010) Aves de Cuba. Cornell University Press, New York
- Geocuba Agencia de Teledetección y Cartografía Temática (2012) Mapa de Cobertura Forestal de Cuba, Empresa Geocuba, La Habana, Cuba
- González A, Acosta M, Mugica L, Jiménez A, García-Lau I (2016a) Variación temporal del ensamble de aves acuáticas de Las Salinas, Ciénaga de Zapata, Cuba, durante el periodo 2012-2013. Revista Cubana de Ciencias Biológicas 5(1):71-81. http://www.rccb.uh.cu/index.php/RCCB/article/view/132/250. Accessed 10 May 2019
- González A, Aguilar S, Mugica L, Acosta M, Pérez A, de la Cruz JM, Hernández Z, Castro R, Navarro D, Inguanzo R, Rodríguez A, Labrada O, López M (2018) The Ardeid Assemblages in the South Coastal Wetlands of Cuba. Journal of Heron Biology and Conservation 3:3 [online]. URL: http://www.HeronConservation.org/JHBC/vol03/art03/. Accessed 10 July 2018
- González A, Jiménez A, Mugica L, Acosta M, García-Lau I et al (2016b) Current Status of Reddish Egret (*Egretta rufescens*) in Cuba. Waterbirds 39(1): 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1675/063.039.0102
- Goodale E, Beauchamp G, Ruxton GD (2017) Mixed-species groups of animals. Behavior, community structure and conservation. Academic Press. Elsevier INC
- Google Maps (2019) Satellite image of Google maps of western Cuba. https://www.google.com/maps/place/Cuba/22.683042,82.2950172,19z/data=!3m1!1e3!4m2!3m1!1s 0x88cd49070f7a4cd5:0x798cf759110a41a. Accessed 12 Feb 2019
- Gower JC (1966) A Q-Technique for the Calculation of Canonical Variates. Biometrika 53 (3): 588-590. https://www.jstor.org/stable/2333664?seq=1#metadata_info_tab_contents. Accessed 13 Jun 2019

- Guadagnin DL, Maltchik L (2007) Habitat and landscape factors associated with neotropical waterbird occurrence and richness in wetland fragments. Biodiversity Conservation 16:1231–1244. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-6320-6 27
- Haig SM, Mehlman DW, Oring LW (1998) Avian movements and wetland connectivity in landscape conservation. Conservation Biology 12:749–758. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.1998.97102.x
- Hagy HM, Kaminski RM (2012) Winter Waterbird and Food Dynamics in Autumn-Managed Moist-Soil Wetlands in the Mississippi Alluvial Valley. Wildlife Society Bulletin 36(3):512–523. https://doi.org/10.1002/wsb.165
- Henry DAW, Cumming GS (2017) Can waterbirds with different movement, dietary and foraging functional traits occupy similar ecological niches? Landscape Ecology 32:265–278. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10980-016-0449-8
- Herbert JA, Chakraborty A, Naylor LW, Beatty WS, Krementz DG (2018) Effects of landscape structure and temporal habitat dynamics on wintering mallard abundance. Landscape Ecology 33:1319–1334. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-018-0671-7
- Hsu CH, Chou JY, Fang WT (2019) Habitat Selection of Wintering Birdsin Farm Ponds in Taoyuan, Taiwan. Landscape Ecology 17:569–586. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani9030113
- ICCACC (1989) Nuevo Atlas Nacional de Cuba. Instituto Geográfico Nacional de España, Gráficas Alber, España
- IPF Intituto de Planificación Física (2007) Mapa de Uso de la Tierra de Cuba, La Habana, Cuba
- Iturralde-Vinent M A, Serrano Méndez H (2015) Peligros y vulnerabilidades de la zona marino-costera de Cuba: estado actual y perspectivas ante el cambio climático hasta el 2100. Agencia de Medio Ambiente, CITMA. Editorial Academia, La Habana, Cuba
- Jackson HB, Fahrig L (2015) Are ecologists conducting research at the optimal scale? Glob Ecol Biogeogr 24: 52–63. https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.12233
- King S, Elphick CS, Guadagnin D, Taft O, Amano T (2010) Effects of Landscape Features on Waterbird Use of Rice Fields. Waterbirds 33 (Special Publication 1):151-159. https://doi.org/10.1675/063.033.s111
- Kleyheeg E, van Dijk JGB, Tsopoglou-Gkina D, Woud TY, Boonstra DK, Nolet BA, Soons M B (2017) Movement patterns of a keystone waterbird species are highly predictable from landscape configuration. Movement Ecology 5 (2). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40462-016-0092-7
- Knutson MG, Sauer JR, Olsen DA, Mossman MJ, Hemesath LM, Lannoo MJ (1999) Effects of landscape composition and wetland fragmentation on frog and toad abundance and species richness in Iowa and Wisconsin, USA. Conservation Biology 13(6):1437–1446. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1739.1999.98445.x
- Kushlan J, Bildstein KL (1992) The Birds of North America: White Ibis (Eudocimus albus). No. 9
- Kutner MH, Nachtsheim CJ, Neter J (2004) Applied Linear Regression Models. 4th Edn., McGraw Hill, New York, ISBN: 978-0256086010
- Legendre P, Legendre L (1998) Numerical ecology, 2nd English edn. Elsevier, Amsterdam

- León G (1996) Diagnóstico de la situación ambiental del humedal de la costa sur de La Habana. Informe presentado en el Seminario-Taller Nacional de Manglares 1997, La Habana, Cuba
- Lepczyk CA, CH Flather, VC Radeloff, AM Pidgeon, RB Hammer, Liu JG (2008) Human impacts on regional avian diversity and abundance. Conservation Biology 22: 405–416. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2008.00881.x
- Lindenmayer D, Hobbs RJ, Montague-Drake R, Alexandra J, Bennett A, Burgman M, Cale P, Calhoun A, Cramer V, Cullen P, Driscoll D, Fahrig L, Fischer J, Franklin J, Haila Y, Hunter M, Gibbons P, Lake S, Luck G, MacGregor C, McIntyre S, Nally RM, Manning A, Miller J, Mooney H, Noss R, Possingham H, Saunders D, Schmiegelow F, Scott M, Simberloff D, Sisk T, Tabor G, Walker B, Wiens J, Woinarski J, Zavaleta E (2008) A checklist for ecological management of landscapes for conservation. Ecological Letter 11:78–91. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2007.01114.x
- Ma Z, Cai Y, Li B, Chen J (2010) Managing wetland habitats for waterbirds: an international perspective. Wetlands 30(1): 15–27. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13157-009-0001-6
- Madsen J, Fox AD (1995) Impacts of hunting disturbance on the dynamics of waterbird populations—A review. Wildlife Biology 1: 195–207. https://doi.org/10.2981/wlb.1995.0025
- Magurran AE (1988) Ecological Diversity and its Measurement. Princeton University Press, Princeton, New Jersey
- Mander U, Uuemaa E (2010) Landscape assessment for sustainable planning. Ecol Ind 10 (1):1–3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2009.08.003
- Margules CR, Pressey RL (2000) Systematic conservation planning. Nature 405:243–253. https://doi.org/10.1038/35012251DO - 10
- Mateo J, Acevedo M (1989) Regionalización físico-geográfica, escala 1:3000 000. In: Nuevo Atlas de Cuba. ICGC, Gráficas Alber, España
- Mazerolle MJ, Desrochers A, Rochefort L (2005) Landscape characteristics influence pond occupancy by frogs after accounting for detectability 15 (3): 824-834 https://doi.org/10.1890/04-0502
- Mazerolle MJ (2010) AICcmodavg: model selection and multimodel inference based on (Q)AIC(c). R package version 1.25. https://www.rproject.org. Accessed 10 Feb 2019
- McGarigal K, Cushman SA, Ene E (2012) FRAGSTATS v4: Spatial Pattern Analysis Program for Categorical and Continuous Maps. Computer software program produced by the authors at the University of Massachusetts, Amherst. http://www.umass.edu/landeco/research/fragstats/fragstats.html. Accessed 12 Jan 2019
- Menéndez L, Guzmán JM (eds.) (2006) Ecosistema de Manglar en el Archipiélago cubano. Editorial Academia, La Habana, Cuba
- Menéndez L, Guzmán JM, Capote RT, Rodríguez LF, Gonzáles AV (2003) Situación ambiental de los manglares del archipiélago cubano. In: Memorias IV Convención Internacional sobre Medio Ambiente y Desarrollo, La Habana, pp 435-451
- Ministry of Agriculture (2015) Gaceta Oficial de la República de Cuba, Ministerio de Justicia, Resolución No. 976/2015. http://www.gacetaoficial.cu. Accessed 20 May 2019

- Mitrani I, Pérez R, García OF, Salas I, Juantorena Y (2000) Las penetraciones del mar en las costas de Cuba, las zonas más expuestas y su sensibilidad al cambio climático. INSMET, CITMA, La Habana, Cuba
- Moreno A, Salas I, Pérez R, García O, Mitrani I (1998) Desarrollo de las técnicas de predicción y las inundaciones costeras, prevención y reducción de su acción destructiva. Informe Técnico, PNUD, Defensa Civil, Editora del Instituto de Planificación Física, La Habana, Cuba
- Moudry V, Simova P (2012) Influence of positional accuracy, sample size and scale on modelling species distributions: a review. Int J Geogr Inf Syst 26:2083–2095. https://doi.org/10.1080/13658816.2012.721553
- Mugica L, Acosta M, Aguilar S (2014) Programa de aves acuáticas y marinas. In: Avila H (ed) Estado actual de la biodiversidad marino-costera en la región de los archipiélagos del sur de Cuba. Impresos Dominicanos s.r.l, pp 101-118
- Mugica L, Acosta M, Jiménez A, Morejón A, Medina J (2005) The american White Pelican (*Pelecanus erythrorhynchos*) Journal of Caribbean Ornithology 18:77-78
- Mugica L, Denis D, Acosta A (2002) Resultados preliminares de la encuesta sobre la Yaguasa (*Dendrocygna arborea*) en varias regiones de Cuba. El Pitirre 15 (2) 55-60. http://www.bu.edu/scscb/publications/Archives/Pitirre%2015(2)%202002.pdf#page=9. Accesses 25 April 2019
- Mugica L, Denis D, Acosta M (eds) (2006) Aves acuáticas en los humedales de Cuba. Editorial Científico-Técnica, La Habana, Cuba
- Naugle DE, Johnson RR, Estey ME, Higgins KF (2001) A landscape approach to conserving wetland bird habitat in the prairie pothole region of eastern South Dakota. Wetlands 21:1–17. https://doi.org/10.1672/0277-5212(2001)021[0001:ALATCW]2.0.CO;2
- Navarro N, Reyes E (2017) Annotated Checklist of the Birds of Cuba. Editorial Nuevos Mundos, St. Agustin, FL, No. 1
- Núñez A (1989) Regiones Naturales-Antrópicas, escala 1:3000 000. Sección XII Paisajes. In: Nuevo Atlas de Cuba. ICGC, Gráficas Alber, España
- Oksanen JF, Blanchet G, Friendly M, Kindt R, Legendre P, McGlinn D, Minchin PR, O'Hara RB, Simpson GL, Solymos PM, Stevens HH, Szoecs E, Wagner H (2018) vegan: Assemblages Ecology Package. R package version 2.5-1. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=vegan
- OpenStreetMap (2019) OpenStreetMap shape files for Cuba. http://download.geofabrik.de/centralamerica/cuba.html. Accessed 10 Feb 2019
- Paradis E, Schliep K (2018) ape 5.0: an environment for modern phylogenetics and evolutionary analyses in R. Bioinformatics 35: 526-528. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/bty633
- Pearce JL, Boyce MS (2006) Modelling distribution and abundance with presence-only data. J Appl Ecol 43:405–412. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2005.01112.x
- Pérez-García JM, Sebastián-González E, Alexander KL, Sánchez-Zapata JA, Botella F (2014) Effect of landscape configuration and habitat quality on the community structure of waterbirds using a manmade habitat. Eur J Wildl Res 60:875–883. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10344-014-0854-8

- Prugh LR, Hodges KE, Sinclair ARE, Brashares JS (2008) Effect of habitat area and isolation on fragmented animal populations. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:20770–20775. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0806080105
- Ramsar Convention Secretariat (2010) Designating Ramsar Sites: Strategic Framework and guidelines for the future development of the List of Wetlands of International Importance, Ramsar handbooks for the wise use of wetlands, 4th edition, vol. 17. Ramsar Convention Secretariat, Gland, Switzerland
- Ramsar Convention Secretariat (2011) Wetland ecosystem services. Reservoirs of biodiversity. https://www.ramsar.org/sites/default/files/documents/library/services_06_e.pdf. Accessed 2 Feb 2019
- Ranganathan J, Krishnaswamy J, Anand MO (2010) Landscape-level effects on avifauna within tropical agriculture in the Western Ghats: insights for management and conservation. Biological Conservation 143(12):2909–2917. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2010.04.018
- Riffell SK, Keas BE, Burton TM (2001) Area and habitat relationships of birds in Great Lakes coastal wet meadows. Wetlands 21:492–507. https://doi.org/10.1672/0277-5212(2001)021[0492:AAHROB]2.0.CO;2
- Roshier DA, Robertson AI, Kingsford RT (2002) Responses of waterbirds to flooding in an arid region of Australia and implications for conservation. Biological Conservation 106:399–411. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3207(01)00268-3
- Sánchez MC, Cushman SA, Saura S (2013) Scale dependence in habitat selection: the case of the endangered brown bear (*Ursus arctos*) in the Cantabrian Range (NW Spain). Int J Geogr Inf Sci 28(8):1–16. https://doi.org/10.1080/13658816.2013.776684
- Sandilyan S, Kathiresan K (2015) Density of waterbirds in relation to habitats of Pichavaram mangroves, Southern India. Journal of Coastal Conservation 19:131–139. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s11852-015-0376-x
- Sebastian-González E, Sánchez-Zapata JA, Botella F (2010) Agricultural ponds as alternative habitat for waterbirds: Spatial and temporal patterns of abundance and management strategies. European Journal of Wildlife Research 56: 11–20. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10344-009-0288-x
- Shirk AJ (2012) Scale dependency of American marten (*Martes americana*) habitat relationships. Biology and conservation of martens, sables, and fishers: a new synthesis. Cornell University Press, Ithaca
- Taft OW, Haig SM (2006) Importance of wetland landscape structure to shorebirds wintering in an agricultural valley. Landscape Ecology 21:169–184. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-005-0146-5
- Thornton DH, Branch LC, Sunquist ME (2011) The influence of landscape, patch, and within-patch factors on species presence and abundance: a review of focal patch studies. Landscape Ecology 26:7–18. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-010-9549-z
- Toral G, Aragone's D, Bustamante J, Figuerola J (2011) Using Landsat images to map habitat availability for waterbirds in rice fields. Ibis The international journal of avian science 153: 684–694. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1474-919X.2011.01147.x
- Turner MG (2005) Landscape ecology: what is the state of the science? Ann Rev Ecol Evol Syst 36:319–344. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.36.102003.152614

- Van Dijk JG, Duijns S, Gyimesi A, de Boer WF, Nolet BA (2012) Mallards feed longer to maintain intake rate under competition on a natural food distribution. Ethology 118: 169–177. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0310.2011.01994.x
- VanRees-Siewert KL, Dinsmore JJ (1996) Influence of wetland age on bird use of restored wetlands in Iowa. Wetlands 16 (4): 577–582. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03161348
- Vega R, Sardiñas E, Nieves ME, Centella A (1990) Análisis estadístico-climatológico del régimen de la velocidad máxima del viento en Cuba. Informe Final de Proyecto Científico, INSMET, CITMA, La Habana, Cuba
- Venables WN, Ripley BD (2002) Modern Applied Statistics with S, Fourth Edition. Springer, New York
- Wasserman TN, Cushman SA, Do W, Hayden J (2012) Multiscale habitat relationships of *Martes americana* in northern Idaho, USA. Research Paper RMRS-RP-94.. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station, Fort Collins, CO, U.S
- Webb E, Smith LM, Vrtiska MP, Lagrange TG (2010) Effects of Local and Landscape Variables on Wetland Bird Habitat Use During Migration Through the Rainwater Basin. Journal of Wildlife Management 74(1):109–119. https://doi.org/ 10.2193/2008-577
- Wiens JA (1989) Spatial scaling in ecology. Function Ecology 3:385–397. https://doi.org/ 10.2307/2389612
- Wiens JA (2002) Central concepts and issues of landscape ecology. In: Gutzwiller KJ (ed) Applying landscape ecology in biological conservation. Spinger-Verlag, New York, pp 3–21
- Williams PH, Margules CR, Wilbert DW (2002) Data requirements and data sources for biodiversity priority area selection. Journal of Bioscience 27:327–338. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02704963
- Xu Y, Si Y, Yin S, Zhang W, Grishchenko M, Prins H H T, Gong P, de Boer WF (2019) Species-dependent effects of habitat degradation in relation to seasonal distribution of migratory waterfowl in the East Asian–Australasian Flyway. Landscape Ecology 34:243–257. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-018-00767-7
- Zhang Y, Fox AD, Cao L, Jia Q, Lu Ch, Prins HHT, de Boer WF (2019) Effects of ecological and anthropogenic factors on waterbird abundance at a Ramsar Site in the Yangtze River Floodplain. Ambio 48:293–303. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-018-1076-1
- Zuur AG, Ieno EN, Walker NJ, Savaliev AA, Smith GM (2009) Mixed effects models and extensions in ecology with r. Springer, New York, USA

\mathcal{O}
ТС -
terials
÷.
a
B
tar
3
÷
lent
em
le
d
\mathcal{O}

Table S1	Pairwise Pearson correlation coefficient among 11 landscape variables. In bold are predictors and values with correlation > 0.6. Abbreviation of
landscape	variables used as columns and rows are defined in Table 1

	PLAND.mang	PLAND.mang AREMN.mang	PD.mang	ENNMN.mang PLAND.lag LPI.lag	PLAND.lag	LPI.lag	AREMN.lag	AREMN.lag SHAPEMN.lag NP.lag	NP.lag	PLAND.ant PLAND.rice	PLAND.rice
PLAND.mang	1										
AREMN.mang	0.43	1									
PD.mang	-0.17	-0.56	1								
ENNMN.mang	-0.48	0.01	-0.21	1							
PLAND.lag	-0.36	-0.29	0.72	0.20	1						
LPI.lag	-0.52	-0.21	0.38	0.48	0.89	1					
AREMN.lag	-0.48	-0.03	-0.13	0.68	0.52	0.83	1				
SHAPEMN.lag	-0.05	0.07	-0.28	0.36	0.24	0.50	0.67	1			
NP.lag	0.58	0.10	0.40	-0.44	0.30	0.05	-0.21	-0.17	1		
PLAND.ant	0.46	0.45	-0.38	-0.62	-0.47	-0.46	-0.38	0.04	0.19	1	
PLAND.rice	-0.25	0.14	-0.34	0.45	0.27	0.55	0.80	0.71	-0.32	0.26	1

Table S2 Results of linear regression (r^2) of response variables (richness,abundance and Shannon diversity index (H') in relation to five landscapemetrics at three spatial scales in the southwestern coast of Cuba. In boldare predictor variables with the major r^2 of the three spatial scale from eachresponse variable. For abbreviations of landscape variables see Table 1

Spatial scale	Response variable	Predictor variable	r ²
6 km	Richness (sqrt)	PLAND.mang6	0.055
		AREMN.mang6	0.182
		PLAND.lag6	0.087
		AREMN.lag6	0.052
		PLAND.ant6	0.001
4 km	Richness	PLAND.mang4	0.104
		AREMN.mang4	0.125
		PLAND.lag4	0.042
		AREMN.lag4	0.045
		PLAND.ant4	0.039
2 km	Richness	PLAND.mang2	0.063
		AREMN.mang2	0.043
		PLAND.lag2	0.227
		AREMN.lag2	0.051
		PLAND.ant2	0.018
6 km	Abundance	PLAND.mang6	0.001
		AREMN.mang6	0.119
		PLAND.lag6	0.188
		AREMN.lag6	0.127
		PLAND.ant6	0.005
4 km	Abundance	PLAND.mang4	0.001
		AREMN.mang4	0.051
		PLAND.lag4	0.193
		AREMN.lag4	0.003
		PLAND.ant4	0.062
2 km	Abundance	PLAND.mang2	0.004
		AREMN.mang2	0.061

		PLAND.lag2	0.371
		AREMN.lag2	0.203
		PLAND.ant2	0.006
6 km	Η'	PLAND.mang6	0.305
		AREMN.mang6	0.003
		PLAND.lag6	0.017
		AREMN.lag6	0.014
		PLAND.ant6	0.238
4 km	Η'	PLAND.mang4	0.430
		AREMN.mang4	0.063
		PLAND.lag4	0.009
		AREMN.lag4	0.034
		PLAND.ant4	0.149
2 km	Н	PLAND.mang2	0.331
		AREMN.mang2	0.019
		PLAND.lag2	0.001
		AREMN.lag2	0.054
		PLAND.ant2	0.021

$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Response varia	ble	Candidate models
3 scale(PLAND.mang4)+scale(AREMN.mang6) 4 scale(PLAND.mang4)+scale(AREMN.mang6) 5 scale(PLAND.mang4)+scale(QLAND.lag2) 6 scale(PLAND.mang4)+scale(QLAND.lag2) 7 scale(PLAND.mang4)+scale(QLAND.lag2) 8 scale(QLAREMN.lag6)+scale(QLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6) 8 scale(QGAREMN.lag6))+scale(QLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6) 10 scale(QGAREMN.lag6))+scale(QLAND.lag2)+scale(QLAND.mang4) 11 scale(PLAND.mang4)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.mang4) 12 scale(PLAND.mang4)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.mang4) 13 scale(PLAND.mang4)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.and4) 14 scale(PLAND.mang4)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.and4) 15 scale(PLAND.mang4) 16 scale(PLAND.mang4) 17 scale(PLAND.mang4) 18 scale(AREMN.lag6) 19 scale(PLAND.mang4) 12 scale(PLAND.mang4) 13 scale(PLAND.mang4) 14 scale(PLAND.mang4) 15 scale(PLAND.mang2) 20 scale(PLAND.mang2) 21 scale(PLAND.mang2) 22 -1 </td <td>Richness</td> <td></td> <td></td>	Richness		
6 scale(PLAND.marg4)+scale(log(AREMN.lag6)) 7 scale(log(AREMN.lag6))+scale(AREMN.marg6) 8 scale(log(AREMN.lag6))+scale(AREMN.marg) 9 scale(log(AREMN.lag6))+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(QLAND.marg4) 10 scale(PLAND.marg4)+scale(AREMN.marg6)+scale(QLAND.lag2) 11 scale(PLAND.marg4)+scale(AREMN.marg6)+scale(QLAND.lag2) 12 scale(PLAND.marg4)+scale(AREMN.marg6)+scale(PLAND.lag2) 13 scale(PLAND.marg4)+scale(AREMN.marg6)+scale(PLAND.lag2) 14 scale(PLAND.marg4)+scale(AREMN.lag6))+scale(PLAND.lag2) 15 scale(PLAND.marg4)+scale(AREMN.marg6)+scale(PLAND.ant4) 16 scale(PLAND.marg4) 18 scale(PLAND.marg4) 18 scale(PLAND.marg4) 18 scale(PLAND.lag2) 20 scale(PLAND.marg4) 21 scale(PLAND.marg4) 22 ~1 Abundance 1 1 scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2)) 2 scale(PLAND.marg2)+scale(AREMN.marg6) 3 scale(PLAND.marg2)+scale(AREMN.marg6) 4 scale(PLAND.marg2)+scale(AREMN.marg6) 5 scale(PLAND.marg2)+scale(AREMN.marg6)			
$\begin{tabular}{lllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$			
8 scale(log(AREMN.lag6))+scale(AREMN.mang) 9 scale(log(AREMN.lag6))+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(PLAND.mang4) 10 scale(PLAND.mang4)+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(PLAND.lag2) 11 scale(PLAND.mang4)+scale(AREMN.mang5)+scale(PLAND.lag2) 12 scale(PLAND.mang4)+scale(QAREMN.lag6)+scale(PLAND.lag2) 13 scale(PLAND.mang4)+scale(QaCAREMN.lag6)+scale(PLAND.man4) 14 scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang5)+scale(PLAND.man4) 15 scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang5)+scale(PLAND.man4) 16 scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang5)+scale(PLAND.man4) 17 scale(PLAND.mang4) 18 scale(PLAND.man6) 19 scale(PLAND.man6) 19 scale(PLAND.man6) 20 scale(PLAND.man6) 21 scale(PLAND.man6) 22 ~1 Abundance 1 scale(PLAND.man2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2)) 21 scale(PLAND.man2)+scale(Clog(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.an14) 22 ~1 scale(PLAND.man2)+scale(PLAND.man6)+scale(PLAND.an14) 3 scale(PLAND.man2)+scale(AREMN.man6)+scale(PLAND.an14) 3 scale(PLAND.man2)+scale(AREMN.man6)+scale(PLAND.man2) 3			
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$			
10 scale(log(AREMN.lag6))+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(QAREMN.lag6) 11 scale(PLAND.mang4)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(QARDAND.lag2) 12 scale(PLAND.mang4)+scale(QAREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.lag2) 13 scale(PLAND.mang4)+scale(log(AREMN.lag6))+scale(PLAND.ant4) 14 scale(PLAND.mang4)+scale(log(AREMN.lag6))+scale(PLAND.ant4) 15 scale(PLAND.mang4)+scale(log(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4) 16 scale(PLAND.mang4) 18 scale(PLAND.mang4) 18 scale(PLAND.mang4) 18 scale(PLAND.mang6) 19 scale(PLAND.mang6) 19 scale(PLAND.lag2) 20 scale(PLAND.lag2) 21 scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2)) 22 -1 Abundance 1 1 scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2)) 2 scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2)) 2 scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2)) 2 scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2)) 3 scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2)) 4 scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(log(AREMN.mang6) 4 scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6) <			
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$			
13 scale(PLAND.mang4)+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(PLAND.ant4) 14 scale(PLAND.mang4)+scale(log(AREMN.lag6))+scale(PLAND.ant4) 15 scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4) 16 scale(PLAND.mang4) 18 scale(PLAND.mang4) 18 scale(PLAND.mang4) 18 scale(PLAND.mang6) 19 scale(PLAND.lag2) 20 scale(PLAND.lag2) 21 scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2)) 22 ~1 Abundance 1 1 scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.ant4) 2 scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.ant4) 3 scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6) 4 scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6) 4 scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.lag2) 6 scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6) 8 scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6) 8 scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6) 9 scale(AREMN.lag2))+scale(CAREMN.mang6) 8 scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6) 9 scale(QAREMN.lag2))+scale(CAREMN.mang6)+scale(AREMN.mang6) 10 <td< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td></td<>			
14 scale(PLAND.mang4)+scale(log(AREMN.lag6))+scale(PLAND.ant4) 15 scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4) 16 scale(log(AREMN.lag6))+scale(AREMN.mang)+scale(PLAND.ant4) 17 scale(PLAND.mang4) 18 scale(PLAND.mang4) 19 scale(PLAND.lag2) 20 scale(PLAND.lag2) 21 scale(PLAND.lag2) 22 -1 Abundance 1 scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2)) 2 -1 Abundance 1 scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2)) 2 scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.ant4) 3 scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6) 4 scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6) 5 scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6) 6 scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6) 8 scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6) 8 scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6) 9 scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(PLAND.mang2) 11 scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6) 10 scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6) 1			
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$			
16scale(log(AREMN.lag6))+scale(AREMN.mang)+scale(PLAND.ant4)17scale(PLAND.mang4)18scale(AREMN.mang6)19scale(PLAND.lag2)20scale(log(AREMN.lag6)21scale(PLAND.ant4)22~1Abundance11scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.ant4)3scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.ant4)3scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)4scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)5scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)6scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)7scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)8scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)8scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)9scale(Og(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)10scale(Og(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)11scale(Og(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)12scale(Og(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)13scale(Og(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(IQAREMN.lag2))14scale(Og(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(IQAREMN.lag2))15scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4)16scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4)15scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4)16scale(Og(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4)17scale(PLAND.mang2)18scale(AREMN.lag2)19scale(Og(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4)16scale(QIAREMN.lag2) <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>			
17 scale(PLAND.mang4) 18 scale(AREMN.mang6) 19 scale(PLAND.lag2) 20 scale(log(AREMN.lag6) 21 scale(PLAND.ang4) 22 scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2) 23 scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.ant4) 24 scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(log(AREMN.mang6) 25 scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4) 3 scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4) 5 scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6) 6 scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6) 7 scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6) 8 scale(Iog(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6) 8 scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6) 9 scale(Iog(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(PLAND.mang2) 11 scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.mang2) 12 scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.lag2) 13 scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.lag2) 14 scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.lag2) 15 scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.lag2) 16 scale(P			
18scale(AREMN.mang6)19scale(PLAND.lag2)20scale(log(AREMN.lag6)21scale(PLAND.ant4)22~1Abundance11scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.ant4)2scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.ant4)3scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(log(AREMN.mang6)4scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4)5scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))6scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))7scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))8scale(Q(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)8scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)9scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(PLAND.mang2)11scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(PLAND.mang2)12scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.mang2)13scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.lag2)14scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.lag2)15scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4)16scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4)15scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4)16scale(PLAND.mang2)18scale(PLAND.mang2)18scale(PLAND.mang2)19scale(PLAND.mang2)10scale(PLAND.mang2)11scale(PLAND.mang2)12scale(PLAND.mang2)13scale(PLAND.mang2)14scale(PLAND.mang2)15<			
19scale(PLAND.lag2)20scale(log(AREMN.lag6)21scale(PLAND.ant4)22~1Abundance1scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.ant4)3scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.ant4)3scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(log(AREMN.mang6)4scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4)5scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4)6scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))6scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))7scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)8scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)9scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(PLAND.mang2)10scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(PLAND.mang2)11scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))12scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(PLAND.lag2)13scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(PLAND.lag2)14scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.lag2)15scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4)16scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4)17scale(PLAND.mang2)18scale(PLAND.mang2)19scale(PLAND.mang2)20scale(PLAND.lag2)20scale(PLAND.mang2)21scale(PLAND.mang2)22scale(PLAND.mang2)23scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4)24scale(PLAND.mang2)25scale(PL			
20scale(log(AREMN.lag6)21scale(PLAND.ant4)22~1Abundance1scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))2scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.ant4)3scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)4scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4)5scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4)5scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)6scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)7scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)8scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)9scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(PLAND.mang2)11scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(PLAND.mang2)12scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))13scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.lag2)14scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.lag2)15scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag2)16scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.ant4)15scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4)16scale(PLAND.mang2)17scale(PLAND.mang2)18scale(PLAND.mang2)19scale(PLAND.mang2)10scale(PLAND.mang2)11scale(PLAND.mang2)12scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4)15scale(PLAND.mang2)16scale(PLAND.mang2)17scale(PLAND.mang2)18scale(PLAND.mang2) <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>			
21scale(PLAND.ant4)22~1Abundance1scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))2scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.ant4)3scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)4scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(PLAND.lag2)6scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))7scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))8scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)8scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)9scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)9scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)10scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)11scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))12scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.mang2)13scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.lag2)14scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.lag2)15scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.ant4)16scale(PLAND.mang2)17scale(PLAND.mang2)18scale(PLAND.mang2)18scale(Iog(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4)17scale(log(AREMN.lag2))18scale(log(AREMN.lag2))20scale(log(AREMN.lag2))21scale(log(AREMN.lag2))22scale(log(AREMN.lag2))23scale(log(AREMN.lag2))24scale(log(AREMN.lag2))25scale(log(AREMN.lag2))26scale(log(AREMN.lag2))27scale(log(AR			
22~1Abundance1scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))2scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.ant4)3scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)4scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4)5scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(QAREMN.lag2)6scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(QAREMN.lag2)7scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)8scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)9scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)10scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)11scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)12scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(IQAREMN.lag2))13scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(IQAREMN.lag2)14scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(IQAREMN.lag2)15scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(IQAREMN.lag2)+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(PLAND.lag2)16scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(IQAREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.lag2)17scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(IQAREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4)16scale(PLAND.mang2)18scale(PLAND.mang2)18scale(PLAND.mang2)19scale(IQAREMN.lag2)20scale(IQAREMN.lag2)21scale(PLAND.ant4)			
Abundance1scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))2scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.ant4)3scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)4scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4)5scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(PLAND.lag2)6scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(QAREMN.lag2)7scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(QAREMN.lag2)8scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)8scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)9scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)10scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(PLAND.mang2)11scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(PLAND.mang2)12scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.mang2)13scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.lag2)14scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(QAREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag2)15scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(QAREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.ant4)16scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4)17scale(PLAND.mang2)18scale(QAREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4)17scale(PLAND.mang2)18scale(PLAND.mang2)19scale(PLAND.mang2)20scale(PLAND.lag2)21scale(PLAND.ant4)			
 scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.ant4) scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6) scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4) scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(PLAND.lag2) scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2) scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2) scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6) scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang) scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6) scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6) scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(PLAND.mang2) scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2)) scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2)) scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.lag2) scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4) scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4) scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4) scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4) scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4) scale(PLAND.mang2) scale(PLAND.mang2) scale(PLAND.mang2) scale(PLAND.mang2) scale(PLAND.mang2) scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4) scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4) scale(PLAND.mang2) scale(PLAND.lag2) scale(PLAND.lag2) scale(log(AREMN.lag2)) 		22	~1
 scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.ant4) scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6) scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4) scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(PLAND.lag2) scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2) scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2) scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6) scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang) scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6) scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6) scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(PLAND.mang2) scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2)) scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2)) scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.lag2) scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(QAREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag2) scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.ant4) scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4) scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4) scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4) scale(PLAND.mang2) scale(PLAND.mang2) scale(PLAND.mang2) scale(PLAND.mang2) scale(PLAND.mang2) scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4) scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4) scale(PLAND.mang2) scale(PLAND.mang2) scale(PLAND.lag2) scale(PLAND.lag2) scale(log(AREMN.lag2)) 	Abundance	1	scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2)
 scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6) scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4) scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(PLAND.lag2) scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(QAREMN.lag2) scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6) scale(Iog(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6) scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6) scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6) scale(Iog(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(PLAND.mang2) scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(PLAND.mang2) scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(Iog(AREMN.lag2)) scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.lag2) scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(Iog(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag2) scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(Iog(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.ant4) scale(PLAND.mang2) scale(Iog(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4) scale(Iog(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4) scale(PLAND.mang2) 		2	
5scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(PLAND.lag2)6scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))7scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)8scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang)9scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)10scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(PLAND.mang2)11scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(PLAND.mang2)12scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.lag2)13scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(PLAND.lag2)14scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag2)15scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.ant4)16scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4)17scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4)18scale(AREMN.mang6)19scale(PLAND.mang2)20scale(PLAND.lag2)21scale(PLAND.lag2)		3	
5scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(PLAND.lag2)6scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))7scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)8scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang)9scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)10scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(PLAND.mang2)11scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(PLAND.mang2)12scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.lag2)13scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(PLAND.lag2)14scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag2)15scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.ant4)16scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4)17scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4)18scale(AREMN.mang6)19scale(PLAND.mang2)20scale(PLAND.lag2)21scale(PLAND.lag2)		4	
 6 scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2) 7 scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6) 8 scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang) 9 scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6) 10 scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(PLAND.mang2) 11 scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2)) 12 scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.lag2) 13 scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(PLAND.ant4) 14 scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4) 15 scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4) 16 scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4) 17 scale(PLAND.mang2) 18 scale(AREMN.mang6) 19 scale(PLAND.lag2) 20 scale(log(AREMN.lag2)) 21 scale(PLAND.ant4) 		5	
 scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6) scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang) scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6) scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(PLAND.mang2) scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2)) scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.lag2) scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(PLAND.ant4) scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.ant4) scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4) scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4) scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4) scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4) scale(PLAND.mang2) scale(PLAND.mang2) scale(PLAND.mang2) scale(PLAND.mang2) scale(AREMN.lag2) scale(PLAND.mang2) 			
 9 scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6) 10 scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(PLAND.mang2) 11 scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2)) 12 scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.lag2) 13 scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(PLAND.ant4) 14 scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.ant4) 15 scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4) 16 scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4) 17 scale(PLAND.mang2) 18 scale(AREMN.mang6) 19 scale(PLAND.lag2) 20 scale(log(AREMN.lag2)) 21 scale(PLAND.ant4) 		7	
10scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(PLAND.mang2)11scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))12scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.lag2)13scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(PLAND.ant4))14scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.ant4))15scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4))16scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4))17scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4))18scale(PLAND.mang2)18scale(PLAND.lag2)20scale(log(AREMN.lag2))21scale(PLAND.ant4))		8	<pre>scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang)</pre>
10scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(PLAND.mang2)11scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))12scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.lag2)13scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(PLAND.ant4))14scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.ant4))15scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4))16scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4))17scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4))18scale(PLAND.mang2)18scale(PLAND.lag2)20scale(log(AREMN.lag2))21scale(PLAND.ant4))			
11scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2)12scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.lag2)13scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(PLAND.ant4)14scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.ant4)15scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4)16scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4)17scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4)18scale(PLAND.mang2)18scale(AREMN.mang6)19scale(PLAND.lag2)20scale(log(AREMN.lag2))21scale(PLAND.ant4)		10	
13scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(PLAND.ant4)14scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.ant4)15scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4)16scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4)17scale(PLAND.mang2)18scale(AREMN.mang6)19scale(PLAND.lag2)20scale(log(AREMN.lag2))21scale(PLAND.ant4)		11	scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2)
14scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.ant4)15scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4)16scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4)17scale(PLAND.mang2)18scale(AREMN.mang6)19scale(PLAND.lag2)20scale(log(AREMN.lag2))21scale(PLAND.ant4)		12	<pre>scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.lag2)</pre>
 15 scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4) 16 scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4) 17 scale(PLAND.mang2) 18 scale(AREMN.mang6) 19 scale(PLAND.lag2) 20 scale(log(AREMN.lag2)) 21 scale(PLAND.ant4) 		13	scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(PLAND.lag2)+scale(PLAND.ant4)
 16 scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4) 17 scale(PLAND.mang2) 18 scale(AREMN.mang6) 19 scale(PLAND.lag2) 20 scale(log(AREMN.lag2)) 21 scale(PLAND.ant4) 		14	scale(PLAND.mang2)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.ant4)
 17 scale(PLAND.mang2) 18 scale(AREMN.mang6) 19 scale(PLAND.lag2) 20 scale(log(AREMN.lag2)) 21 scale(PLAND.ant4) 		15	
 18 scale(AREMN.mang6) 19 scale(PLAND.lag2) 20 scale(log(AREMN.lag2)) 21 scale(PLAND.ant4) 		16	scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang6)+scale(PLAND.ant4)
19scale(PLAND.lag2)20scale(log(AREMN.lag2))21scale(PLAND.ant4)		17	scale(PLAND.mang2)
20 scale(log(AREMN.lag2)21 scale(PLAND.ant4)		18	scale(AREMN.mang6)
21 scale(PLAND.ant4)		19	scale(PLAND.lag2)
		20	scale(log(AREMN.lag2)
22 ~1		21	scale(PLAND.ant4)
		22	~1

Table S3Candidates models for each response variable. For abbreviations of landscape variables seeTable 1

20 scale(log(AREMN.lag2)

21 scale(PLAND.ant6)

22 ~1

1	scale(PLAND.lag6)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2)
2	scale(PLAND.lag6)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.ant6)
3	scale(PLAND.mang4)+scale(AREMN.mang4)
4	scale(PLAND.mang4)+scale(AREMN.mang4)+scale(PLAND.ant6)
5	scale(PLAND.mang4)+scale(PLAND.lag6)
6	scale(PLAND.mang4)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2)
7	<pre>scale(PLAND.lag6)+scale(AREMN.mang4)</pre>
8	<pre>scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang4)</pre>
9	<pre>scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag6)+scale(AREMN.mang4)</pre>
10	scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.lag)+scale(PLAND.mang4)
11	scale(PLAND.mang4)+scale(AREMN.mang4)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2)
12	scale(PLAND.mang4)+scale(AREMN.mang4)+scale(PLAND.lag6)
13	scale(PLAND.mang4)+scale(PLAND.lag6)+scale(PLAND.ant6)
14	scale(PLAND.mang4)+scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(PLAND.ant6)
15	scale(PLAND.lag6)+scale(AREMN.mang4)+scale(PLAND.ant6)
16	scale(log(AREMN.lag2))+scale(AREMN.mang4)+scale(PLAND.ant6)
17	scale(PLAND.mang4)
18	scale(AREMN.mang4)
19	scale(PLAND.lag6)
20	scale(log(AREMN.lag2)
21	scale(PLAND.ant6)
22	~1

H'

Table S4 Waterbird assemblage in the southwestern coastal wetlands of Cuba. Total abundance of waterbirds(Total abund), maximum abundance (Max abund) registered in any one-day observation, frequency of waterbirds(Fr, number of sampling plots where the bird was seen/total number of sampling plots: N = 14)

Family/Scientific Name	English Common Name	Status ¹	Ocurrence ²	Total abund	Max abund	Fr %
Anatidae						
Anas bahamensis	White-cheeked Pintail	PR	С	9	9	7.14
Spatula discors	Blue-winged Teal	WM	С	8,355	3,850	64.29
Spatula clypeata	Northern Shoveler	WM	С	300	300	7.14
Aythya affinis	Lesser Scaup	WM	С	18	15	14.29
Phoenicopteridae						
Phoenicopterus ruber	American Flamingo	PR	С	2,153	1,331	50.00
Podicipedidae						
Podilymbus podiceps	Pied-billed Grebe	В	С	35	28	28.57
Rallidae						
Rallus longirostris	Mangrove Rail	PR	С	4	2	21.43
Gallinula chloropus	Common Moorhen	В	С	94	65	28.57
Fulica americana	American Coot	В	С	666	585	21.43
Aramidae						
Aramus guarauna	Limpkin	PR	С	1	1	7.14
Recurvirostridae						
Himantopus mexicanus	Black-necked Stilt	В	С	191	104	28.57
Recurvirostra americana	American Avocet	В	R	63	63	7.14
Charadriidae						
Pluvialis squatarola	Black-bellied Plover	WM	С	153	67	71.43
Pluvialis dominica	American Golden-Plover	WM	R	3	2	14.29
Charadrius nivosus	Snowy Plover	PR	R	4	4	7.14
Charadrius wilsonia	Wilson's Plover	SM	С	101	54	42.86
Charadrius semipalmatus	Semipalmated Plover	WR	С	91	65	35.71
Charadrius vociferus	Killdeer	В	С	30	9	57.14
Jacanidae						
Jacana spinosa	Northern Jacana	PR	С	5	5	7.14
Scolopacidae						
Arenaria interpres	Ruddy Turnstone	WM	С	34	20	28.57
Calidris alba	Sanderling	WM	С	34	28	21.43
Calidris alpina	Dunlin	WM	R	1	1	7.14
Calidris minutilla	Least Sandpiper,	WM	С	1,592	522	71.43
Calidris pusilla	Semipalmated Sandpiper	WM	С	17	9	21.43
Calidris mauri	Western Sandpiper	WM	С	8	6	14.29
Limnodromus griseus	Short-billed Dowitcher	WM	С	566	228	28.5

Limnodromus scolopaceus	Long-billed Dowitcher	WM	R	3	2	14.29
Gallinago gallinago	Common Snipe	WM	С	607	606	14.29
Actitis macularius	Spotted Sandpiper	WM	С	49	18	71.43
Tringa flavipes	Lesser Yellowlegs	WM	С	34	24	28.57
Tringa semipalmata	Willet	В	С	82	25	50.00
Tringa melanoleuca	Greater Yellowlegs	WM	С	54	14	42.86
Phalaropus tricolor	Willson's Phalarope	WM	А	9	9	7.14
Laridae						
Leucophaeus atricilla	Laughing Gul	В	С	374	120	78.57
Sternula antillarum	Least Tern	SM	С	2	2	7.14
Gelochelidon nilotica	Gull-billed Tern	WM	R	5	3	21.43
Hydroprogne caspia	Caspian Tern	WM	С	94	68	14.29
Sterna hirundo	Common Tern	WM	R	2	2	7.14
Thalasseus maximus	Royal Tern	В	С	303	156	64.29
Thalasseus sandvicensis	Sandwich Tern	В	С	303	20	64.29
Ciconiidae						
Mycteria americana	Wood Stork	PR	R	2	2	7.14
Fregatidae						
Fregata magnificens	Magnificent Frigatebird	PR	С	22	19	28.57
Phalacrocoracidae						
Phalacrocorax brasilianus	Neotropic Cormorant	PR	С	195	195	7.14
Phalacrocorax auritus	Double-crested Cormorant	В	С	2,518	1895	92.86
Anhingidae						
Anhinga anhinga	Anhinga	PR	С	56	36	42.86
Pelecanidae						
Pelecanus erythrorhynchos	American White Pelican	WM	С	1,148	627	35.71
Pelecanus occidentalis	Brown Pelican	В	С	102	71	50.00
Ardeidae						
Ardea herodias	Great Blue Heron	В	С	216	184	78.57
Ardea alba	Great Egret	В	С	886	575	78.57
Egretta thula	Snowy Egret	В	С	1,953	622	85.71
Egretta caerulea	Little Blue Heron	В	С	143	36	78.57
Egretta tricolor	Tricolored Heron	В	С	389	220	71.43
Egretta rufescens	Reddish Egret	В	С	73	44	42.86
Butorides virescens	Green Heron	В	С	21	4	71.43
Nycticorax nycticorax	Black-crowned Night-Heron	В	С	10	4	28.57
	Yellow-crowned Night-					
Nyctanassa violacea	Heron	В	С	32	12	50.00
Threskiornithidae						
Eudocimus albus	White Ibis	PR	С	348	244	64.29
Plegadis falcinellus	Glossy Ibis	В	С	10	10	7.14

Ajaia ajaja	Roseate Spoonbil	PR	С	40	25	35.71
Pandionidae						
Pandion haliaetus	Osprey	В	С	22	7	64.29
Accipitridae						
Circus hudsonius	Northern Harrier	WR	С	1	1	7.14
Buteogallus gundlachii	Cuban Black Hawk	PR	С	4	4	7.14
Alcedinidae						
Ceryle alcyon	Belted Kingfisher	WR	С	35	13	57.14
Falconidae						
Falco sparverius	American Kestrel	В	С	7	3	21.43
Falco peregrinus	Peregrine Falcon	WM	С	2	2	7.14

¹Status: B. Bimodal SM. Summer Migrant, PR. Permanent Resident, WM. Winter Migrant (Navarro and Reyes 2017) ²Occurrence: A. Accidental, C. Common, R. Rare, VR. Very Rare (Garrido and Kirkconnell 2010)

CAPÍTULO III. Potential effects of climate change on the distribution of waterbird in Cuba

Autores: Susana Aguilar, Lourdes Mugica, KarenAguilar and Lilian Tonelli Manica

Manuscrito a ser submetido para publicação na revista Waterbirds

Abstract. — Wetland-dependent birds are considered to be at particularly high risk for negative climate change effects. Bioclimatic models are widely used tools for assessing potential responses of species to climate change. We predicted current and future distributions of American Flamingo Phoenicopterus ruber and Reddish Egret Egretta rufescens, two resident species in Cuba, using species distribution models in combination with climate data in Maxent software. For each species, we predicted four potential future distributions for two emissions scenarios in 2050 and 2070, in Cuba, combining three Global Circulation Models. Bioclimatic variables that contributed the most to modeling the potential distribution of American Flamingo were mean diurnal temperature range (mean of monthly (max temp - min temp)) and temperature seasonality. Mean diurnal range also contributed most to the modeling of Reddish Egret followed by precipitation of warmest quarter. Our results show that the current distribution of American Flamingo is predicted to be reduced by 38% under a changing future climate in the most pessimistic scenario of 2070, while the current distribution size of Reddish Egret is predicted to increase in 44%. The potential suitable habitat of American Flamingo in the most pessimistic scenario of 2070 would have 51% excluded from the National System of Protected Areas of Cuba. Our findings suggest that species distribution modeling can inform the current and future management of the American Flamingo and Reddish Egret throughout Cuba. A strong conservation strategy is needed to conserve American Flamingo populations under a changing climate.

Key words. American Flamingo, coastal wetlands, future climate scenarios, Maxent, Reddish Egret, species distribution modeling

1. Introduction

Waterbirds are one of the biological groups associated with coastal zones most vulnerable to the possible impacts of climate change (Planos et al. 2013). In Cuba, a country with a high ratio of coastline to overall surface area (5%, 5,746 km versus 109,886 km²), the national

report to the Convention on Biological Diversity and the National Environmental Strategy identify climate change as one of the greatest threats to biodiversity (CITMA 2014; CITMA 2016). In recent decades, earth's climate has undergone a dramatic change, including warming and more frequent extreme weather events, and there is strong evidence of imminent and profound transformations resulting from human activities (Solomon et al. 2007). Rapid climate change causes a clear fingerprint on global biodiversity (Gregory et al. 2009) and is a major issue for conservationists (Peterson et al. 2002; Thomas et al. 2004). Evidence is accumulating that climatic change has already altered the distributions of many species (Parmesan et al. 1999; Hickling et al. 2005; Guisan and Thuiller 2005; Tingley et al. 2009) and that more change is inevitable (Maclean et al. 2008; Anderson et al. 2009). In Cuba, several current actions have been carried out to address this issue (ODS 2019); however, there are few studies that explore wildlife distributions in future climate scenarios, and these have focused on reptiles and amphibians, resulting in the decrease of suitable habitats (Cobos 2016; Velazco 2017; Gonzales 2018).

Besides avian distributions, climate change is affecting the timing of breeding and migration of birds around the world (Møller et al. 2010; Cox 2010). Also, it has been observed that many species have modified their seasonality, abundance and interspecific interactions (IPCC 2014). From a Caribbean perspective, only recently have a limited number of papers addressed climate change and birds, and these have focused primarily on influences of rainfall on habitat quality for overwintering migrants, thereby impacting spring departure schedules and breeding success through carryover effects (Sillett et al. 2000; Smith et al. 2010; Wilson et al. 2011; Studds and Marra 2011). Climate change is expected to affect migratory birds through changed weather and environmental conditions, such as temperatures, rainfall, sea level rises, and acidification and circulation of oceans (CMS

2014). The effects will be direct or indirect through changes in habitat availability, quality and food resources, with some of the indirect effects occurring naturally or brought about by human reaction to a changing climate (CMS 2014).

Climate forecasts indicate that the average global surface temperature is likely to increase between 0.3 and 4.8 ° C until 2100 (Stocker et al. 2013; IPCC 2013). With respect to rainfall, the contrast between wet and dry seasons will be accentuated, although there may be regional exceptions. In addition, the phenomena of precipitation and extreme temperatures in humid tropical regions will be more intense and frequent (Edenhofer et al. 2014; IPCC 2014). More specifically in the Caribbean basin, several global climatic models are consistent in predicting increased summer droughts over the next 50 years (Neelin et al. 2006). Recent rainfall declines in the Bahamas (Martin and Weech 2001), Puerto Rico (Heartsill-Scalley et al. 2007) and Jamaica (Studds and Marra 2007) are consistent with the predictions of these models. The expected effects of these summer droughts include phenological disruptions, declines in food availability, and an increase in fire frequency (Weaver and Gonzalez 2005). Models to help evaluate how Caribbean birds might respond to these combined threats are needed, as is empirical data about bird condition and population trends (Latta et al. 2012).

Cuba is moving towards climatic conditions similar to those projected by the IPCC under a scenario of intensified greenhouse gas effect. Particularly, there are expected increases in sea level, air temperatures, reductions in daily temperature ranges, and increased frequency of long and severe droughts (Iturralde and Serrano 2015). Increases in the total amounts of rainfall associated with major precipitation events in the wet season are also expected (Iturralde and Serrano 2015). Under different IPCC scenarios and levels of climate sensitivity, sea levels in Cuba are expected to rise 0.22–0.85m by 2100. Given its long and narrow configuration, these increases can have devastating consequences for biodiversity. Cuba lies on one of the most active parts of the Atlantic/Caribbean hurricane region; hurricanes and cold fronts are amongst the main causes of destructive flooding along the whole coastline length (Pérez et al. 2009). Furthermore, warming is indubitable, according to evidence measured by the Cuban Meteorological Institute (Pérez et al. 2009). Since the middle of the last century, the median annual temperature has increased by almost 0.9°C, as well as there was an increase in temperature in waters around Cuba (Mitrani and Díaz 2008).

In this sense, species distribution models (SDMs) are fundamental bases for understanding the impact of climate change on them. In this way, their geographical distribution could be projected relating ecological factors with the presence of the species (Elith and Leathwick 2009; Soberón and Nakamura 2009). In the last 20 years, predictive SDMs had been generated using algorithms, based on incomplete distribution data (Elith et al. 2006; González et al. 2009; Peterson and Soberón 2012; Carmona et al. 2013).

Despite their limitations (Anderson 2012), SDMs synthesize the relationships between species and environmental variables that would be difficult to interpret and appreciate by other means (Fuller et al. 2012). On the other hand, a large number of SDMs articles have proven useful in multiple fields of biology (Mateo et al. 2011), including ecology, taxonomy and biogeography, as well as in species conservation programs, and assessment of climate change impact (Jeschke and Strayer 2008; Steen et al. 2012).

To predict the effects of climate change, and identify conservation strategies that might mitigate its undesirable consequences, it is essential to develop models linking species distributions to alternative scenarios of climate change (Lawler et al. 2006). In this paper we evaluate the effect of climate change on two waterbird species in Cuba, through SDMs. Our specific aims are to i) predict the potential impact of climate change on the distribution of American Flamingo *Phoenicopterus ruber* (Family Phoenicopteridae) and Reddish Egret

Egretta rufescens (Family Ardeidae) in 2050 and 2070, ii) identify bioclimatic variables that most influence their distributions patterns, iii) identify the best climate suitable areas in future scenarios for each species and iv) assess the possible coverage of the National System of Protected Areas of Cuba for the conservation of these species in the future, in case of negative effect due to climate change. This research is a first reference for others studies about climate change effect on the distribution of waterbirds species in Cuba and the Caribbean.

2. Material and Methods

2.1 Study species

To assess the effect of climate change, we modeled the ecological niche of two species (American Flamingo and Reddish Egret) of Cuban waterbird community to predict their potential distribution areas in the future, specifically in Cuba. These two species, are part of the 12 waterbird species exceeding the 1 % of the world's population in Cuba, according with the first chapter of this thesis (Aguilar et al. 2019), wich demonstrates the great importance of Cuba's wetlands for the conservation of these species. These species were selected within this group because both are i) resident in Cuba, ii) had the most restricted distribution and iii) are habitat-specialists, coastal-dependent, inhabiting estuaries and saline lagoons. These characteristics could influence the vulnerability of these species to climatic changes. Instead, the other species are more habitat generalist and widely distributed.

The American Flamingo covers the northern shore of South America, most of Caribbean Sea shoreline, as well as islands in the Caribbean and Eastern Pacific (Fig. 1a). American Flamingo has been seen in southern United States, but they are more abundant in southern latitudes (Fer 2006; Roynesdal 2007). Global estimates range from 260,000 to 330,000 adult individuals and an increasing population trend (Birdlife International 2019). Flamingos are long-lived colonial waterbirds, oftentimes numbering thousands of individuals. These birds tend to occupy large mud flats, at hyper-saline estuaries, where the loose mud can be easily formed into the mounds that they use as nests. These large mud flats are usually located near a food supply and a fresh water source supply is needed when they are breeding (Rooth 1965; Fer 2006). American Flamingo is not globally threatened (Birdlife International 2019).

The Reddish Egret occurs in Baja California and along the Pacific coast of Mexico, the southern coast of the United State USA, through the Caribbean islands and in the Central American coast to northern Colombia and Venezuela (Koczur et al. 2019) (Fig. 1b). Reddish Egrets are frequent in shallow coastal waters, salt-pans, open marine flats and shorelines. They breed in mangroves forest surrounded by shallow lagoons (Gonzales et al. 2016). The Reddish Egret is North America's rarest and least studied ardeid. Populations declined greatly in the 1800s due to feather hunting, and the species was nearly extirpated from the United States by 1900 (Koczur et al. 2019). Global population estimates range from 7,000 to 11,000 mature individuals. However, much is unknown regarding abundance and population trends in Mexico and throughout the Caribbean and it remains a species of conservation concern throughout its range (Koczur et al. 2019). This species is classified as Near Threatened because, despite its large range, it occupies a restricted habitat and is patchily distributed. For this reason, it is assumed to have a moderately small and declining global population (Birdlife International 2019).

2.2 Species occurrence data

We compiled 1444 and 1279 occurrence localities all over the distribution range for American Flamingo and Reddish Egret, respectively (Fig. 1). The data was obtained from primary literature, as well as from the on-line database GBIF (Global Biodiversity Information Facility, http://data.gbif.org) using package rgbif version 3.6.1 (Chamberlain et al. 2019) in R environment version 3.6.0 (R Core Team 2018). Spatial sampling biases were corrected by detecting duplicates data and possible georeferencing errors (e.g. occurrences in the sea or in latitudes or longitudes in sites not described for the species) using raster version 2.9-5 (Hijman 2019) and maptools packages version 0.9-5 (Bivand and Lewin-Koh 2019) in R. We also thinned data eliminating data within a radius of 10 km to avoid autocorrelation, using spThin package version 0.1.0. (Aiello-Lammens et al. 2019) in R. Finally, we used 110 and 185 records for modeling American Flamingo and Reddish Egret distributions, respectively.



Fig. 1 Occurrences of American Flamingo (a) and Reddish Egret (b) compiled in this study

2.3 Environmental variables

Current and future climate data were obtained by 19 standard Bioclim variables (30 arc-sec resolutions; Table S1) from worldclim.org (Hijmans et al. 2005). Current climate data are derived from monthly precipitation and temperature (between 1950 and 2000) of meteorological stations all over the world.

Due to the high levels of correlations between environmental variables, we filtered our initial variable set based on the results of Pearson's correlation test and Jackknife analysis for Maxent modeling of American Flamingo and Reddish Egret (Fig S1). We correlated all pairwise combinations of climatic variables for each species (Table S2 and Table S3, respectively). We extracted climatic variables from occurrence localities of each species and 500 random background points, using dismo (Hijmans et al. 2017) and raster package (Hijman 2019) in R environment (R Core Team 2018). For highly correlated variable pairs (r > 0.8), we retained the variable that gave a higher value in the regularized gain to the Maxent model (Phillips et al. 2006). Consequently, six and seven bioclimatic variables were used in final distribution models of American Flamingo and Reddish Egret, respectively (Table 1).

Besides the bioclimatic layers, we considered a relevant non-climatic layer, the altitude, which is important to waterbird species living in low coastal areas. We got a global altitude layer (1 km resolution) from topography dataset of EarthEnv https://www.earthenv.org/ (Amatulli et al. 2018).

Bioclimatic variables	Species	
	American	Reddish
	Flamingo	Egret
bio2: Mean diurnal temperature range (mean of monthly (max temp -	Х	Х
min temp)		
bio4: Temperature seasonality (standard deviation *100)	Х	-
bio8: Mean temperature of wettest quarter	-	Х
bio10: Mean temperature of warmest quarter	Х	Х
bio14: Precipitation of driest month	Х	Х
bio15: Precipitation seasonality (coefficient of variation)	-	Х
bio16: Precipitation of wettest quarter	Х	-
bio17: Precipitation of driest quarter	-	Х
bio18: Precipitation of warmest quarter	Х	Х

 Table 1 Bioclimatic variables used in the species distribution modeling for American Flamingo and

 Reddish Egret

2.4 Bioclimatic variables of future climate projections

We used two future climate change scenarios, corresponding to the Representative Concentration Pathways, RCP 2.6 and 8.5 W/m² (IPCC 2014). The RCP 2.6 is an "optimistic scenario" which predicts low levels of concentration and emissions of greenhouse gas, with a maximum emission peak in 2040, and CO₂ concentration of 490 ppm, moderate population growth, GDP (Gross Domestic Product), carbon storage and capture technologies (IPCC 2014). At the other extreme, the RCP 8.5, a "pessimistic" scenario, predicts high emissions and concentrations of greenhouse gases, since it does not include the implementation of climate change mitigation policies, in addition to high population growth coupled with high energy demand, as well as a slow increase in GDP and low rates of technological changes and energy efficiency (Vuuren et al. 2011; Wayne 2013; Pachauri and Meyer 2014).

Data were derived from three general circulation models (GCM): BCC-CSM1-1 (Wu 2012), CCCM4 (Kim et al. 2003) and GISS-E2-R (Hansen et al. 2000). These models are considered the most advanced tools available to simulate the response of the global climate system based on the emission and concentration of greenhouse gases (IPCC 2013). The use of several GCMs allows simulate changes based on a set of anthropogenic forcing scenarios (IPCC 2013) and incorporate the variability observed between the different models (Araujo and New 2007; Varela et al. 2015). The selected bioclimatic variables were extracted under different climate change scenarios to make projections in years 2050 and 2070. Because no scenarios were available for the future development of altitude (Thuiller et al. 2006), this variable was assumed constant. All future predicted data was cropped and limited to project only in Cuba. To define climatic variation, we extracted the values of bioclimatic variables at each species occurrence locality under both, current and future scenarios, using spatial analysis functions with raster package version 2.9-5 (Hijman 2019) in R environment version 3.6.0 (R Core Team 2018).

2.5 Background points

We followed Anderson and Raza (2010) criteria to define the study area or calibration of the model. Proper area selection reduces the under or over-adjustment of models to occurrence localities and limits the use of background points to areas where the species may have actually accessed. In this way, more realistic models of the potential range of the species are generated (Barve et al. 2011).

For selecting these areas, 20 km radius buffers were created at each occurrence locality of the two species under study. This radio was selected taking into account the mobility of these species (Cumming et al. 2012; Henry and Cumming 2017). Within these buffers, we randomly extracted 10,000 background points for model calibration. This procedure was made in R packages dismo version 1.1-4 (Hijmans et al. 2017) and rgeo version 0.4-3 (Bivand and Rundel 2019) according with Hijmans and Elith (2017).

2.6 Species distribution models

We build SDMs using Maxent version 3.3.3k (Phillips et al. 2006). Maxent is a machine learning method specifically designed for presence-only data and has been shown good predictive performance across various applications (Elith et al. 2006; Phillips et al. 2008; Doko et al. 2011; Virkkala et al. 2013; Bosso et al. 2013). Maxent uses environmental variables to predict environmental suitability for a particular species by assessing different combinations of variables and their interactions using the maximum entropy principle (Phillips et al. 2006). The complexity of Maxent models can be controlled through choice of feature classes and regularization parameters (Elith et al. 2011). This program is among the most used in the scientific literature of recent years (Heinamen and Numers 2009; Summer et al. 2012; Boria et al. 2014; Wang et al. 2018).

We mainly used default settings in this study (regularization multiplier = 1, maximum iterations = 500, convergence threshold = 10^{-5} , maximum number of background points = 10,000) and ran models with 30 bootstrap replicates. We assessed model performance using the average AUC, the area under the curve, from receiver operating characteristic curve (ROC) score by randomly assigning the occurrences records as training and test datasets (75 and 25 %, respectively). The ROC describes the correct presence identification rate

(sensitivity, in *y*) against the false rate (1-specificity, in *x*) (Peterson et al. 2008). Sensitivity is the probability of classifying as present when the species is really present and 1–specificity is the probability of classifying as present when the species is really absent (false positives) (Peterson et al. 2008). The AUC measures model ability to discriminate between locations where the species is present and where it is absent. AUC values vary between 0 and 1; values below 0.5 means that model predictive value is not higher than expected by chance and values higher than 0.7 are considered models with good precision (Phillips et al. 2008). We used logistic output format, which was easily interpretable with logistic suitability values ranging from 0 (lowest suitability) to 1 (highest suitability) (Phillips et al. 2008). The resulting model was projected to Cuban archipelago to identify areas of climatic suitability for American Flamingo and Reddish Egret.

2.7 Geospatial Analysis of the Impacts of Climate Change

We summarized the output logistic predictions from the three general circulation models under two emission scenarios of 2050 and 2070 by calculating the mean suitability within each grid-cell for each species. This is an ensemble-forecasting approach to reach a consensus scenario (Araujo and New 2007; Marmion et al. 2009). The resulting mean suitability maps was reclassified in binary maps (0 = not suitable area, 1 = suitable area), using the 10 percentile training presence logistic threshold (Maxent output) as a cutting value for each species. The suitable area of future and current models were then subtracted from each other, and areas of stability, contraction and expansion were calculated for each species.

We overlapped and clipped the vectorial map of potencial suitable area of American Flamingo in the most pessimistic scenario (RCP 8.5 W/m^2) of 2070, with a layer of Cuban

National System of Protected Areas (SNAP; CNAP 2013), to estimate the protection percentage for this species in this extreme scenario.

We evaluated specifically the two most important sites for American Flamingo breeding in Cuba, Rio Maximo Faunal Refuge and Delta del Cauto Faunal Refuge, located in Camaguey and Granma provinces, respectively (Morales 1996; Denis et al. 2005). For these analyses, we considered the limits of these protected areas separately and showed models of its current range and future climatic scenarios. We used ArcGis 10.3 (ESRI 2011) for all post-geospatial processing and calculations.

3. Results

3.1 Model performance and environmental variables

American Flamingo model showed reasonable discrimination (AUC_{training} = 0.876 ± 0.016 ; AUC_{test} = 0.803 ± 0.036 ; Fig S2a), as well as Reddish Egret model (AUC_{training} = 0.857 ± 0.012 ; AUC_{test} = 0.811 ± 0.028 ; Fig. S2b). The standard deviation of AUCs, based on 30 bootstrap runs, was small for both species, suggesting little over-fitting of model predictions.

Model outputs clearly identified highly suitable habitat in coastal wetlands for American Flamingo and Reddish Egret, in coincidence with known occurrences and typical habitat descriptions for these species. Current models showed climatic suitability for American Flamingo in ~11,231.2 km², being more restrictive than Reddish Egret which was ~15,331.2 km², representing 10.2 and 14% of the Cuban archipelago surface, respectively (Fig 2 and 3).

For both species, the suitability current values are reached towards areas near the low coasts and adjacent islands (Fig. 2 and 3), mainly in five large groups of coastal wetlands (Sabana Camagüey Archipelago in north central coast, southwestern coast wetlands, Zapata Swamp, south and central coast wetlands and Delta del Cauto in southeast coast), to a greater or lesser extent depending on the species. However, there are also small patches with a likely occurrence in other coastal areas (Fig. 2 and 3).

Environmental variables that contributed the most to modeling the potential distribution of American Flamingo were mean diurnal temperature range (mean of monthly (max temp min temp)), temperature seasonality and precipitation of wettest quarter. In contrast, mean temperature of warmest quarter, precipitation of driest month and precipitation of warmest quarter made only small contributions to model development (Table 2). In Reddish Egret distribution models, environmental variables that contributed the most were mean diurnal range (mean of monthly (max temp - min temp)) and precipitation of warmest quarter. On the other hand, precipitation of driest month, mean temperature of warmest quarter and precipitation seasonality made only small contributions to model development (Table 2).

Environmental variables	Environmental variables Species	
	American	Reddish
	Flamingo	Egret
Altitude	67.2	79.1
bio2: Mean diurnal temperature range (mean of monthly (max temp -	10.1	7.5
min temp))		
bio4: Temperature seasonality (standard deviation *100)	6.2	-
bio8: Mean temperature of wettest quarter	-	2.6
bio10: Mean temperature of warmest quarter	2.2	2.1
bio14: Precipitation of driest month	4.3	1.2
bio15: Precipitation seasonality (coefficient of variation)	-	2.2
bio16: Precipitation of wettest quarter	5.3	-
bio17: Precipitation of driest quarter	-	1.8
bio18: Precipitation of warmest quarter	4.2	3.5

Table 2 Contribution (%) of environmental variables to the Maxent SDMs of American Flamingo and Reddish Egret

3.2 Potential effects of climate change

Climate change effects on the predicted distribution were discernible for both species (Fig. 2 and 3). As the time period increased (2000, 2050 and 2070) the strength of the effects from climate change increased for both species.

Our results predicted that American Flamingo would experience range contractions in future climates in Cuba. In the most optimistic scenario (RCP 2.6 W/m²) in 2050, American Flamingo distribution was predicted to be practically stable, with only a decrease of 10 % (1,123 km²) of its current size (Fig. 2). However, its current distribution would reduce by 27.8% (3,123 km²) according to the most pessimistic scenario (RCP 8.6 W/m²) in 2050, similarly to the contraction of 28.6% (3,213 km²) in 2070 in the most optimistic scenario.

Distribution size was predicted to decrease more on the most pessimistic scenario in 2070, reaching 38.3% (4,297 km²) of its current Cuban distribution (Fig. 2, Fig. 4a, Table S4).

The potential suitable area for American Flamingo in the most pessimistic scenario (RCP 8.5 W/m²) for 2070 had 49% of protection covered by the National System of Protected Areas of Cuba, while under this system 51% of this suitable area would be unprotected (Fig. 5). We found a prediction of an alarming reduction of American Flamingo in 2070, specifically for Delta del Cauto Faunal Refuge (Fig. 6), while for Rio Máximo Faunal Refuge the reduction was much smaller (Fig. 7).

Reddish Egret was predicted to expand its distribution in Cuba in the future. In 2050, this species would have an expansion very similar for most optimistic (RCP 2.6 W/m²) and pessimistic (RCP 8.6 W/m²) future scenarios, 27.1% (4,158 km²) and 26.6 % (4,081 km²) of its current size, respectively. In 2070, the expansion would be greater, 35.5% (5,445 km²) for an optimist scenario and 44.3% (6,793 km²) for a pessimistic scenario, being notable the increase from one scenario to another (Fig. 3, Fig. 4b, Table S4).



Fig. 2 Maps of binary suitable area from 10 percentile training presence logistic threshold (Maxent output) in current (2000) and future climate scenarios (RCP 2.6 W/m2 and RCP 8.6 W/m2) for 2050 and 2070 for American Flamingo in Cuba. Maps were obtained using an ensemble-forecast approach across the three general circulation models BCC-CSM1-1, CCCM4 and GISS-E2-R. Gray = not suitable area, Pink = suitable area



Fig. 3 Maps of binary suitable area from 10 percentile training presence logistic threshold (Maxent output) in current (2000) and future climate scenarios (RCP 2.6 W/m2 and RCP 8.6 W/m2) for 2050 and 2070 for Reddish Egret in Cuba. Maps were obtained using an ensemble-forecast approach across the three general circulation models BCC-CSM1-1, CCCM4 and GISS-E2-R. Gray = not suitable area, Red = suitable area



Fig. 4 Percentage of suitable area in current (2000) and future climate scenarios (RCP 2.6 W/m² and RCP 8.5 W/m²) for 2050 and 2070 for American Flamingo (a) and Reddish Egret (b) in Cuba. The predicted suitability is estimated based on the average 10 percentile training presence logistic threshold.



Fig. 5 National System of Protected Areas (SNAP) of Cuba and suitable area according to the most pessimistic future climate scenarios (RCP 8.5 W/m2) in 2070 for American Flamingo. Gray = not suitable area, Pink = suitable area



Fig. 6 Maps of binary suitable area from 10 percentile training presence logistic threshold (Maxent output) in a) current (2000) and future climate scenarios b) RCP 2.6 W/m2 for 2050, c) RCP 8.5 W/m2 for 2050, d) RCP 2.6 W/m2 for 2070 and e) RCP 8.5 W/m2 for 2070 for American Flamingo in Delta del Cauto Faunal Refuge, Cuba. Green = not suitable area, Pink = suitable area



Fig. 7 Maps of binary suitable area from 10 percentile training presence logistic threshold (Maxent output) in a) current (2000) and future climate scenarios b) RCP 2.6 W/m² for 2050, c) RCP 8.5 W/m² for 2050, d) RCP 2.6 W/m2 for 2070 and e) RCP 8.5 W/m² for 2070 for American Flamingo in Río Máximo Faunal Refuge, Cuba. Green = not suitable area, Pink = suitable area, Blue = sea

4. Discussion

Our models predicted that, by the end of this century, under future scenarios relative to current conditions, suitable habitat for two waterbird species will be changed in Cuba, either positively or negatively. This study represents the first research to predict the climate change effect on waterbirds species distribution in Cuba and the Caribbean.

4.1 American Flamingo

We demonstrated that the current suitable habitat of American Flamingo in Cuba would decrease considerably under the projected climate scenarios for 2050 and 2070. Species with

a small geographic range tends to be more vulnerable to climate change than more widely distributed species (Thomas et al. 2004; Jetz et al. 2007; Lu et al. 2012). Due to the current limited distribution to coastal zone, climate change may substantially affect this species by reducing its current suitable range. This situation is most likely to occur due to the high intensity of human activities and habitat fragmentation throughout most distribution range of American Flamingo, mainly in the north coast of Cuba with the tourism development and the construction of hotels and roads over the sea to connect different keys (Archipelago Sabana-Camaguey) (Rodríguez et al. 2014). Also is known that this species is very sensitive to human disturbance and this factor has been responsible for the disappearance of several nesting sites in the Caribbean in the last years (Del Hoyo et al. 1992).

Our predicted reduction of suitable habitats in American Flamingo is similar to other previous studies on the impacts of climate change on waterbirds species. For example, Larson (1995) extrapolated from a model relating current climate to future wetland density under a drier scenario, and suggested that suitable habitat for waterfowls would be reduced under those conditions. Steen and Powell (2012) predicted the range reduction of 64%, as average of the ensemble of five common waterbirds species, using SDMs in a drier future. The studies cited above correspond to species of orders Anseriformes, Pelecaniformes, Gruiformes, Chradriiformes and Podicipediformes. So far, no other previous study has ever assessed the impact of climate change and modeled the distribution of any Phoenicopteriformes as we did here with flamingoes.

We found that the mean diurnal temperature range contributed the most to the American Flamingo distribution modeling, meaning that this species is more sensitive to the variation of this variable. One of the most important concerns with flamingoes and global warming is how it affects their mating season. Flamingoes depend on the rainfall to help them mate, so prolonged periods of drought can adversely affect their survival rates (Johnson and Cézilly 2007). Global warming can also dry out the lagoons and swampy areas where flamingos live, also affecting water alkalinity (del Hoyo 1992). When the water becomes too acid, survival is affected and then birds need to relocate. They also rely upon the shallow lagoons to provide them with sources of food (del Hoyo 1992). The spatio-temporal distribution of non-breeding and breeding flamingos seems to be dependent on food density and climatic variation (Arengo and Baldassarre 1995; Baldassarre and Arengo 2000; Tuite 2000).

Another important aspect on habitat protection for American Flamingo are their breeding sites. As the models for future scenarios show, specifically in the most important sites for American Flamingo breeding in Cuba, the Delta del Cauto Faunal Refuge expects to have a considerable reduction of the suitable area until 2070. Delta del Cauto supports the second largest breeding site of the Cuban Archipelago with 20,000-30,000 reported nests (Denis et al. 2005). Therefore, it is extremely important for the conservation of the species to take our predictions into account. Instead, in Río Máximo Faunal Refuge, the reduction prediction of suitable area for this species was not drastic until 2070. However, the influence of sea level rise by the end of this century could be fatal for this important nesting site. About 100,000-120,000 individuals gather to nest each year in Río Máximo (Denis et al. 2002), being the largest nesting site in Cuba and the Caribbean. The American Flamingo Cuban population is one of the most important in the region (Ottenwalder 1991), producing at least 50% of annual recruitment (Morales 1996).

There are several evidences that breeding of flamingoes is affected by climate variations (Bechet and Johnson 2008; Bargas and Balow 2008; Bucher and Curto 2012). Flamingoes breeding habitat requires three essential conditions: i) precipitations to ensure its permanence, as they need fresh water, ii) maintenance of a water belt around the nests, as a

defense against terrestrial predators and iii) supply of sufficient food for adults and juveniles (Johnson 1983). Breeding colonies are dependent also of undisturbed places to protect eggs and chicks from terrestrial predators (Simmons 1996; Johnson and Cézilly 2007). Flamingoes nesting habitats can be considered unstable, since the lagoons are subject to drying out or pronounced retractions according to environmental conditions (Mascitti and Nicolossi 1992).

4.2 Reddish Egret

Our results showed that the current suitable habitat for Reddish Egret in Cuba would increase under the projected climate scenarios for 2050 and 2070. It seems that under a changing climate, some species will benefit by extending ranges into currently unsuitable areas (Jetz et al. 2007; Hu et al. 2010; Lu et al. 2012). This means that there is not a conservation concern for this species under climate change scenarios for the period of time evaluated in relation to the variables analyzed in our predictive model.

The fact that the suitable habitat increases for Reddish Egret in future climatic scenarios could be due to some factors. First, this species has a wider distribution range, with a greater latitude and longitude amplitude if we compare with the American Flamingo, which would allow a wider range of climate amplitude for this species. Also, even though this species is a coastal habitat specialist (Lowther and Paul 2002; Bates et al. 2016), its foraging and breeding sites are less specialized than for American Flamingo (del Hoyo 1992). On the other hand, there are no previous reports of breeding sites losses for Reddish Egret due to climatic variations or extreme droughts. The main factors documented for nesting sites losses in this species are human disturbance, coastal development and sea level rise (Hodgson and Paul 2011), as well as the presence of predators (Cox et al. 2019).

Nevertheless, this species can be affected indirectly by other variables associated to climate change that were not included in our models. Among these variables, alterations due to sea level rise, subsidence, and increased frequency and intensity of storms and flooding (Wilson et al. 2014) may lead to serious habitat losses. The Reddish Egret is completely dependent on coastal marine habitats for breeding and foraging, habitats which are vulnerable to sea level rise. Most of the current breeding sites used by the species could be permanently inundated and these changes may be irreversible (Wilson et al. 2014).

Although the suitable habitat may increase in future scenarios for the Reddish Egret, and could meet the climatic conditions for its survival, these extensions of increased habitat may not include other specific conditions for this species, such as shallow coastal waters and saltpans (González et al. 2016). There is some belief that foraging habitat might be limiting due to the relatively specific physical and hydrologic conditions required by the Reddish Egret to forage (Wilson et al. 2014) and this species is rarely record far from the coast. The Reddish Egret is the only Ardeid species to be restricted to coastal saline habitats. The critical need for this species appears to be proximity to shallow open waters suitable for its unique foraging technique (Wilson et al. 2014). Even if this species would increase its range in Cuba in the future, we believe it would not have a strong pressure for resource competition due to its current small population size. The number of Reddish Egrets using Cuban coastal ecosystems is about 500 birds and there are at least 155 breeding pairs, estimated at 13 breeding sites (Gonzales et al. 2016). Also, the number of nests at breeding sites of Reddish Egret in Cuba is small (ranged from two to 27; Gonzales et al. 2016), compared with others egret species in the country.

Few works have been carried out in species of Ardeidae family evaluating the potential impacts of climate change and using SDMs. One of them studied the White-eared Night

Heron *Gorsachius magnificus*, an endangered species of Asia (Hu and Liu 2014). The results showed that the extent of suitable habitat range may shrink by more than 35% under a predicted changing climate when assuming the most pessimistic condition, contrary to our results with Reddish Egret. In the same way, Steen and Powell (2012) projected range loss for American Bittern *Botaurus lentiginosus* close to 29% of their current range. However other research on waterbirds has shown also an increase under a changing climate, as is the case for Black-faced Spoonbill *Platalea minor*, endemic to Asia (Hu et al. 2010), so this is not an isolated result.

4.4 Modeling approach

There is skepticism about the reliability of predictive models and their application in conservation (Wiens et al. 2009; Dawson et al. 2011) because, in general, they do not consider all the complexity inherent in nature. For example, evolutionary processes and species ability to adapt (Skelly et al. 2007) or biotic relationships (e.g. competition and predation) (Anderson et al. 2002; Peterson et al. 2002; Hebblewhite et al. 2005; Gutiérrez et al. 2005), which could limit the permanence of the species despite suitable climatic environments (Kissling et al. 2012). Other factors impact species and their habitats (e.g., sociopolitical factors, invasive species and diseases), but these were not included in our models. Even though the complexity of the natural system constrains predictive power of models, the bioclimate envelope approach can provide a useful first approximation to the potentially dramatic impact of climate change on biodiversity (Pearson and Dawson 2003). They provide an effective way of looking into the future for the sake of conservation and

resource management (Wiens et al. 2009). Our study outlines an approach to assess vulnerability of two waterbird species under climate change scenarios.

Species detectability can also influence model results (Steen and Powell 2012). American Flamingo detectability is much easier than Reddish Egret's, which can be confused with other egret species, especially the white morph. Two types of errors, omission (exclusion of areas inhabited) and commission (inclusion of areas not actually inhabited), often exist in species distribution models (Fielding and Bell 1997). Commission error seems to be more frequent than omission error in many circumstances (Thuiller et al. 2006; Elith et al. 2006). This error could have influenced the results of Reddish Egret models, whereby it should be interpreted with more caution. Climate models are currently the strongest tools for simulating future climate scenarios, however, all climate models are not equally useful and contain a variety of uncertainties at all spatial and temporal scales (Beaumont et al. 2008).

4.5 Conservation implications

Results in the present study highlight the importance of incorporating climate change into habitat conservation planning of species. Our results show that American Flamingo is a highly sensitive species to climate change providing several important implications for conservation. First, new protected areas should be established in Cuban coast, specifically those including large mud flats and hyper-saline estuaries. Second, management actions should be focused on protecting known habitats and nesting sites, as well as raising awareness to reduce habitat degradation and human disturbance. Also for the successful breeding of American Flamingo in adverse climatic conditions, it is important the management of duration and magnitude of flooding flows of fresh and salty waters (Arthur et al. 2012),

regulating rivers and wetlands. Successful breeding of waterbirds is one of the most common objectives for the management of environmental flows (MDBA 2014). To prepare for these contingencies, we suggest that the conservation agencies and local Cuban governments place a priority on the establishment and maintenance of targeted wetlands.

Long-term monitoring of waterbird populations (Kingsford et al. 2013; Hansen et al. 2015) provides a basis for the identification of trends, patterns of variation, and potential change drivers for particular species at specific wetlands (Colloff et al. 2015). Distribution modeling contribute to management decisions by determining how habitat availability varies between species with different habitat requirements, by highlighting changes in use of wetlands that have been historically breeding sites of waterbirds. Such monitoring will give a comprehensive assessment of wetland habitat availability, and provide basis for waterbird conservation and management in the future. In accordance with the results of the American Flamingo about climate change, it is urgent to update the status of this species in Cuba, population sizes, current nesting sites and to monitor these variables periodically.

According to the previous forecasts, it is necessary to develop stronger climate change adaptation and conservation strategies, coupled with designing and planning the National System of Protected Areas in Cuba. Also, we recommend a management plan aimed at wetlands conservation, in order to improve and increase the quality and extent of suitable protected habitats. These zones represent critical climatic shelters for the conservation and survival of the studied species and an important part of Cuba's and the regional biota. It is important to highlight that this work could be a reference and an inspiration to predict the climate change effect on other waterbirds species distribution for their future conservation in Cuba and the Caribbean.

5. Aknowledgments

We thank the National Center of Protected Areas (CNAP) (Ministry of Technology and Environmental of Cuba) for supporting this study. We also gratefully acknowledge C. Mancina for training in species distribution modeling methods, F. Thiesen Brum for methodological advice and M. Acosta for manuscript revision. Finally, S. Aguilar is grateful to CNPq (Brazilian National Council Scientific and Technological Development) for granting her a PhD. Scholarship.

6. References

- Aguilar S, Manica L T, Acosta M, Castro R, Hernández Z, González A, López M, Mugica L (2019) Spatiotemporal patterns of waterbird assemblages in Cuba's south coast wetlands: conservation implications. Wetlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13157-019-01178-3
- Aiello-Lammens ME, Boria RA, Radosavljevic A, Vilela B, Anderson RP (2019) spThin: Functions for Spatial Thinning of Species. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=spThin
- Álvarez A, Mercadet A (eds.) (2011) El sector forestal cubano y el cambio climático. Instituto de Investigaciones Agroforestales. Ministerio de la Agricultura. La Habana. Cuba. 248 pp
- Amatulli G, Domisch S, Tuanmu MN, Parmentier B, Ranipeta A, Malczyk J, Jetz W (2018) A suite of global, cross-scale topographic variables for environmental and biodiversity modeling. Scientific Data 5 (180040). https://doi:10.1038/sdata.2018.40
- Anderson RP, Townsend A, Gómez-Laverde M (2002) Using niche-based GIS modeling to test geographic predictions of competitive exclusion and competitive release in South American pocket mice. Oikos 98:3-16. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-0706.2002.t01-1-980116.x
- Anderson BJ, Akcakaya HR, Araujo MB, Fordham DA, MartinezMeyer E, Thuiller W, Brook BW (2009) Dynamics of range margins for metapopulations under climate change. Proc R Soc Lond B 276:1415– 1420. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2008.1681
- Anderson RP (2012) Harnessing the world's biodiversity data: promise and peril in ecological niche modeling of species distributions. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1260: 66-80. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2011.06440.x
- Anderson RP, Raza A (2010) The effect of the extent of the study region on GIS models of speciesgeographic distributions and estimates of niche evolution: preliminary tests with

montanerodents (genus *Nephelomys*) in Venezuela. Journal of Biogeography 37:1378-1393. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2699.2010.02290.x

- Araujo MB, New M (2007) Ensemble forecasting of species distributions. Trends Ecol Evol 22:42–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2006.09.010
- Arengo F, Baldassarre GA (1998) Potential food avail- ability and flamingo use of commercial salt impoundments in the Ria Lagartos Biosphere Reserve, Mexico. Colonial Waterbirds 21, 211–221. https://doi.org/10.2307/1521908
- Arthur AD, Reid JRW, Kingsford RT, McGinness HM, Ward KA, Harper MJ (2012) Breeding flow thresholds of colonial breeding waterbirds in the Murray-Darling Basin, Australia. Wetlands 32:257– 265. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13157-011-0235-y
- Baldassarre G, Arengo F (2000) A review of the ecology and conservation of Caribbean Flamingos in Yucatan, Mexico. Conservation biology of flamingos. Waterbirds 23: 71-79. https://doi.org/10.2307/1522149
- Barve N, Barve V, Jiménez-Valverde A, Lira-Noriega A, Peterson AT, Soberón J, Villalobos F (2011) The crucial role of the accessible area in ecological niche modeling and species distribution modeling. Ecological Modelling 222:1810-1819. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2011.02.011
- Bates EM, Koczur LM, Krainyk A, Ballard BM, Kasner AC (2016) Spatial and temporal dynamics of foraging habitat availability for Reddish Egrets in the laguna Madre, Texas. International Journal of Biodiversity and Conservation 8:251258
- Bechet A, Johnson AR (2008) Anthropogenic and environmental determinants of Greater Flamingo breeding numbers and productivity in the Camargue (Rhone delta, southern France) Phoenicopterus roseus. Ibis 150, 69–79. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1474-919X.2007.00740.x
- BirdLife International (2019) Species factsheet: *Egretta rufescens*. http://www.birdlife.org. Accessed 26 Jul 2019
- Bivand R, Lewin-Koh N (2019) maptools: Tools for Handling Spatial Objects. R package version 0.9-5. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=maptools
- Bivand R, Rundel C (2019) rgeos: Interface to Geometry Engine Open Source ('GEOS'). R package version 0.4-3. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=rgeos
- Bosso L, Rebelo H, Garonna AP, Russo D (2013) Modelling geographic distribution and detecting conservation gaps in Italy for the threatened beetle Rosalia alpine. Journal for Nature Conservation 21(2): 72-80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnc.2012.10.003
- Boria RA, Olsonb LE, Goodmanc SM, Anderson RP (2014) Spatial filtering to reduce sampling bias can improve the performance of ecological niche models. Ecological Modelling 275: 73–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2013.12.012
- Bucher EH, Curto E (2012) Influence of long-term climatic changes on breeding of the Chilean flamingo in Mar Chiquita, Cordoba, Argentina. Hydrobiologia 697:127–137. https://doi.org/:10.1007/s10750-012-1176-z
- Carmona C, Bello J, Carmona R, Velarde E (2013) Modelo espacial para la detección de sitios potenciales para la alimentación de aves playeras migratorias en el noroeste de México. HUITZIL 14(1):22-42. http://www.scielo.org.mx/scielo.php?pid=S1870-74592013000100007&script=sci_arttext&tlng=en
- CITMA Ministerio de Ciencia Tecnología y Medio Ambiente (2014) V Informe Nacional al Convenio sobre la Diversidad Biológica de la República de Cuba, La Habana, Cuba. http://repositorio.geotech.cu/jspui/handle/1234/1326. Accesed 25 Jul 2019
- CITMA Ministerio de Ciencia Tecnología y Medio Ambiente (2016) Estrategia Ambiental Nacional, La Habana, Cuba. http://repositorio.geotech.cu. Accesed 30 Oct 2019
- Chamberlain S, et al. (2019) rgbif: interface to the global biodiversity information facility API methods. R package. http://CRAN.R-project.org/package = rgbif
- CNAP Centro Nacional de Áreas Protegidas (2013) Plan del Sistema Nacional de Áreas Protegidas 2014-2020. Ministerio de Ciencias Tecnología y Medio Ambiente, La Habana, Cuba. http://www.snap.cu/. Accessed 5 April 2019
- Clausen KK, Clausen P (2014) Forecasting future drowning of coastal waterbird habitats reveals a major conservation concern. Biological Conservation. 171:177–185. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2014.01.033
- CMS Convention of Migratory Species (2014) A Review of Migratory Bird Flyways and Priorities for Management. CMS Technical Series 27, UNEP / CMS Secretariat, Bonn, Germany. https://www.cms.int/en/publication/review-migratory-bird-flyways-and-priorities-management-tsno-27
- Colloff MJ, Caley P, Saintilan N, Pollino CA, Crossman ND (2015) Long-term ecological trends of flowdependent ecosystems in a major regulated river basin. Mar. Freshw. Res. 66:957–969. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/MF14067</u>
- Cobos ME (2016) Posibles implicaciones del cambio climático sobre la distribución de las especies del género Peltophryne (Anura: Bufonidae) en Cuba. Tesis de Maestría. Universidad de la Habana
- Cox GW (2010) Bird migration and global change. Island Press, Washington, D.C. University Press, New York, NY
- Cox WA, Amy C, Warzer SC, Kiltie R, Paul A, Rachal M, Kent GM, Meyer KD, Lorenz JJ (2019) Distribution and population status of nesting Reddish egrets (*Egretta rufescens*) in Florida. Florida Field Naturalist 47(1):1-14
- Cumming GS, Paxton M, King J, Beuster H (2012) Foraging guild membership explains variation in waterbird responses to the hydrological regime of an arid-region flood-pulse river in Namibia. Freshwater Biology 57(6):1202-1213. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2012.02789.x
- Dawson TP, Jackson ST, House JI, Prentice IC, Mace GM (2011) Beyond predictions: biodiversity conservation in a changing climate. Science 332:53-58. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1200303
- Del Hoyo J, Elliott A, Sargatal J (eds.) (1992) Handbook of the Birds of the World Vol.1 Lynx Editions, Barcelona
- Denis D, Mugica L, Rodríguez A, Acosta M, Labrada O (2005) Lista y comentarios de la avifauna de la Ciénaga de Birama, Cuba. Biología 19(1–2):66–73. https://doi.org/10.1111/brv.12045
- Denis DA, Cruz MA, Reyes AJ, Fundora OT, Suárez AR (2002) Las Zancudas. En: H. J. González (ed.): Aves de Cuba. pp. 112-127. UPC Print. Vaasa. Finlandia
- Dobson AF, Madeiros J (2009) Threats facing Bermuda's breeding seabirds: measures to assist future breeding success. In Rich TD, Arizmendi C, Demarest D, Thompson C (eds) Tundra to tropics: connecting birds, habitats and people. Proceedings of the 4th International Partners in Flight Conference, McAllen, TX: Partners in Flight.
- Doko T, Fukui H, Kooiman A, Toxopeus AG, Ichinose T, et al. (2011) Identifying habitat patches and potential ecological corridors for remnant Asiatic black bear (Ursus thibetanus japonicus) populations in Japan. Ecological Modelling. 222 (3): 748-76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2010.11.005
- ESRI (2011) ArcGIS Desktop: Release 10. Redlands, CA: Environmental Systems Research Institute.

- Edenhofer O., R. Pichs-Madruga, Y. Sokona, S. Kadner, J.C. Minx, S. Brunner, S. Agrawala, G. Baiocchi, I.A. Bashmakov, G. Blanco, J. Broome, T. Bruckner, M. Bustamante, L. Clarke, M. Conte Grand, F. Creutzig, X. Cruz-Núñez, S. Dhakal, N.K. Dubash, P. Eickemeier, E. Farahani, M. Fischedick, M. Fleurbaey, R. Gerlagh, L. Gómez-Echeverri, S. Gupta, J. Harnisch, K. Jiang, F. Jotzo, S. Kartha, S. Klasen, C. Kolstad, V. Krey, H. Kunreuther, O. Lucon, O. Masera, Y. Mulugetta, R.B. Norgaard, A. Patt, N.H. Ravindranath, K. Riahi, J. Roy, A. Sagar, R. Schaeffer, S. Schlömer, K.C. Seto, K. Seyboth, R. Sims, P. Smith, E. Somanathan, R. Stavins, C. von Stechow, T. Sterner, T. Sugiyama, S. Suh, D. Ürge-Vorsatz, K. Urama, A. Venables, D.G. Victor, E. Weber, D. Zhou, J. Zou, y T. Zwickel (2014) Technical Summary. En: Edenhofer, O., R. Pichs-Madruga, Y. Sokona, E. Farahani, S. Kadner, K. Seyboth, A. Adler, I. Baum, S. Brunner, P. Eickemeier, B. Kriemann, J. Savolainen, S. Schlömer, C. von Stechow, T. Zwickel y J. C. Minx (Eds.): Climate Change 2014: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change: 33-107. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, Reino Unido y Nueva York, NY, Estados Unidos de América
- Elith J, Graham RPA, Dudik M, Ferrier S, Guisan A, Hijmans FHRJ (2006) Novel methods improve prediction of species' distributions from occurrence data. Ecography, 29: 129-151.http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download;jsessionid=AD9469294E578AEFB156A84F1F6 C4B1C?doi=10.1.1.531.5832&rep=rep1&type=pdf
- Elith J, Leathwick JR (2009) Species distribution models: ecological explanation and prediction across space and time. Annual Review Ecology Evolution and Systematic 40: 677-697.
- Elith J, Phillips SJ, Hastie T, Dudík M, Chee YE, Yates CJ (2011) A statistical explanation of MaxEnt for ecologists. Diversity and Distributions 17, 43–57. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-4642.2010.00725.x
- Fer J (2006) Complete Birds of North America. Washington, D.C., National Geographic Society.
- Fielding AH, Bell JF (1997) A review of methods for the assessment of prediction errors in conservation presence/absence models. Environmental Conservation 24(1): 38-49. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0376892997000088
- Fuller D, Ahumada M, Quiñones M, Herrera S, Beier J (2012) Near-present and future distribution of Anopheles albimanus in Mesoamerica and the Caribbean Basin modeled with climate and topographic data. International Journal of Health Geographics 11: 1-13. https://ijhealthgeographics.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1476-072X-11-13
- González A, Jiménez A, Mugica L, Acosta M, García-Lau I et al (2016) Current Status of Reddish Egret (*Egretta rufescens*) in Cuba. Waterbirds 39(1): 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1675/063.039.0102
- González A, Victoriano P, Angélica R (2009) Schlatter Waterbird Assemblages and Habitat Characteristics in Wetlands: Influence of Temporal Variability on Species-Habitat Relationships. Waterbirds 32(2): 225-233. <u>https://doi.org/10.1675/063.032.0203</u>
- González A (2018) Ecología y conservación de la Iguana (Cyclura nubila nubila) en Cuba. Tesis doctoral. Universidad de Alicante
- Gregory RD, Willis SG, Jiguet F, Vorisek P, Klvanova A, van Strien A, Huntley B, Collingham YC, Couvet D, Green RE (2009) An indicator of the impact of climatic change on European bird populations. PLoS ONE 4: e4678. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0004678
- Guisan A, Thuiller W (2005) Predicting species distribution: offering more than simple habitat models. Ecology Letters 8: 993–1009. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2005.00792.x

- Gutiérrez D, Fernández P, Seymour A, Jordano D (2005) Habitat distribution models: Are mutualist distributions good predictors of their associates? Ecological Applications 15:3-18. https://doi.org/10.1890/03-5344
- Hansen BD, Menkhorst P, Moloney P, Loyn RH (2015) Long-term declines in multiple waterbird species in a tidal embayment, south-east Australia. Austral. Ecol. 40:515–527. https://doi.org/10.1111/aec.12219
- Hansen J, Ruedy R, Lacis A, Sato M, Nazarenko L, Tausnev N, Tegen I, Koch D (2000) Climate modeling in the global warming debate. In General Circulation Model Development (D. Randall, Ed.), pp. 127-164. Academic Press. San Diego
- Heartsill-Scalley T, Scatena FN, Estrada C, Mcdowell WH, Lugo AE (2007) Disturbance and long-term patterns of rainfall and throughfall nutrient fluxes in a subtropical wet forest in Puerto Rico. Journal of Hydrology 333: 472–485. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2006.09.019
- Hebblewhite M, Merrill EH, Mcdonald TL (2005) Spatial decomposition of predation risk using resource selection functions: an example in a wolf-elk predator-prey system. Oikos 111: 101-111. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0030-1299.2005.13858.x
- Henry DAW, Cumming GS (2017) Can waterbirds with different movement, dietary and foraging functional traits occupy similar ecological niches? Landscape Ecology 32:265–278. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10980-016-0449-8
- Hickling R, Roy DB, Hill JK, Thomas CD (2005) A northward shift of range margins in British Odonata. Glob Change Biol 11:502–506. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0030-1299.2005.13858.x
- Hijmans RJ, Cameron S, Parra J, Jones P, Jarvis A, Richardson K (2005) World-Clim version 1.4. Museum of Vertebrate Zoology of the University of California, CIAT, and Rainforest CRC. http://www.worldclim.org/
- Hijmans RJ (2019). raster: Geographic Data Analysis and Modeling. R package version 2.9-5. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=raster
- Hijmans RJ, Phillips S, Leathwick J, Elith J (2017) dismo: https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=dismo
- Hodgson AB, Paul AF (2011) The status of Reddish Egrets in Tampa Bay, Florida, USA,1974-2008. Audubon of Florida Coastal Islands sanctuaries, Tampa. Challenge Cost share agreement #401818G564, Migratory Bird Program, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Atlanta, Georgia
- Hu J, Hu H, Jiang Z (2010) The impacts of climate change on the wintering distribution of an migratory bird. Oecologia 164: 555–565. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-010-1732-z
- Hu J, Liu Y (2014) Unveiling the Conservation Biogeography of a Data Deficient Endangered Bird Species under Climate Change. PLOS ONE 9 (1). e84529. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0084529
- IPCC Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (2013) Resumen para responsables de políticas. En: Stocker TF, Qin D, Plattner GK, Tignor M, Allen SK, Boschung J, Nauels A, Xia Y, Bex V, Midgley PM (eds.): Cambio Climático 2013: Bases físicas. Contribución del Grupo de trabajo I al Quinto Informe de Evaluación del Grupo Intergubernamental de Expertos sobre el Cambio Climático. 1-27. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, Reino Unido y Nueva York
- IPCC Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (2014) Climate change 2014: impacts, adaptation and vulnerability. Part A. Global and sectoral aspects. In: Field CB, Barros V R, Dokken DJ, Mach KJ, Mastrandrea MD, Bilir TE, Chatterjee M, Ebi KL, Estrada Y O, Genova RC, Girma B, Kissel ES, Levy AN, MacCracken S, Mastrandrea PR, White LL (eds.) Contribution of Working Group II to the

Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1039–1101

- Iturralde MA, Serrano H (2015) Peligros y vulnerabilidades de la zona marino-costera de Cuba: estado actual y perspectivas ante el cambio climático hasta el 2100. Agencia de Medio Ambiente, CITMA. Editorial Academia, La Habana
- Jeschke J, Strayer D (2008) Usefulness of bioclimatic models for studying climate change and invasive species. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1134: 1-24. https://www.researchgate.net/profile/David_Strayer/publication/5290715
- Jetz W, Wilcove DS, Dobson AP (2007) Projected impacts of climate and land use change on the global diversity of birds. PLoS Biology 5: e157. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0050157
- Johnson A (1983) Etho-Etologie du Flamante Rose, *Phoenicoplerus ruber roseus*, en Camarge et dans L: Óucst Palearticue. These. Univ. de Toulouse. France
- Johnson AR, Cézilly F (2007) The Greater Flamingo. London, UK: T and AD Poyser
- Kim SJ, Flato G, Boer G, et al. (2003) A coupled climate model simulation of the Last Glacial Maximum, Part 2: approach to equilibrium. Climate Dynamics 20: 635–661. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00382-002-0292-2
- Kingsford RT, Bino G, Porter JL, Brandis K (2013) Waterbird communities in the Murray-Darling Basin, 1983–2012. Univ. of New South Wales, Sydney
- Kissling WD, Dormann CF, Groeneveld J, Hickler T, Kühn I, McInerny GJ, Montoya JM, Römermann C, Schiffers K, Schurr FM, Singer A, Svenning JC, Zimmermann NE, O'Hara RB (2012) Towards novel approaches to modelling biotic interactions in multispecies assemblages at large spatial. Journal of Biogeography 39:2163–2178. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2699.2011.02663.x
- Koczur LM, Green MC, Ballard BM, Lowther PE, Paul RT (2019) Reddish Egret (*Egretta rufescens*), version 2.0. In The Birds of North America, Rodewald PG (ed). Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, NY, USA. https://doi.org/10.2173/bna.redegr.02. Accessed 27 Jul 2019
- Larson DL (1995) Effect of climate on numbers of Northern Prairie Wetlands. Clim. Change 30: 169-180
- Latta SC (2012) Avian research in the Caribbean: past contributions and current priorities. Journal of Field Ornithology 83 (2):107-121. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1557-9263.2012.00361.x
- Lawler JJ, White D, Neilson RP, Blaustein AR (2006) Predicting climate-induced range shifts: model differences and model reliability. Global Change Biology 12 (8):1568-1584 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2006.01191.x
- Lowther PE, Paul RT (2002) Reddish Egret (Egretta rufescens). The Birds of North America Online (a. Poole, Editor). Cornell lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, New York. https://doi.org/10.2173/bna.633. Accessed 20 Jul 2019
- Lu N, Jing Y, Lloyd H, Sun Y (2012) Assessing the distributions and potential risks from climate change for the Sichuan Jay (*Perisoreus internigrans*). The Condor 114: 365–376. https://doi.org/10.1525/cond.2012.110030
- Maclean IMD, Austin GE, Rehfisch MM, Blew J, Crowe O, Delany S, Devos K, Deceuninck B, Gunther K, Laursen K, Van Roomen M, Wahl J (2008) Climate change causes rapid changes in the distribution and site abundance of birds in winter. Glob Change Biol 14:2489–2500. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2008.01666.x

- Marmion M, Parviainen M, Luoto M, Heikkinen RK, Thuiller W (2009) Evaluation of consensus methods in predictive species distribution modelling. Diversity and Distribution 15:59–69. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-4642.2008.00491.x
- Martin HC, Weech PSW (2001) Climate change in the Bahamas? Evidence in the meteorological records. Bahamas Journal of Science 5: 22–32.
- Mascitti V, Nicolossi G (1992) Nidificación del Flamenco Austral, (*Phoenicopterus chilensis*), en la laguna de Pozuelos, Puna de Jujuy. Hornero 013 (03): 240-242. https://bibliotecadigital.exactas.uba.ar/download/hornero/hornero_v013_n03_p240.pdf. Accessed 7 Sept 2019
- Mateo RG, Felicísimo AM, Muñoz J (2011) Modelos de distribución de especies: una revisión sintética. Revista Chilena de Historia Natural, 84:217-240. http://dx.doi.org/10.4067/S0716-078X2011000200008
- MDBA (2014) Basin-wide environmental watering strategy. MDBA Publication 20/14. Murray-Darling Basin Authority, Canberra
- Mitrani A, Díaz O (2008) Particularidades de la estructura termohalina y sus tendencias en aguas cubanas. Revista Cubana de Meteorología 14(1): 54:73
- Moller AP, Fielder W, Erthold PB (eds.) (2010) Effects of climate change on birds. Oxford
- Morales J (1996) El Flamenco Rosado Caribeño. Revista Flora Fauna 0: 14-17
- Neelin JDM, Munnich H, Sumeyerson JE, Holloway CE (2006) Tropical drying trends in global warming models and observations. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 103: 6110–6115
- ODS Objetivos de Desarrollo Sostenible (2019) Cuba. Informe Nacional sobre la implementación a la Agenda 2030. La Habana, Cuba. 142 pp. https://foroalc2030.cepal.org. Accessed 29 Oct 2019
- Ottenwalder JA (1991) Situación poblacional del Flamenco (*Phoenicopterus ruber*) en la región del Caribe. In: Reunión técnica sobre la situación problemática del Flamenco Rosa en el Mediterráneo Occidental y Africa Noroccidental. Agencia de Medio Ambiente, Junta de Andalucía, Sevilla, España, pp 83-91
- Pachauri RK, Meyer LA (eds.) (2014) Cambio climático 2014: Informe de síntesis. Contribución de los Grupos de trabajo I, II y III al Quinto Informe de Evaluación del Grupo Intergubernamental de Expertos sobre el Cambio Climático (IPCC), Ginebra, Suiza, 157 pp.
- Parmesan C, Ryrholm N, Stefanescu C, Hill JK, Thomas CD, Descimon H, Huntley B, Kaila L, Kullberg J, Tammaru T, Tennent WJ, Thomas JA, Warren M (1999) Poleward shifts in geographical ranges of butterfly species associated with regional warming. Letters to Nature 399:579–583. https://www.nature.com/articles/21181.pdf. Accessed 27 Sep 2019
- Pearson R, Dawson TP (2003) Blackwell Publishing Ltd. Predicting the impacts of climate change on the distribution of species: are bioclimate envelope models useful? Global Ecology and Biogeography 12: 361–371. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1466-822X.2003.00042.x
- Pérez SR, Fonseca C, Lapinel B, González C, Planos E, Cutié V, Ballester M, Limia M, Vega R (2009) Segunda evaluación de las variaciones y tendencias del clima en Cuba. Informe científico. Instituto de Meteorología. La Habana, 75 pp
- Peterson AT, Ortega-Huerta MA, Bartley J, Sanchez-Cordero V, Soberon J, Buddemeier RH, Stockwell DRB (2002) Future projections for Mexican faunas under global climate change scenarios. Nature 416:626–629. https://www.nature.com/articles/416626a.pdf. Accessed 20 Sept 2019

- Peterson AT, Papes M, Soberon J (2008) Rethinking receiver operating characteristic analysis applications in ecological niche modeling. Ecological Modelling 213:63-72
- Peterson T, Soberón J (2012) Species Distribution Modeling and Ecological Niche Modeling: Getting the Concepts Right. Natureza & Conservação10: 102-107
- Phillips SJ, Dudik M (2008) Modeling of species distributions with Maxent: new extensions and acomprehensive evaluation. Ecography 31: 161-175. doi: 10.1111/j.2007.0906-7590.05203.x
- Phillips SJ, Anderson RP, Schapire RE (2006) Maximum entropy modeling of species geographic distributions. Ecological Modelling 190: 231-259. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2005.03.026
- Planos E, Vega R, Guevara A (eds.) (2013) Impacto del Cambio Climático y Medidas de adaptación en Cuba. Instituto de Meteorología, Agencia de Medio ambiente, Ministerio de Ciencia Tecnología y Medio Ambiente. La Habana, Cuba, 430 pp
- Rodríguez BD, Arias A, Ruiz E (eds.) (2014) Fauna terrestre del archipiélago Sabana-Camaguey, Cuba. Editorial Academia, La Habana
- Rooth J (1965) The Flamingos on Bonaire: Habitat, Diet and Reproduction of *Phoenicopterus ruber ruber*. Utrecht, Holland: Foundation for Scientific Research in Surinam and The Netherlands
- Roynesdal K (2007) The Flamingo (On-line). http://www.bio.davidson.edu/people/vecase/Behavior/Spring2007/Roynesdal/index.html. Accessed April 15 2010
- Sillet TS, Holmes RT, Herry TWS (2000) Impacts of a global climate cycle on the population dynamics of a migratory songbird. Science 288: 2040–2042. DOI: 10.1126/science.288.5473.2040
- Simmons RE (1996) Population declines, viable breeding areas, and management options for flamingos in southern Africa. Biology 10: 504–514. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1739.1996.10020504.x
- Skelly DK, Joseph LN, Possingham HP, Freidenburg LK, Farrugia TJ, Kinnisony MT, Hendry AP (2007) Evolutionary responses to climate change. Conservation Biology 21:1353-1355.
- Smith JA, Reitsma LR, Marra PPM (2010) Moisture as a determinant of habitat quality for a non-breeding Neotropical migratory songbird. Ecology 91: 2874–2882. https://doi.org/10.1890/09-2212.1
- Soberón J, Nakamura M (2009) Niches and distributional areas: concepts, methods, and assumptions. PNAS 17: 19644-19650. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0901637106
- Solomon S, Qin D, Manning M, Marquis M, Averyt K, et al, (eds.) (2007) Climate change 2007: the physical science basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge and New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Steen V, Powell AN (2012) Potential Effects of Climate Change on the Distribution of Waterbirds in the
Prairie Pothole Region, U.S.A. Waterbirds 35(2): 217-229.
https://www.pnas.org/content/106/Supplement 2/19644.short. Accessed 7 Sept 2019
- Stocker TF, Qin D, Plattner GK, Alexander LV, et al. (2013) Resumen técnico. En: Stocker, TF, Qin D, Plattner GK, Tignor M, Allen SK, Boschung J, Nauels A, Xia Y, Bex V, Midgley PM (eds.): Cambio climático 2013. Bases físicas. Contribución del Grupo de trabajo I al Quinto Informe de Evaluación del Grupo Intergubernamental de Expertos sobre el Cambio Climático. 33-182. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, Reino Unido y Nueva York
- Studds CE, Marra PPM (2007) Linking fluctuations in rainfall to nonbreeding season performance in a long distance migratory bird, Setophaga ruticilla. Climate Research 35: 115–122. https://doi.org/10.3354/cr00718

- Summer DM, Bryan BA, Crossman ND, Meyer WS (2012) Species vulnerability to climate change: impacts on spatial conservation priorities and species representation Global Change Biology 18: 2335–2348. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2012.02700.x
- Thomas CD, Cameron A, Green RE, Bakkenes M, Beaumont LJ, et al. (2004) Extinction risk from climate change. Nature 427: 145–148. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature02121
- Thuiller W, Broennimann O, Hughes G, Alkemade JRM, Midgley GF, et al. (2006) Vulnerability of African mammals to anthropogenic climate change under conservative land transformation assumptions. Global Change Biology 12: 424–440. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2006.01115.x
- Tingley MW, Monahan WB, Beissinger SR, Moritz C (2009) Birds track their Grinnellian niche through a century of climate change. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 106: 19637–19643. https://www.pnas.org/content/106/Supplement_2/19637.short. Accessed 18 Sept 2019
- Tuite CH (2000) The distribution and density of Lesser Flamingos in East Africa in relation to food availability and productivity. Waterbirds 23: 52–63. https://doi.org/10.2307/1522147
- Vargas FH, Macdonald DW, Barlow S, Hart T, Jimenez-Uzcategui G, Chavez J, Naranjo S (2008) Effects of climate variation on the abundance and distribution of flamingos in the Galapagos Islands. Journal of Zoology 276 (2008) 252–265. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7998.2008.00485.x
- Varela S, Lima-Ribeiro MS, Terribile LC (2015) A short guide to the climatic variables of the lastglacial maximum for biogeographers. Plos One 10:e0129037. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0129037</u>
- Velazco K (2017) Valoración del efecto del cambio climático sobre la distribución de especies cubanas del género Sphaerodactylus (Sauria: Sphaerodactylidae). Tesis de Maestría. Universidad de la Habana
- Virkkala R, Heikkinen RK, Fronzek S, Leikola N (2013) Climate change, northern birds of conservation concern and matching the hotspots of habitat suitability with the Reserve Network. Plos One 8 (5): e63376. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0063376
- Vuuren DP, Edmonds J. Kainuma M, Rihai K, Thomson A, Hibbard K, Hurtt GC, Kram T, Krey V, Lamarque JF, Masui T, Meinshausen M, Nakicenovic N, Smith SJ, Rose SK (2011) The representative concentration pathways: an overview. Climate Change.109:5-31. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-011-0148-z
- Wang R, Li Q, He S, Liu Y, Wang M, Jiang G (2018) Modeling and mapping the current and future distribution of Pseudomonas syringae pv. actinidiae under climate change in China. PLOS ONE 13(2). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0192153
- Wayne GP (2013) The beginners's guide to representative concentration pathways. Skeptical Science. http://www.gci.org.uk/RCPs/RCP_Guide.pdf. Accessed 22 Sept 2019
- Weaver PL, Gonzales KA (2005) Wild-land fire management and restoration. In: Twelfth meeting of Caribbean foresters. Weaver PL, Gonzales KA (eds.), p. 85. United States Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, International Institute of Tropical Forestry, R10 Piedras, PR
- Wiens JA, Stralberg D, Jongsomjit D, Howell CA, Snyder MA (2009) Niches, models, and climate change: Assessing the assumptions and uncertainties. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 106: 19729-19736. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0901639106
- Wilson S, Ladeau L, Tottrup AP, Marra PP (2011) Range-wide effects of breeding and non-breeding season climate on the abundance of a Neotropical migrant songbird. Ecology 92: 1789-1798. https://doi.org/10.1890/10-1757.1

- Wilson TE, Wheeler J, Green MC, Palacios E (eds.) (2014) Reddish egret (*Egretta rufuscens*) conservationaction plan. Unpublished report, Reddish Egret Conservation Planning Workshop, October 2012, Corpus Christi, Texas. http://www.reddishegret.org/REEG_plan_final_single.pdf. Accessed 23 Oct 2019
- Wu T (2012) A mass-flux cumulus parameterization scheme for large-scale models: description and test with observations. Clim Dyn 38: 725-744. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00382-011-0995-3



7. Supplementary materials

Fig. S1 Jackknife results plot for initial MaxEnt model, provided by MaxEnt output for American Flamingo *Phoenicopterus ruber* (a) and Reddish Egret *Egretta rufescens* (b)



Fig. S2 Accuracy assessment of the Maxent models (30 runs) through the receiver operating characteristic curve (ROC) and area under curve (AUC) value for American Flamingo (a) and Reddish Egret (b)

Table S1. Bioclimatic variables extracted from WorldClim (http://www.worldclim.org/) and used

 to test the effects of climate change on the distribution of American Flamingo and Reddish Egret

bio1 = Annual mean temperature

- bio2 = Mean diurnal temperature range (mean of monthly (max temp min temp))
- bio 3 = Isothermality (BIO2/BIO7) (* 100)
- bio 4 = Temperature seasonality (standard deviation *100)
- bio5 = Max temperature of warmest month
- bio6 = Min temperature of coldest month
- bio7 = Temperature annual range (BIO5-BIO6)
- bio8 = Mean temperature of wettest quarter
- bio9 = Mean temperature of driest quarter
- bio10 = Mean temperature of warmest quarter
- bio11 = Mean temperature of coldest quarter
- bio12 = Annual precipitation
- bio13 = Precipitation of wettest month
- bio14 = Precipitation of driest month
- bio15 = Precipitation seasonality (coefficient of variation)
- bio16 = Precipitation of wettest quarter
- bio17 = Precipitation of driest quarter
- bio18 = Precipitation of warmest quarter
- bio19 = Precipitation of coldest quarter

Phoenicopi	i 34 vicopte.	FADE 32 FARWARSE FEATSON CONTRACTOR CONTINUED 19 DIOCUMATIC VALIANCES TO SPECIES UNMOUNT INOUGHING OF AMERICAN FIAMENTION <i>Phoenicopterus ruber</i> . In bold are predictors and values with correlation > 0.8. Abbreviation of bioclimatic variables used as columns and rows are	r. In bold	d are pre		and valu	es with c	з ту ил. correlatio	on > 0.8	. Abbrev	viation o	of bioclir	natic va:	riables u	letting or used as c	Solumns	ouncients among 19 procumate variables for species distribution modeling of American Flamming and values with correlation > 0.8. Abbreviation of bioclimatic variables used as columns and rows are	s are
define	defined in Table S1	able S1																
	bio 1	bio2	bio3	bio4	bio5	bio6	bio7	bio8	bio9	bio10	bio11	bio12	bio13	bio14	bio 15	bio16	bio17	bio18
biol	-																	
bio2	-0.72	-																
bio3	0.61	-0.59																
bio4	-0.73	0.76	-0.92	-														
bio5	0.30	0.25	-0.37	0.36	1													
bio6	0.93	-0.85	0.80	-0.91	-0.03	П												
bio7	-0.77	0.88	-0.87	0.98	0.35	-0.95	1.00											
bio8	0.72	-0.36	0.30	-0.40	0.44	0.59	-0.41	1.00										
bio9	0.85	-0.65	0.64	-0.72	0.18	0.86	-0.75	0.44	1.00									
bio10	0.67	-0.24	-0.08	0.00	0.86	0.39	-0.09	0.64	0.49	1								
bio11	0.95	-0.79	0.81	-0.91	0.02	0.99	-0.92	0.62	0.86	0.41	1.00							
bio12	0.40	-0.47	0.66	-0.57	-0.23	0.53	-0.57	0.07	0.46	-0.02	0.51	1.00						
bio13	0.47	-0.46	0.68	-0.64	-0.19	0.58	-0.61	0.16	0.50	0.00	0.58	0.92	1.00					
bio14	0.17	-0.30	0.43	-0.28	-0.22	0.26	-0.31	-0.06	0.23	-0.05	0.23	0.77	0.50	1.00				
bio15	-0.01	0.29	-0.09	0.00	0.13	-0.06	0.10	0.23	-0.08	-0.02	0.00	-0.48	-0.17	0.00				
bio16	0.46	-0.46	69.0	-0.64	-0.19	0.58	-0.60	0.15	0.51	0.00	0.58	0.93	0.99	0.53	-0.20	1.00		
bio17	0.19	-0.32	0.45	-0.30	-0.23	0.28	-0.34	-0.06	0.26	-0.05	0.25	0.81	0.55	0.99	-0.73	0.58	1.00	

Table S2 Pairwaise Pearson correlation coefficients among 19 bioclimatic variables for species distribution modeling of American Flamingo

1.00	0.29
0.71	0.62
0.53	0.85
-0.37	-0.37
0.70	0.57
0.52	0.83
0.66	0.86
0.24	0.46
-0.15	0.06
0.14	0.48
0.03	0.06
-0.33	-0.47
0.24	0.48
-0.33	-0.09
	-0.48
0.38 -0.33	0.60
-0.25	-0.38
bio18 0.15	0.38
bio18	bio19

Tabl	le S3 P	airwaise	Table S3 Pairwaise Pearson correlation control	1 correla	tion coh	eficient	among 1	19 biocli	imatic v	/ariables	for spe	cies dist	ributior	ז model	oheficient among 19 bioclimatic variables for species distribution modeling of Reddish Egret Egretta	eddish E	gret <i>Egr</i> u	etta
rufes	cens. In	bold are	rufescens. In bold are predictors and values	ors and v	values w	ith corre	slation >	0.8. Ab	breviati	ion of bi	oclimati	c variab	oles use	d as coli	with correlation > 0.8. Abbreviation of bioclimatic variables used as column and row are defined in a	row are	defined	in a
Table S1	e S1																	
	bio1	bio2	bio3	bio4	bio5	bio6	bio7	bio8 l	bio9	bio10	bio11	bio12	bio13	bio14	bio15 b	bio16 bi	bio17 bio	bio18
bio1	1																	
bio2	-0.64	1																
bio3	0.68	-0.35	1.00															
bio4	-0.81	0.57	-0.93	1.00														
bio5	0.46	0.09	-0.04	0.05	1.00													
bio6	96.0	-0.71	0.81	-0.93	0.22	1.00												
bio7	-0.85	0.75	-0.84	0.97	0.06	-0.96	1.00											
bio8	0.73	-0.44	0.35	-0.45	0.44	0.62	-0.51	1.00										
bio9	0.79	-0.46	0.67	-0.75	0.29	0.82	-0.75	0.32	1.00									
bio10	0.78	-0.44	0.15	-0.27	0.83	0.59	-0.37	0.70	0.51	1.00								
bio11	76.0	-0.63	0.83	-0.93	0.27	660	-0.94	0.64	0.82	09.0	1.00							
bio12	0.40	-0.53	0.44	-0.46	-0.12	0.48	-0.52	0.20	0.36	0.16	0.44	1.00						
bio13	0.53	-0.52	0.59	-0.63	-0.06	0.61	-0.64	0.31	0.47	0.20	0.59	0.91	1.00					
bio14	-0.03	-0.31	-0.13	0.09	-0.17	-0.02	-0.03	-0.05	-0.01	0.03	-0.07	0.66	0.36	1.00				
bio15	0.39	0.11	0.51	-0.50	0.15	0.40	-0.36	0.30	0.33	0.12	0.46	-0.16	0.18	-0.64	1.00			
bio16	0.50	-0.50	0.59	-0.61	-0.08	0.59	-0.63	0.28	0.45	0.17	0.57	0.93	0.99	0.39	0.16	1.00		
bio17	0.00	-0.35	-0.11	0.07	-0.17	0.01	-0.06	-0.03	0.02	0.05	-0.04	0.70	0.40	0.99			1.00	
bio18	0.33	-0.42	0.25	-0.33	-0.14	0.35	-0.40	0.33	0.19	0.16	0.34	0.72	0.69	0.57	-0.04	0.70	0.58	1.00
bio19	0.21	-0.33	0.31	-0.28	-0.06	0.29	-0.32	-0.01	0.30	0.07	0.25	0.80	0.69	0.50	-0.21	0.71	0.54	0.3

Specie	Year (Scenario)	Suitable areas	Stability	Contraction	Expansion
	RCP W/m ²	km ²	% (km ²)	% (km ²)	% (km ²)
American					
Flamingo	2000	11,231.2			
	2050 (2.6)	10,008.8	90 (10,008.8)	10 (1,123)	0
	2050 (8.5)	8,108.8	72.2 (8,108.8)	27.8 (3,123)	0
	2070 (2.6)	8,018.4	71.4 (8,018.4)	28.6 (3,213)	0
	2070 (8.5)	6,934.4	61.7 (6,934)	38.3 (4,297)	0
Reddish Egret	2000	15,331.2			
	2050 (2.6)	19,489.6	100	0	27.1 (4,158)
	2050 (8.5)	19,412.8	100	0	26.6 (4,081)
	2070 (2.6)	2,0776	100	0	35.5 (5,445)
	2070 (8.5)	22,124	100	0	44.3 (6,793)

Table S4 Extent of suitable area (km²), based on binary maps, in current (2000) and future climate scenarios(RCP 2.6 W/m² and RPC 8.6 W/m²) for 2050 and 2070 for American Flamingo and Reddish Egret in Cuba

FINAL CONSIDERATIONS

The results of this thesis provide key information for future management and conservation of waterbirds in Cuba and North America, as most species are winter migrants. Chapter one contains the most comprehensive study on waterbird assemblages in Cuban natural wetlands, consisting of a long-term assessment of an extensive area of wetlands using standardized methods, in which we registered 110 bird species. The study area covers a fourth of Cuban coastal area, representing 40 % of the wetlands in the island. Cuba is the largest of the Caribbean islands, encompassing most of the wetlands and receiving, each year, a significant flow of migratory waterbirds from North America. Based on our results, we developed suggestions for wetlands management in order to enhance waterbirds conservation. Our results show the seasonal and interannual stability of waterbirds assemblage, the good level of protection of Cuban southern coast, and also highlight the global importance of waterbird conservation in this area and its wetlands, mainly in fall migration. We found that 12 species exceeded 1 % criterion of world population and we encouraged the creation of two new Ramsar sites, a new protected area, and one Important Bird Areas (IBAs), in addition to the reaffirmation of the status of several sites within these categories. This work could be also relevant because it gives a good information about coastal wetlands of international importance in the Caribbean, still unexplored.

In the second chapter, we present another relevant result relative to the effect of landscape configuration at different spatial scales on the structure of waterbird communities in coastal wetlands in a conservation gradient in Cuban southwest. This study shows that landscape context of coastal wetlands influences waterbird abundance, species composition and waterbird diversity. The effects of landscape variables varied according to the scale and the sensitivity of the waterbird community descriptor. Our results show that the scale at which the landscape structure of coastal wetland is measured predicts abundance, waterbird composition and diversity. In our wider scale of measurement (6 km), the mean patch area of mangrove had a negative influence on waterbird abundance, while at the narrower spatial scale (2 km) the percentage of landscape covered by lagoons, salt marshes and rivers had a positive effect. Instead, a higher percentage of landscape covered by mangroves and a percentage of landscape covered by lagoons, salt marshes and rivers had a positive effect in waterbird composition at 2 km. The percentage of landscape covered by mangroves had a negative effect in waterbird diversity at the 4 km spatial scale. The percentage of anthropogenic land use has not influenced in any response variable at the evaluated scales.

Several recommendations regarding the effective management of waterbirds to contribute to adequate protected area planning on Cuban south coast are given, based on these results. First, management plans need to be implemented at the regional level addressing conservation and restoration of heterogeneous landscapes at different spatial scales. The maintenance of larger open water lagoons combined with small mangrove patches would favor increasing waterbird abundance during migration congregation. Also, the definition of boundaries of protected wetlands should take into account the results of scale of effect, in both new and existing reserves. Even non-protected areas should be protected by biodiversity protection laws, such as the Cuban coastal law, which must be adequately implemented in order to protect lagoons, salt marshes and mangroves. The protected areas of this region should follow similar management protocols for all suitable waterbird habitats, respecting the suggested scales.

In chapter 3, current and future distributions of American Flamingo *Phoenicopterus ruber* and Reddish Egret *Egretta rufescens* were predicted using species distribution models.

Our results show that the current distribution of American Flamingo is predicted to reduce 38 % under a changing future climate, in the most pessimistic scenario of 2070, while the current distribution size of Reddish Egret is predicted to increase in 44 %. The suitable potential habitat of American Flamingo in the most pessimistic scenario of 2070 would distribute 51 % outside the National System of Protected Areas of Cuba. From this study we can conclude that American Flamingo is a highly-sensitive species to climate change and we discuss several implications for this species conservation. New protected areas should be established in Cuban coast and management actions should be focused on protecting known habitats and nesting sites, as well as raising awareness to reduce habitat degradation and human disturbance. Also, for the successful breeding of American Flamingo in adverse climatic conditions, it is important to manage the duration and magnitude of flooding flows of fresh and salty waters, coming from nearby rivers and wetlands. We suggest that the conservation agencies and local Cuban governments prioritize the establishment and maintenance of targeted wetlands. It is necessary to implement a long-term monitoring plan to urgently update the status of American Flamingo in Cuba, assess population sizes and current nesting sites. Also, it is necessary to design and plan the National System of Protected Areas of Cuba in a short term, taking into account conservation strategies adapted to climate change., as well as to guide management measures aimed at wetlands conservation and fragmentation reduction.

Birds are very sensitive to threats like habitat loss, habitat fragmentation and degradation, pollution, climate change and unregulated harvest. The results of this thesis not only highlights the good health of several Cuban wetlands through high quality waterbirds data, but encourage their management at the landscape level to prevent their habitat loss, and the prediction of the possible effects of future climate changes upon charismatic species.

REFERENCES

- Acosta M, Morales J, González M, Mugica L (1992) Dinámica de la comunidad de aves de la playa La Tinaja, Ciego de Ávila, Cuba. Ciencias Biológicas 24:44-56
- Acosta M, Mugica L (2006) Aves acuáticas en Cuba 136-159. En: Aves acuáticas en los humedales de Cuba. (L. Mugica; D. Denis; M. Acosta, eds.) Ed. Científico-Técnica. La Habana, Cuba
- Acosta M, Mugica L (2013) Ecología de las aves acuáticas en las arroceras de Cuba. Editoral Científico-Técnica, La Habana
- Acosta M, Mugica L, Denis D (2002) Dinámica de los principales gremios de aves que habitan la arrocera sur del Jíbaro, Sancti Spíritus, Cuba. El Pitirre 15(1):25-30. http://www.bu.edu/scscb/publications/Archives/Pitirre%2015(1)%202002.pdf#page=27
- Acosta M, Mugica L, Rodríguez A, Jiménez A (2011) A General overview of waterbird communities in Cuba. Journal of Caribbean Ornithology 24:10-9
- Acosta, M., Mugica L, Mancina C, Ruiz X (1996) Resource partitioning between Glossy ibis and American White Ibis in a rice field system in southcentral Cuba. Colonial Waterbirds 19 (1): 65-72
- Aguilar S (ed) (2010) Áreas Importantes para la Conservación de las Aves en Cuba. Editorial Academia, La Habana
- Aguilar S, Manica L T, Acosta M, Castro R, Hernández Z, González A, López M, Mugica L (2019) Spatio-temporal patterns of waterbird assemblages in Cuba's south coast wetlands: conservation implications. Wetlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13157-019-01178-3
- Aiello-Lammens ME, Boria RA, Radosavljevic A, Vilela B, Anderson RP (2019) spThin: Functions for Spatial Thinning of Species. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=spThin
- Ali E, Halassi I, Houhamdi M (2016) Diversity patterns and seasonal variation of the waterbird assemblages in Mediterranean wetlands of Northeastern Algeria. Zoology and Ecology 26(2):85-92. https://doi.org/10.1080/21658005.2016.1163865
- Álvarez A, Mercadet A (eds.) (2011) El sector forestal cubano y el cambio climático. Instituto de Investigaciones Agroforestales. Ministerio de la Agricultura. La Habana. Cuba. 248 pp
- Amat JA, Green AJ (2010) Waterbirds as Bioindicators of Environmental Conditions. In: Hurford C, Schneider M, Cowx I (eds) Conservation Monitoring in Freshwater Habitats. Springer, Dordrec, pp 45-52
- Amatulli G, Domisch S, Tuanmu MN, Parmentier B, Ranipeta A, Malczyk J, Jetz W (2018) A suite of global, cross-scale topographic variables for environmental and biodiversity modeling. Scientific Data 5 (180040). https:// doi:10.1038/sdata.2018.40
- Amezaga J, Santamaría ML, Green AJ (2002) Biotic wetland connectivity-supporting a new approach for wetland policy. Acta Oecológica 23:213-222. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1146-609X(02)01152-9
- Amira N, Rinalfi T, Azhar B (2018) Effects of intensive rice production practices on avian biodiversity in Southeast Asian managed wetlands. Wetlands Ecol Manage 26:865–877. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11273-018-9614-y

- Anderson BJ, Akcakaya HR, Araujo MB, Fordham DA, MartinezMeyer E, Thuiller W, Brook BW (2009) Dynamics of range margins for metapopulations under climate change. Proc R Soc Lond B 276:1415–1420. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2008.1681
- Anderson MJ (2001) A new method for non-parametric multivariate analysis of variance. Austral Ecology 26:32-46. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1442-9993.2001.01070.pp.x
- Anderson MJ (2006) Distance-Based Tests for Homogeneity of Multivariate Dispersions. Biometrics 62(1):245-253. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1541-0420.2005.00440.x
- Anderson MJ, Ellingsen KE, McArdle BH (2006) Multivariate dispersion as a measure of beta diversity. Ecology Letters 9(6):683-693. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2006.00926.x
- Anderson RP (2012) Harnessing the world's biodiversity data: promise and peril in ecological niche modeling of species distributions. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1260: 66-80. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2011.06440.x
- Anderson RP, Raza A (2010) The effect of the extent of the study region on GIS models of speciesgeographic distributions and estimates of niche evolution: preliminary tests with montanerodents (genus Nephelomys) in Venezuela. Journal of Biogeography 37:1378-1393. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2699.2010.02290.x
- Anderson RP, Townsend A, Gómez-Laverde M (2002) Using niche-based GIS modeling to test geographic predictions of competitive exclusion and competitive release in South American pocket mice. Oikos 98:3-16. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-0706.2002.t01-1-980116.x
- Araujo MB, New M (2007) Ensemble forecasting of species distributions. Trends Ecol Evol 22:42– 47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2006.09.010
- Arengo F, Baldassarre GA (1998) Potential food avail- ability and flamingo use of commercial salt impoundments in the Ria Lagartos Biosphere Reserve, Mexico. Colonial Waterbirds 21, 211– 221. https://doi.org/10.2307/1521908
- Arthur AD, Reid JRW, Kingsford RT, McGinness HM, Ward KA, Harper MJ (2012) Breeding flow thresholds of colonial breeding waterbirds in the Murray-Darling Basin, Australia. Wetlands 32:257–265. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13157-011-0235-y
- Bai Q, Chen J, Chen Z, Dong G, Dong J, Dong W, Wing Kan Fu V, Han J, Lu G, Li J, Liu Y, Lin Z, Meng D, Martinez J, Ni G, Shan K, Sun R, Tian S, Wang F, Xu Z, Yu Y, Yang J, Yang Z, Zhang L, Zhang M, Zeng X (2015) Identification of coastal wetlands of international importance for waterbirds: a review of China coastal waterbird surveys 2005-2013. Avian Research 6:1-16. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40657-015-0021-2
- Baldassarre G, Arengo F (2000) A review of the ecology and conservation of Caribbean Flamingos in Yucatan, Mexico. Conservation biology of flamingos. Waterbirds 23: 71-79. https://doi.org/10.2307/1522149
- Bamford M, Watkins D, Bancroft W, Tischler G, Wahl J (2008) Migratory shorebirds of the East Asia-Australasian Flyway: population estimates and internationally important sites. Wetlands International-Oceania, Canberra, Australia
- Barve N, Barve V, Jiménez-Valverde A, Lira-Noriega A, Peterson AT, Soberón J, Villalobos F (2011) The crucial role of the accessible area in ecological niche modeling and species distribution modeling. Ecological Modelling 222:1810-1819. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2011.02.011

- Basal: Proyecto Bases Ambientales para la sostenibilidad alimentaria local (2014) Modelo de Ordenamiento Ambiental del Municipio Los Palacios, provincia Pinar del Río. Instituto de Geografía Tropical, La Habana, Cuba
- Bates EM, Koczur LM, Krainyk A, Ballard BM, Kasner AC (2016) Spatial and temporal dynamics of foraging habitat availability for Reddish Egrets in the laguna Madre, Texas. International Journal of Biodiversity and Conservation 8:251258
- Beatty WS, Webb EB, Kesler DC, Raedeke AH, Naylor LW, Humburg DD (2014) Landscape effects on mallard habitat selection at multiple spatial scales during the non-breeding period. Landscape Ecology 29:989–1000. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10980-014-0035-x
- Bechet A, Johnson AR (2008) Anthropogenic and environmental determinants of Greater Flamingo breeding numbers and productivity in the Camargue (Rhone delta, southern France) Phoenicopterus roseus. Ibis 150, 69–79. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1474-919X.2007.00740.x
- Becker PH (2003) Biomonitoring with birds. En: Bioindicators and biomonitors. B. A Markert, A. M. Breure, H. G. Zechmeister, (ed). Elsevier Science Ltd.
- Bellamy C, Scott C, Altringham J (2013) Multiscale, presence only habitat suitability models: fineresolution maps for eight bat species. J Appl Ecol 50:892–901. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.12117
- Bennet AF (2004) Enlazando el paisaje: El papel de los corredores y la conectividad en la conservación de la vida silvestre. UICN-Unión Mundial para la Naturaleza, San José, Costa Rica
- Bhat IP, Cristopher SS, Hosetti BB (2009) Avifaunal diversity of Anekere wetland, Karkala Udupi District, Karnataka, India. Journal of Environment Biology 30:1059-1062. http://jeb.co.in/journal_issues/200911_nov09/paper_22.pdf
- Bibby C, Burgess N, Hill D, Mustoe S (2000) Bird Census Techniques, 2nd edn. Academic Press biological response. Methods in Ecology and Evolution, British Ecological Society, pp 1-8
- Birdlife Internacional (2018) Sites (Important Bird Areas), Global IBA Criteria. http://datazone.birdlife.org/site/ibacritglob. Accessed 3 Sept 2018
- BirdLife International (2019) Species factsheet: Egretta rufescens. http://www.birdlife.org. Accessed 26 Jul 2019
- Bivand R, Lewin-Koh N (2019) maptools: Tools for Handling Spatial Objects. R package version 0.9-5. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=maptools
- Bivand R, Rundel C (2019) rgeos: Interface to Geometry Engine Open Source ('GEOS'). R package version 0.4-3. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=rgeos
- Blanco P (2006) Distribución y áreas de importancia para las aves del orden Charadriiformes en Cuba. Tesis doctoral, Universidad de La Habana
- Blanco P, Sánchez B, Del Pozo P (2002) Recapturas del Flamenco Rosado (*Phoenicopterus ruber*) en Cuba durante el período de 1966 al 2000. El Pitirre 15(1):34-37
- Blanco P, Vilella FJ, Sánchez B (2014) Waterfowl in Cuba: current status and distribution. Wildfowl Special Issue 4:498-511. https://wildfowl.wwt.org.uk/index.php/wildfowl/article/view/2618/1734. Accessed 3 Aug 2019

- Boria RA, Olsonb LE, Goodmanc SM, Anderson RP (2014) Spatial filtering to reduce sampling bias can improve the performance of ecological niche models. Ecological Modelling 275: 73–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2013.12.012
- Boscolo D, Metzger JP (2009) Is bird incidence in Atlantic forest fragments influenced by landscape patterns at multiple scales? Landscape Ecology 24:907–918. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10980-009-9370-8
- Bosso L, Rebelo H, Garonna AP, Russo D (2013) Modelling geographic distribution and detecting conservation gaps in Italy for the threatened beetle Rosalia alpina. Journal for Nature Conservation 21: 72–80
- Brandolin PG, Blendinger PG (2016) Effect of habitat and landscape structure on waterbird abundance in wetlands of central Argentina. Wetlands Ecological Manage 24:93–105 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11273-015-9454-y
- Bucher EH, Curto E (2012) Influence of long-term climatic changes on breeding of the Chilean flamingo in Mar Chiquita, Cordoba, Argentina. Hydrobiologia 697:127–137. https://doi.org/:10.1007/s10750-012-1176-z
- Burnham KP, Anderson DR (2002) Model selection and multimodel inference. A practical information—theoretical approach. Springer, New York
- Burnham KP, Anderson DR, Huyvaert KP (2011) AIC model selection and multimodel inference in behavioral ecology: some background, observations, and comparisons. Behav Ecol Sociobiol 65:23–35. DOI 10.1007/s00265-010-1029-6
- Burton NHK, Armitage MJS, Musgrove AJ, Rehfisch MM (2002) Impacts of man-made landscape features on numbers of estuarine waterbirds at low tide. Environ Manage 30:857–864. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-002-2732-5
- Butler RW (1992) The Birds of North America: Great Blue Heron (Ardea Herodias). No. 25
- Carmona C, Bello J, Carmona R, Velarde E (2013) Modelo espacial para la detección de sitios potenciales para la alimentación de aves playeras migratorias en el noroeste de México. HUITZIL 14(1):22-42. http://www.scielo.org.mx/scielo.php?pid=S1870-74592013000100007&script=sci_arttext&tlng=en
- Carvalho SB, Brito JC, Pressey RL, Crespo E, Possingham HP (2010) Simulating the effects of using different types of species distribution data in reserve selection. Biological Conservation 143: 426–438
- Chacon de la Cruz JE, Pompa M, Trevino EJ, Martínez JH, Aguirre CA, Pereda ME (2017) La abundancia de aves acuáticas (Anseriformes) en relación con la complejidad del paisaje en un sitio Ramsar de México. Acta Zoológica Mexicana 33(2). http://www.scielo.org.mx/scielo.php?pid=S0065-17372017000200199&script=sci_arttext. Accessed 4 Aug 2019
- Chamberlain S, et al. (2019) rgbif: interface to the global biodiversity information facility API methods. R package. http://CRAN.R-project.org/package = rgbif
- Chan SF, Severinghaus LL, Lee CK (2007) The effect of rice field fragmentation on wintering waterbirds at the landscape level. Journal of Ornithology 148 (Suppl 2): S333–S342 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10336-007-0244-z

- Chesser RT, Burns KJ, Cicero C, Dunn JL, Kratter AW, Lovette IJ, Rasmussen PC, Remsen JV, Stotz DF, Winger BM, Winker K (2018) Check-list of North American Birds (online). American Ornithological Society. http://checklist.aou.org/taxa. Accessed 21 Sep 2018
- Chettri N, Sharma E, Deb DC (2001) Bird community structure along a trekking corridor of Sikkim Himalaya: a conservation perspective. Biological Conservation 102(1):1–16. Doi:10.1016/S0006-3207(01)00092-1
- Cintra R, Ribeiro PM, Banks C (2007) Composition and Structure of the Lacustrine Bird Communities of Seasonally Flooded Wetlands of Western Brazilian Amazonia at High Water. Waterbirds 30(4):521-540
- CITMA Ministerio de Ciencia Tecnología y Medio Ambiente (2016) Estrategia Ambiental Nacional, La Habana, Cuba. http://repositorio.geotech.cu. Accessed 30 Oct 2019
- CITMA Ministerio de Ciencia Tecnología y Medio Ambiente (2014) V Informe Nacional al Convenio sobre la Diversidad Biológica de la República de Cuba, La Habana, Cuba. http://repositorio.geotech.cu/jspui/handle/1234/1326. Accesed 25 Jul 2019
- Clausen KK, Clausen P (2014) Forecasting future drowning of coastal waterbird habitats reveals a major conservation concern. Biological Conservation. 171:177–185. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2014.01.033
- CMS Convention of Migratory Species (2014) A Review of Migratory Bird Flyways and Priorities for Management. CMS Technical Series 27, UNEP / CMS Secretariat, Bonn, Germany. https://www.cms.int/en/publication/review-migratory-bird-flyways-and-prioritiesmanagement-ts-no-27
- CNAP Centro Nacional de Áreas Protegidas (2009) Plan del Sistema Nacional de Áreas Protegidas 2009-2013. Ministerio de Ciencias Tecnología y Medio Ambiente, La Habana, Cuba
- CNAP Centro Nacional de Áreas Protegidas (2013) Plan del Sistema Nacional de Áreas Protegidas 2014-2020. Ministerio de Ciencias Tecnología y Medio Ambiente, La Habana, Cuba. http://www.snap.cu/. Accessed 5 April 2019
- CNAP Centro Nacional de Areas Protegidas (2015) Plan de Manejo: Refugio de Fauna Canales del Hanábana 2015-2019. Empresa Forestal Integral Ciénaga de Zapata, MINAGRI, Matanzas, Cuba
- Colloff MJ, Caley P, Saintilan N, Pollino CA, Crossman ND (2015) Long-term ecological trends of flow-dependent ecosystems in a major regulated river basin. Mar. Freshw. Res. 66:957–969. https://doi.org/10.1071/MF14067
- Cobos ME (2016) Posibles implicaciones del cambio climático sobre la distribución de las especies del género Peltophryne (Anura: Bufonidae) en Cuba. Tesis de Maestría. Universidad de la Habana
- Cox GW (2010) Bird migration and global change. Island Press, Washington, D.C. University Press, New York, NY
- Cox WA, Amy C, Warzer SC, Kiltie R, Paul A, Rachal M, Kent GM, Meyer KD, Lorenz JJ (2019) Distribution and population status of nesting Reddish egrets (*Egretta rufescens*) in Florida. Florida Field Naturalist 47(1):1-14

- Cumming GS, Paxton M, King J, Beuster H (2012) Foraging guild membership explains variation in waterbird responses to the hydrological regime of an arid-region flood-pulse river in Namibia. Freshwater Biology 57(6):1202-1213. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2012.02789.x
- Davidson NC (2014) How much wetland has the world lost? Long-term and recent trends in global wetland area. Marine and Freshwater Research 65:934–941. https://doi.org/:10.1071/MF14173
- Dawson TP, Jackson ST, House JI, Prentice IC, Mace GM (2011) Beyond predictions: biodiversity conservation in a changing climate. Science 332:53-58. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1200303
- de Boer WF, Cao L, Barter M, Wang X, Sun M, van Oeveren H, de Leeuw J, Barzen J et al (2011) Comparing the community composition of European and eastern Chinese waterbirds and the influence of human factors on the China waterbird community. Ambio 40: 68–77. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-010-0088-2
- del Hoyo J, Elliott A, Sargatal J (eds.) (1992) Handbook of the Birds of the World Vol.1 Lynx Editions, Barcelona
- Denis D, Mugica L, Acosta M, Torreia L (1999) Nuevos reportes sobre la época reproductiva de aves acuáticas coloniales en Cuba. El Pitirre 12 (1): 7-9
- Denis D, Mugica L, Rodríguez A, Acosta M, Labrada O (2005) Lista y comentarios de la avifauna de la Ciénaga de Birama, Cuba. Biología 19 (1-2):66-73. https://doi: 10.1111/brv.12045
- Denis D, Ponce de León JL (2006) Ecología reproductiva de la Garza Rojiza *Egretta rufescens* (Aves: Ardeidae) en la ciénaga de Birama. Biología. 20(1-2):17-23
- Denis D, Rodríguez P, Rodríguez A, Jiménez A, Ponce de León JL (2004) Segregación espaciotemporal en varias colonias de garzas (Aves: Ardeidae) en la Ciénaga de Biramas, Cuba. En: Humedales de Iberoamérica. Ed. J. J. Neiff. pp 204-210
- Denis DA, Cruz MA, Reyes AJ, Fundora OT, Suárez AR (2002) Las Zancudas. En: H. J. González (ed.): Aves de Cuba. pp. 112-127. UPC Print. Vaasa. Finlandia
- Dobson AF, Madeiros J (2009) Threats facing Bermuda's breeding seabirds: measures to assist future breeding success. In Rich TD, Arizmendi C, Demarest D, Thompson C (eds) Tundra to tropics: connecting birds, habitats and people. Proceedings of the 4th International Partners in Flight Conference, McAllen, TX: Partners in Flight.
- Doko T, Fukui H, Kooiman A, Toxopeus AG, Ichinose T, et al. (2011) Identifying habitat patches and potential ecological corridors for remnant Asiatic black bear (Ursus thibetanus japonicus) populations in Japan. Ecological Modelling. 222 (3): 748-76. 1https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2010.11.005
- Ducci L, Agnelli P, Febbraro MD, Frate L, Russo D, Loy A, Carranza LC, Santini G, Roscioni F (2015) Different bat guilds perceive their habitat in different ways: a multiscale landscape approach for variable selection in species distribution modelling. Landscape Ecology 30:2147–2159. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-015-0237-x
- Edenhofer O., R. Pichs-Madruga, Y. Sokona, S. Kadner, J.C. Minx, S. Brunner, S. Agrawala, G. Baiocchi, I.A. Bashmakov, G. Blanco, J. Broome, T. Bruckner, M. Bustamante, L. Clarke, M. Conte Grand, F. Creutzig, X. Cruz-Núñez, S. Dhakal, N.K. Dubash, P. Eickemeier, E. Farahani, M. Fischedick, M. Fleurbaey, R. Gerlagh, L. Gómez-Echeverri, S. Gupta, J. Harnisch, K. Jiang, F. Jotzo, S. Kartha, S. Klasen, C. Kolstad, V. Krey, H. Kunreuther, O. Lucon, O. Masera, Y. Mulugetta, R.B. Norgaard, A. Patt, N.H. Ravindranath, K. Riahi, J. Roy, A. Sagar, R. Schaeffer, S. Schlömer, K.C. Seto, K. Seyboth, R. Sims, P. Smith, E. Somanathan, R. Stavins, C. von Stechow, T. Sterner, T. Sugiyama, S. Suh, D. Ürge-Vorsatz, K. Urama, A. Venables, D.G.

Victor, E. Weber, D. Zhou, J. Zou, y T. Zwickel (2014) Technical Summary. En: Edenhofer, O., R. Pichs-Madruga, Y. Sokona, E. Farahani, S. Kadner, K. Seyboth, A. Adler, I. Baum, S. Brunner, P. Eickemeier, B. Kriemann, J. Savolainen, S. Schlömer, C. von Stechow, T. Zwickel y J. C. Minx (Eds.): Climate Change 2014: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change: 33-107. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, Reino Unido y Nueva York, NY, Estados Unidos de América

- Ekroos J, Kuussaari M (2012) Landscape context affects the relationship between local and landscape species richness of butterflies in seminatural habitats. Ecography 35(3):232–238. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.2011.07005.x
- Elith J, Graham RPA, Dudik M, Ferrier S, Guisan A, Hijmans FHRJ (2006) Novel methods improve prediction of species' distributions from occurrence data. Ecography, 29: 129-151.http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download;jsessionid=AD9469294E578AEFB156A84 F1F6C4B1C?doi=10.1.1.531.5832&rep=rep1&type=pdf
- Elith J, Leathwick JR (2009) Species distribution models: ecological explanation and prediction across space and time. Annual Review Ecology Evolution and Systematic 40: 677-697.
- Elith J, Phillips SJ, Hastie T, Dudík M, Chee YE, Yates CJ (2011) A statistical explanation of MaxEnt for ecologists. Diversity and Distributions 17, 43–57. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-4642.2010.00725.x
- Elphick CS (2008) Landscape effects on waterbird densities in California rice fields: taxonomic differences, scale-dependence, and conservation implications. Waterbirds 31:62–69. http://www.jstor.org/stable/25148296. Accessed 9 Feb 2019
- Engler R, Guisan A, Rechsteiner L (2004) An improved approach for predicting the distribution of rare and endangered species from occurrence and pseudoabsence data. Journal of Applied Ecology 41: 263–274
- ENPFF Empresa Nacional para la Proteccion de la Flora y la Fauna (2009) Plan de Manejo Refugio de Fauna Tunas de Zaza 2010-2014. Sancti Spiritus, Cuba
- Erwin KL (2009) Wetlands and global climate change: the role of wetland restoration in a changing world. Wetlands Ecol Manage 17: 71. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11273-008-9119-1
- ESRI (2011) ArcGIS Desktop: Release 10. Redlands, CA: Environmental Systems Research Institute.
- Estrada R, Martín G, Martínez P, Rodríguez SV, Capote RP, Reyes, I, Galano S, Cabrera C, Martínez C, Mateo L, Guerra Y, Batte A, Coya L (2013) Mapa (BD-SIG) de vegetación natural y seminatural de Cuba v.1 sobre Landsat ETM 7 SLC-off gap filled, circa 2011. IV Congreso sobre Manejo de Ecosistemas y Biodiversidad. URI. http://repositorio.geotech.cu/jspui/handle/1234/597. Accessed 20 Jan 2019
- Fairbairn SE, Dinsmore JJ (2001) Local and landscape-level influences on wetland bird communities of the prairie pothole region of Iowa, USA. Wetlands 21:41–47. https://doi.org/10.1672/0277-5212(2001)021[0041:LALLIO]2.0.CO;2
- Fer J (2006) Complete Birds of North America. Washington, D.C., National Geographic Society.
- Fielding AH, Bell JF (1997) A review of methods for the assessment of prediction errors in conservation presence/absence models. Environmental Conservation 24(1): 38-49. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0376892997000088

- Finlayson CM, Davies GT, Moomaw WR, Chmura GL, Natali SM, Perry JE, Roulet N, Sutton-Grier AE (2019) The Second Warning to Humanity – Providing a Context for Wetland Management and Policy. Wetlands 39:1–5. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13157-018-1064-z
- Forneiro Y (2000) Representatividad de los humedales del occidente de Cuba. Tesis de diploma. Facultad de Biología. Universidad de la Habana. La Habana, Cuba
- Fox AD, Madsen J (2017) Threatened species to superabundance: The unexpected international implications of successful goose conservation. Ambio 46: 179–187. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-016-0878-2
- Fox J, Weisberg S (2011) An {R} Companion to Applied Regression, Second Edition. Thousand Oaks CA: Sage. URL:http://socserv.socsci.mcmaster.ca/jfox/Books/Companion
- Frederick PC, Bildstein KL, Fleury B, Odgen J (1996) Conservation of large, nomadic populations of White Ibises (*Eudocimus albus*) in the United States. Conservation Biology 10:203–216. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1739.1996.10010203.x
- Froneman A, Mangnall MJ, Little RM, Crowe TM (2001) Waterbird assemblages and associated habitat characteristics of farm ponds in the Western Cape, South Africa. Biodiversity Conservation 10:251–270. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1008904421948
- Fuller D, Ahumada M, Quiñones M, Herrera S, Beier J (2012) Near-present and future distribution of Anopheles albimanus in Mesoamerica and the Caribbean Basin modeled with climate and topographic data. International Journal of Health Geographics 11: 1-13. https://ijhealthgeographics.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1476-072X-11-13
- Galatowitsch SM, van der Valk AG (1996) Characteristics of recently restored wetlands in the Prairie Pothole Region. Wetlands 16:75–83. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03160647
- Galvez X, Guerrero L, Migoya R (2016) Evidencias físicas de la estructura metapoblacional en el Flamenco Caribeño (*Phoenicopterus ruber*) a partir de avistamientos de individuos anillados. Revista Cubana de Ciencias Biológicas 4 (3):93-98
- Garrido O, Kirkconnell A (2010) Aves de Cuba. Cornell University Press, New York. 287 pp
- Geocuba Agencia de Teledetección y Cartografía Temática (2012) Mapa de Cobertura Forestal de Cuba, Empresa Geocuba, La Habana, Cuba
- González A (2007) Caracterización de dos comunidades de aves acuáticas en humedales asociados a la Bahía de la Habana. Tesis de Diploma, Universidad de la Habana, Cuba. 68 pp.
- González A, Acosta M, Mugica L, Jiménez A, García-Lau I (2016a) Variación temporal del ensamble de aves acuáticas de Las Salinas, Ciénaga de Zapata, Cuba, durante el periodo 2012-2013. Revista Cubana de Ciencias Biológicas 5(1):71-81. http://www.rccb.uh.cu/index.php/RCCB/article/view/132/250. Accessed 10 May 2019
- González A, Aguilar S, Mugica L, Acosta M, Pérez A, de la Cruz JM, Hernández Z, Castro R, Navarro D, Inguanzo R, Rodríguez A, Labrada O, López M (2018) The Ardeid Assemblages in the South Coastal Wetlands of Cuba. Journal of Heron Biology and Conservation 3:3 [online]. URL: http://www.HeronConservation.org/JHBC/vol03/art03/. Accessed 10 July 2018
- González A, Jiménez A (2011) Estado de dos comunidades de aves acuáticas que habitan en humedales costeros asociados a la bahía de la Habana, Cuba. Journal of Caribbean Ornithology 24:56–66

- González A, Jiménez A, Mugica L, Acosta M, García-Lau I, Castro R, López M, de la Cruz JM, Pérez A, Hernández Z, Aguilar S (2016a) Current status of Reddish Egrett (*Egretta rufescens*) in Cuba. Waterbirds 39 (1):1-12. https://doi.org/10.1675/063.039.0102
- González A, Victoriano P, Angélica R (2009) Schlatter Waterbird Assemblages and Habitat Characteristics in Wetlands: Influence of Temporal Variability on Species-Habitat Relationships. Waterbirds 32(2): 225-233. https://doi.org/10.1675/063.032.0203
- González H, Llanes A, Sánchez B, Rodríguez D, Pérez E, Blanco P (2006) Características de la migración otoñal de las aves terrestres en varias regiones de Cuba. Journal of Caribbean Ornithology 19:73-90. http://jco.birdscaribbean.org/index.php/jco/article/view/276
- González H, Rodríguez Chettino L, Rodríguez A, Mancina CA, Ramos I (eds) (2012) Libro Rojo de los vertebrados de Cuba. Editorial Academia, La Habana, Cuba
- González A (2018) Ecología y conservación de la Iguana (Cyclura nubila nubila) en Cuba. Tesis doctoral. Universidad de Alicante
- Goodale E, Beauchamp G, Ruxton GD (2017) Mixed-species groups of animals. Behavior, community structure and conservation. Academic Press. Elsevier INC
- Google Maps (2019) Satellite image of Google maps of western Cuba. https://www.google.com/maps/place/Cuba/22.683042,82.2950172,19z/data=!3m1!1e3!4m2!3 m1!1s0x88cd49070f7a4cd5:0x798cf759110a41a. Accessed 12 Feb 2019
- Gower JC (1966) A Q-Technique for the Calculation of Canonical Variates. Biometrika 53 (3): 588-590. https://www.jstor.org/stable/2333664?seq=1#metadata_info_tab_contents. Accessed 13 Jun 2019
- Green AJ, Elmberg J (2013) Ecosystem services provided by waterbirds. Biological Reviews 89(1):105–122. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/brv.12045
- Gregory RD, Willis SG, Jiguet F, Vorisek P, Klvanova A, van Strien A, Huntley B, Collingham YC, Couvet D, Green RE (2009) An indicator of the impact of climatic change on European bird populations. PLoS ONE 4: e4678. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0004678
- Guadagnin DL, Maltchik L (2007) Habitat and landscape factors associated with neotropical waterbird occurrence and richness in wetland fragments. Biodiversity Conservation 16:1231–1244. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-6320-6 27
- Guevara EA, Santander T, Duivenvoorden JF (2012) Seasonal Patterns in Aquatic Bird Counts at Five Andean Lakes of Ecuador. Waterbirds 35(4):636-641. https://doi.org/10.1675/063.035.0413
- Guisan A, Broennimann O, Engler R, Vust M, Yoccoz NG, et al. (2006) Using niche-based models to improve the sampling of rare species. Conservation Biology 20: 501–511
- Guisan A, Thuiller W (2005) Predicting species distribution: offering more than simple habitat models. Ecology Letters 8: 993–1009. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2005.00792.x
- Gutiérrez D, Fernández P, Seymour A, Jordano D (2005) Habitat distribution models: Are mutualist distributions good predictors of their associates? Ecological Applications 15:3-18. https://doi.org/10.1890/03-5344
- Hagy HM, Kaminski RM (2012) Winter Waterbird and Food Dynamics in Autumn-Managed Moist-Soil Wetlands in the Mississippi Alluvial Valley. Wildlife Society Bulletin 36(3):512–523. https://doi.org/10.1002/wsb.165

- Haig SM, Mehlman DW, Oring LW (1998) Avian movement and wetland connectivity in landscape conservation. Conservation Biology 12:749-758. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.1998.97102.x
- Hansen BD, Menkhorst P, Moloney P, Loyn RH (2015) Long-term declines in multiple waterbird species in a tidal embayment, south-east Australia. Austral. Ecol. 40:515–527. https://doi.org/10.1111/aec.12219
- Hansen J, Ruedy R, Lacis A, Sato M, Nazarenko L, Tausnev N, Tegen I, Koch D (2000) Climate modeling in the global warming debate. In General Circulation Model Development (D. Randall, Ed.), pp. 127-164. Academic Press. San Diego
- Heartsill-Scalley T, Scatena FN, Estrada C, Mcdowell WH, Lugo AE (2007) Disturbance and longterm patterns of rainfall and throughfall nutrient fluxes in a subtropical wet forest in Puerto Rico. Journal of Hydrology 333: 472–485. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2006.09.019
- Hebblewhite M, Merrill EH, Mcdonald TL (2005) Spatial decomposition of predation risk using resource selection functions: an example in a wolf-elk predator-prey system. Oikos 111: 101-111. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0030-1299.2005.13858.x
- Heller NE, Zavaleta ES (2009) Biodiversity management in the face of climate change: a review of 22 years of recommendations. Biological conservation 142: 14-32
- Henry DAW, Cumming GS (2017) Can waterbirds with different movement, dietary and foraging functional traits occupy similar ecological niches? Landscape Ecology 32:265–278. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10980-016-0449-8
- Herbert JA, Chakraborty A, Naylor LW, Beatty WS, Krementz DG (2018) Effects of landscape structure and temporal habitat dynamics on wintering mallard abundance. Landscape Ecology 33:1319–1334. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-018-0671-7
- Hickling R, Roy DB, Hill JK, Thomas CD (2005) A northward shift of range margins in British Odonata. Glob Change Biol 11:502–506. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0030-1299.2005.13858.x
- Hijmans RJ (2019). raster: Geographic Data Analysis and Modeling. R package version 2.9-5. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=raster
- Hijmans RJ, Cameron S, Parra J, Jones P, Jarvis A, Richardson K (2005) World-Clim version 1.4. Museum of Vertebrate Zoology of the University of California, CIAT, and Rainforest CRC. http://www.worldclim.org/
- Hijmans RJ, Phillips S, Leathwick J, Elith J (2017) dismo: https://CRAN.Rproject.org/package=dismo
- Hodgson AB, Paul AF (2011) The status of Reddish Egrets in Tampa Bay, Florida, USA, 1974-2008. Audubon of Florida Coastal Islands sanctuaries, Tampa. Challenge Cost share agreement #401818G564, Migratory Bird Program, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Atlanta, Georgia
- Holland JD, Fahrig L (2000) Effect of woody borders on insect density and diversity in crop fields: A landscape-scale analysis. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 78: 115–122
- Hsu CH, Chou JY, Fang WT (2019) Habitat Selection of Wintering Birdsin Farm Ponds in Taoyuan, Taiwan. Landscape Ecology 17:569–586. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani9030113
- Hu J, Hu H, Jiang Z (2010) The impacts of climate change on the wintering distribution of an migratory bird. Oecologia 164: 555–565. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-010-1732-z

- Hu J, Liu Y (2014) Unveiling the Conservation Biogeography of a Data Deficient Endangered Bird Species under Climate Change. PLOS ONE 9 (1). e84529. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0084529
- Hurlbert AH (2004) Species–energy relationships and habitat complexity in bird communities. Ecology Letters 7:714–720. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2004.00630.x
- ICCACC (1989) Nuevo Atlas Nacional de Cuba. Instituto Geográfico Nacional de España, Gráficas Alber, España
- IPCC Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (2013) Resumen para responsables de políticas. En: Stocker TF, Qin D, Plattner GK, Tignor M, Allen SK, Boschung J, Nauels A, Xia Y, Bex V, Midgley PM (eds.): Cambio Climático 2013: Bases físicas. Contribución del Grupo de trabajo I al Quinto Informe de Evaluación del Grupo Intergubernamental de Expertos sobre el Cambio Climático. 1-27. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, Reino Unido y Nueva York
- IPCC Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (2014) Climate change 2014: impacts, adaptation and vulnerability. Part A. Global and sectoral aspects. In: Field CB, Barros V R, Dokken DJ, Mach KJ, Mastrandrea MD, Bilir TE, Chatterjee M, Ebi KL, Estrada Y O, Genova RC, Girma B, Kissel ES, Levy AN, MacCracken S, Mastrandrea PR, White LL (eds.) Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1039–1101
- IPF Intituto de Planificación Física (2007) Mapa de Uso de la Tierra de Cuba, La Habana, Cuba
- Iturralde MA, Serrano H (2015) Peligros y vulnerabilidades de la zona marino-costera de Cuba: estado actual y perspectivas ante el cambio climático hasta el 2100. Agencia de Medio Ambiente, CITMA. Editorial Academia, La Habana
- IUCN International Union for Conservation of Nature (2017) The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2017-3. http://www.iucnredlist.org. Accessed 31 Jan 2018
- Jackson HB, Fahrig L (2015) Are ecologists conducting research at the optimal scale? Glob Ecol Biogeogr 24: 52–63. https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.12233
- Jeschke J, Strayer D (2008) Usefulness of bioclimatic models for studying climate change and invasive species. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1134: 1-24. https://www.researchgate.net/profile/David_Strayer/publication/5290715
- Jetz W, Wilcove DS, Dobson AP (2007) Projected impacts of climate and land use change on the global diversity of birds. PLoS Biology 5: e157. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0050157
- Johnson A (1983) Etho-Etologie du Flamante Rose, Phoenicoplerus ruber roseus, en Camarge et dans L: Óucst Palearticue. These. Univ. de Toulouse. France
- Johnson AR, Cézilly F (2007) The Greater Flamingo. London, UK: T and AD Poyser
- Kelly JP, Stralberg D, Etienne K, McCaustland M (2008) Landscape influence on the quality of heron and egret colony sites. Wetlands 28:257–275. https://doi.org/10.1672/07-152.1
- Kim SJ, Flato G, Boer G, et al. (2003) A coupled climate model simulation of the Last Glacial Maximum, Part 2: approach to equilibrium. Climate Dynamics 20: 635–661. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00382-002-0292-2
- King S, Elphick CS, Guadagnin D, Taft O, Amano T (2010) Effects of Landscape Features on Waterbird Use of Rice Fields Waterbirds 33 (Special Publication 1):151-159. https://doi.org/10.1675/063.033.s111

- Kingsford RT, Bino G, Porter JL, Brandis K (2013) Waterbird communities in the Murray-Darling Basin, 1983–2012. Univ. of New South Wales, Sydney
- Kirby JS, Stattersfield AJ, Butchard SHM, Evans MI, Grimmett FA, Jones VR, O'Sullivan J, Tucker GM, Newton I (2008) Key conservation issues for migratory land and waterbird species on the world's major flyways. Bird Conservation International 18:S49–S73. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0959270908000439
- Kissling WD, Dormann CF, Groeneveld J, Hickler T, Kühn I, McInerny GJ, Montoya JM, Römermann C, Schiffers K, Schurr FM, Singer A, Svenning JC, Zimmermann NE, O'Hara RB (2012) Towards novel approaches to modelling biotic interactions in multispecies assemblages at large spatial. Journal of Biogeography 39:2163–2178. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2699.2011.02663.x
- Kleyheeg E, van Dijk JGB, Tsopoglou-Gkina D, Woud TY, Boonstra DK, Nolet BA, Soons M B (2017) Movement patterns of a keystone waterbird species are highly predictable from landscape configuration. Movement Ecology 5 (2). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40462-016-0092-7
- Knutson MG, Sauer JR, Olsen DA, Mossman MJ, Hemesath LM, Lannoo MJ (1999) Effects of landscape composition and wetland fragmentation on frog and toad abundance and species richness in Iowa and Wisconsin, USA. Conservation Biology 13(6):1437–1446. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1739.1999.98445.x
- Koczur LM, Green MC, Ballard BM, Lowther PE, Paul RT (2019) Reddish Egret (Egretta rufescens), version 2.0. In The Birds of North America, Rodewald PG (ed). Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, NY, USA. https://doi.org/10.2173/bna.redegr.02. Accessed 27 Jul 2019
- Kruskal JB (1964) Nonmetric multidimensional scaling: a numerical method. Psychometrika 29:115-129. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02289694
- Kushlan J, Bildstein KL (1992) The Birds of North America: White Ibis (Eudocimus albus). No. 9
- Kutner MH, Nachtsheim CJ, Neter J (2004) Applied Linear Regression Models. 4th Edn., McGraw Hill, New York, ISBN: 978-0256086010
- Larson DL (1995) Effect of climate on numbers of Northern Prairie Wetlands. Clim. Change 30: 169-180
- Latta SC (2012) Avian research in the Caribbean: past contributions and current priorities. Journal of Field Ornithology 83 (2):107-121. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1557-9263.2012.00361.x
- Lawler JJ, White D, Neilson RP, Blaustein AR (2006) Predicting climate-induced range shifts: model differences and model reliability. Global Change Biology 12 (8):1568-1584 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2006.01191.x
- Lee LH (2017) Perspectives on Landscape Aesthetics for the Ecological Conservation of Wetlands. Wetlands 37:381–389. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13157-016-0873-1
- Legendre P, Legendre L (1998) Numerical Ecology, 2nd edn. Elsevier Science BV, Amsterdam, Netherlands
- Legendre P, Legendre L (1998) Numerical ecology, 2nd English edn. Elsevier, Amsterdam
- León G (1996) Diagnóstico de la situación ambiental del humedal de la costa sur de La Habana. Informe presentado en el Seminario-Taller Nacional de Manglares 1997, La Habana, Cuba

- Lepczyk CA, CH Flather, VC Radeloff, AM Pidgeon, RB Hammer, Liu JG (2008) Human impacts on regional avian diversity and abundance. Conservation Biology 22: 405–416. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2008.00881.x
- Lindenmayer D, Hobbs RJ, Montague-Drake R, Alexandra J, Bennett A, Burgman M, Cale P, Calhoun A, Cramer V, Cullen P, Driscoll D, Fahrig L, Fischer J, Franklin J, Haila Y, Hunter M, Gibbons P, Lake S, Luck G, MacGregor C, McIntyre S, Nally RM, Manning A, Miller J, Mooney H, Noss R, Possingham H, Saunders D, Schmiegelow F, Scott M, Simberloff D, Sisk T, Tabor G, Walker B, Wiens J, Woinarski J, Zavaleta E (2008) A checklist for ecological management of landscapes for conservation. Ecological Letter 11:78–91. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2007.01114.x
- Llanes A (1993) Dinámica de la Comunidad de aves en el Refugio de Fauna Las Salinas, Ciénaga de Zapata, Matanzas. El Pitirre 6 (3)
- Lowther PE, Paul RT (2002) Reddish Egret (Egretta rufescens). The Birds of North America Online (a. Poole, Editor). Cornell lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, New York. <https://doi.org/10.2173/bna.633>. Accessed 20 Jul 2019
- Lu N, Jing Y, Lloyd H, Sun Y (2012) Assessing the distributions and potential risks from climate change for the Sichuan Jay (Perisoreus internigrans). The Condor 114: 365–376. https://doi.org/10.1525/cond.2012.110030
- Ma Z, Cai Y, Jiakuan BL (2010) Managing Wetland Habitats for Waterbirds: An International Perspective Chen. Wetlands 30:15-27. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13157-009-0001-6
- Maclean IMD, Austin GE, Rehfisch MM, Blew J, Crowe O, Delany S, Devos K, Deceuninck B, Gunther K, Laursen K, Van Roomen M, Wahl J (2008) Climate change causes rapid changes in the distribution and site abundance of birds in winter. Glob Change Biol 14:2489–2500. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2008.01666.x
- Madsen J, Fox AD (1995) Impacts of hunting disturbance on the dynamics of waterbird populations— A review. Wildlife Biology 1: 195–207. https://doi.org/10.2981/wlb.1995.0025
- Magurran AE (1988) Ecological Diversity and its Measurement. Princeton University Press, Princeton, New Jersey
- Malik DS, Joshi N (2013) Habitat selection pattern of migratory avifauna in relation to nutrients in Asan wetland at Doon Valley (Garhwal Himalaya), India. International Journal of Recent Scientific Research 4:1470-1475
- Mander U, Uuemaa E (2010) Landscape assessment for sustainable planning. Ecol Ind 10 (1):1–3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2009.08.003
- Margules CR, Pressey RL (2000) Systematic conservation planning. Nature 405:243–253. https://doi.org/10.1038/35012251DO - 10
- Marmion M, Parviainen M, Luoto M, Heikkinen RK, Thuiller W (2009) Evaluation of consensus methods in predictive species distribution modelling. Diversity and Distribution 15:59–69. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-4642.2008.00491.x
- Martin HC, Weech PSW (2001) Climate change in the Bahamas? Evidence in the meteorological records. Bahamas Journal of Science 5: 22–32.
- Mascitti V, Nicolossi G (1992) Nidificación del Flamenco Austral, (Phoenicopterus chilensis), en la laguna de Pozuelos, Puna de Jujuy. Hornero 013 (03): 240-242.

https://bibliotecadigital.exactas.uba.ar/download/hornero/hornero_v013_n03_p240.pdf. Accessed 7 Sept 2019

- Mateo J, Acevedo M (1989) Regionalización físico-geográfica, escala 1:3000 000. In: Nuevo Atlas de Cuba. ICGC, Gráficas Alber, España
- Mateo RG, Felicísimo AM, Muñoz J (2011) Modelos de distribución de especies: una revisión sintética. Revista Chilena de Historia Natural, 84:217-240. http://dx.doi.org/10.4067/S0716-078X2011000200008
- Mazerolle MJ (2010) AICcmodavg: model selection and multimodel inference based on (Q)AIC(c). R package version 1.25. https://www.rproject.org. Accessed 10 Feb 2019
- Mazerolle MJ, Desrochers A, Rochefort L (2005) Landscape characteristics influence pond occupancy by frogs after accounting for detectability 15 (3): 824-834 https://doi.org/10.1890/04-0502
- McCune B, Grace JB (2002) Analysis of Ecological Communities. MJM Software Design Gleneden Beach, Oregon, USA
- McGarigal K, Cushman SA, Ene E (2012) FRAGSTATS v4: Spatial Pattern Analysis Program for Categorical and Continuous Maps. Computer software program produced by the authors at the University of Massachusetts, Amherst. http://www.umass.edu/landeco/research/fragstats/fragstats.html. Accessed 12 Jan 2019
- MDBA (2014) Basin-wide environmental watering strategy. MDBA Publication 20/14. Murray-Darling Basin Authority, Canberra
- Menéndez L, Guzmán JM (eds.) (2006) Ecosistema de Manglar en el Archipiélago cubano. Editorial Academia, La Habana, Cuba
- Menéndez L, Guzmán JM, Capote RT, Rodríguez LF, Gonzáles AV (2003) Situación ambiental de los manglares del archipiélago cubano. In: Memorias IV Convención Internacional sobre Medio Ambiente y Desarrollo, La Habana, pp 435-451
- Ministry of Agriculture (2015) Gaceta Oficial de la República de Cuba, Ministerio de Justicia, Resolución No. 976/2015. http://www.gacetaoficial.cu. Accessed 20 May 2019
- Mitrani A, Díaz O (2008) Particularidades de la estructura termohalina y sus tendencias en aguas cubanas. Revista Cubana de Meteorología 14(1): 54:73
- Mitrani I, Pérez R, García OF, Salas I, Juantorena Y (2000) Las penetraciones del mar en las costas de Cuba, las zonas más expuestas y su sensibilidad al cambio climático. INSMET, CITMA, La Habana, Cuba
- Moller AP, Fielder W, Erthold PB (eds.) (2010) Effects of climate change on birds. Oxford
- Morales J (1996) El Flamenco Rosado Caribeño. Revista Flora Fauna 0: 14-17
- Moreno A, Salas I, Pérez R, García O, Mitrani I (1998) Desarrollo de las técnicas de predicción y las inundaciones costeras, prevención y reducción de su acción destructiva. Informe Técnico, PNUD, Defensa Civil, Editora del Instituto de Planificación Física, La Habana, Cuba
- Moudry V, Simova P (2012) Influence of positional accuracy, sample size and scale on modelling species distributions: a review. Int J Geogr Inf Syst 26:2083–2095. https://doi.org/10.1080/13658816.2012.721553

- Mugica L, Acosta M, Aguilar S (2014) Programa de aves acuáticas y marinas. In: Avila H (ed) Estado actual de la biodiversidad marino-costera en la región de los archipiélagos del sur de Cuba. Impresos Dominicanos s.r.l, pp 101-118
- Mugica L, Acosta M, Denis D (2001) Dinámica temporal de la Comunidad de aves asociada a la arrocera Sur del Jíbaro. Biología 15(2): 86-96
- Mugica L, Acosta M, Denis D (2003) Variaciones espacio temporales y uso del hábitat por la comunidad de aves en la arrocera Sur del Jíbaro, Sancti Spiritus, Cuba. Biología 17(2): 105-113
- Mugica L, Acosta M, Denis D (2006) Conservando las aves acuáticas. Capítulo VII. pp En: Aves acuáticas en los humedales de Cuba. (L. Mugica, D. Denis, M. Acosta, eds.) Ed. Científico-Técnica. La Habana, Cuba
- Mugica L, Acosta M, Denis D, Jiménez A, Rodríguez A, Ruiz X (2006a) Rice culture in Cuba as an important wintering site for migrant waterbirds from North America. In: Boere GC, Galbraith CA, Stroud DA (eds) Waterbirds around the world. The Stationery Office, Edinburgh, UK, pp 172-176
- Mugica L, Acosta M, Jiménez A, Morejón A, Medina J (2005) The american White Pelican (Pelecanus erythrorhynchos) Journal of Caribbean Ornithology 18:77-78
- Mugica L, Denis D, Acosta A (2002) Resultados preliminares de la encuesta sobre la Yaguasa (Dendrocygna arborea) en varias regiones de Cuba. El Pitirre 15 (2) 55-60. http://www.bu.edu/scscb/publications/Archives/Pitirre%2015(2)%202002.pdf#page=9. Accesses 25 April 2019
- Mugica L, Denis D, Acosta M (eds) (2006) Aves acuáticas en los humedales de Cuba. Editorial Científico-Técnica, La Habana, Cuba
- Naugle DE, Johnson RR, Estey ME, Higgins KF (2001) A landscape approach to conserving wetland bird habitat in the prairie pothole region of eastern South Dakota. Wetlands 21:1–17. https://doi.org/10.1672/0277-5212(2001)021[0001:ALATCW]2.0.CO;2
- Navarro N, Reyes E (2017) Annotated Checklist of the Birds of Cuba. Editorial Nuevos Mundos, St. Agustin, FL, No. 1
- Neelin JDM, Munnich H, Sumeyerson JE, Holloway CE (2006) Tropical drying trends in global warming models and observations. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 103: 6110–6115
- Newton I (1998) Population limitation in birds. Academic, San Diego
- Novo R (2010) Informe Proyecto Sistema Áreas Protegidas de Pinar del Río. Jardín Botánico de Pinar del Río. Centro de Investigaciones y Servicios Ambientales ECOVIDA, Pinar del Río, Cuba
- Núñez A (1989) Regiones Naturales-Antrópicas, escala 1:3000 000. Sección XII Paisajes. In: Nuevo Atlas de Cuba. ICGC, Gráficas Alber, España
- ODS Objetivos de Desarrollo Sostenible (2019) Cuba. Informe Nacional sobre la implementación a la Agenda 2030. La Habana, Cuba. 142 pp. https://foroalc2030.cepal.org. Accessed 29 Oct 2019
- Ogden JC, Baldwina JD, Bass OL, Browder JA, Cook MI, Fredericke PC, Frezzaf PE, Galvez RA, Hodgsonh AB, Meyer KD, Oberhofer LD, Paul AF, Fletcher PJ, Davis SM, Lorenz JJ (2014) Waterbirds as indicators of ecosystem health in the coastal marine habitats of southern Florida: 1. Selection and justification for a suite of indicator species. Ecological Indicators 44:148–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2014.03.007

- Oksanen JF, Blanchet G, Friendly M, Kindt R, Legendre P, McGlinn D, Minchin PR, O'Hara RB, Simpson GL, Solymos PM, Stevens HH, Szoecs E, Wagner H (2018) vegan: Assemblages Ecology Package. R package version 2.5-1. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=vegan
- OpenStreetMap (2019) OpenStreetMap shape files for Cuba. http://download.geofabrik.de/centralamerica/cuba.html. Accessed 10 Feb 2019
- Ottenwaldar JA (1991) Situación poblacional del Flamenco (*Phoenicopterus ruber*) en la región del Caribe. In: Reunión técnica sobre la situación problemática del Flamenco Rosa en el Mediterráneo Occidental y Africa Noroccidental. Agencia de Medio Ambiente, Junta de Andalucía, Sevilla, España, pp 83-91
- Pachauri RK, Meyer LA (eds.) (2014) Cambio climático 2014: Informe de síntesis. Contribución de los Grupos de trabajo I, II y III al Quinto Informe de Evaluación del Grupo Intergubernamental de Expertos sobre el Cambio Climático (IPCC), Ginebra, Suiza, 157 pp.
- Parada A (2000) Caracterización y dinámica de la ornitocenosis del Refugio de Fauna Las Salinas de Brito, Ciénaga de Zapata, Cuba. Tesis de Diploma, Universidad de la Habana, Cuba. 44 pp.
- Paradis E, Schliep K (2018) ape 5.0: an environment for modern phylogenetics and evolutionary analyses in R. Bioinformatics 35: 526-528. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/bty633
- Parmesan C, Ryrholm N, Stefanescu C, Hill JK, Thomas CD, Descimon H, Huntley B, Kaila L, Kullberg J, Tammaru T, Tennent WJ, Thomas JA, Warren M (1999) Poleward shifts in geographical ranges of butterfly species associated with regional warming. Letters to Nature 399:579–583. https://www.nature.com/articles/21181.pdf. Accessed 27 Sep 2019
- Pearce JL, Boyce MS (2006) Modelling distribution and abundance with presence-only data. J Appl Ecol 43:405–412. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2005.01112.x
- Pearson R, Dawson TP (2003) Blackwell Publishing Ltd. Predicting the impacts of climate change on the distribution of species: are bioclimate envelope models useful? Global Ecology and Biogeography 12: 361–371. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1466-822X.2003.00042.x
- Perera S (2004) Dinámica de la Comunidad de Aves Acuáticas del Refugio de Fauna Rió Máximo, Camagüey. Tesis de diploma. Universidad de la Habana, Cuba.
- Pérez SR, Fonseca C, Lapinel B, González C, Planos E, Cutié V, Ballester M, Limia M, Vega R (2009) Segunda evaluación de las variaciones y tendencias del clima en Cuba. Informe científico. Instituto de Meteorología. La Habana, 75 pp
- Pérez-García JM, Sebastián-González E, Alexander KL, Sánchez-Zapata JA, Botella F (2014) Effect of landscape configuration and habitat quality on the community structure of waterbirds using a man-made habitat. European Journal of Wildlife Research 60:875-883. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10344-014-0854-8
- Perillo GME, Pérez DE, Picolo MC, Palma ED, Cuadrado DG (2005) Geomorphologic and physic characteristics of a human impacted estuary: Quequen Grande river estuary, Argentina. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf science 62:301-312
- Peter B (2001) Bird Migration: A General Survey. Oxford University Press
- Peterson AT, Ortega-Huerta MA, Bartley J, Sanchez-Cordero V, Soberon J, Buddemeier RH, Stockwell DRB (2002) Future projections for Mexican faunas under global climate change scenarios. Nature 416:626–629. https://www.nature.com/articles/416626a.pdf. Accessed 20 Sept 2019

- Peterson AT, Papes M, Soberon J (2008) Rethinking receiver operating characteristic analysis applications in ecological niche modeling. Ecological Modelling 213:63-72
- Peterson T, Soberón J (2012) Species Distribution Modeling and Ecological Niche Modeling: Getting the Concepts Right. Natureza & Conservação10: 102-107
- Phillips SJ, Anderson RP, Schapire RE (2006) Maximum entropy modeling of species geographic
distributions.EcologicalModelling190:231-259.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2005.03.026
- Phillips SJ, Dudık M (2008) Modeling of species distributions with Maxent: new extensions and acomprehensive evaluation. Ecography 31: 161-175. doi: 10.1111/j.2007.0906-7590.05203.x
- Pielou EC (1969) An Introduction to Mathematical Ecology. Wiley, New York
- Poiani KA, Richter BD, Anderson MG, Richter HE (2000) Biodiversity conservation at multiple scales: functional sites, landscapes, and networks. BioScience 50(2): 133-146
- Planos E, Vega R, Guevara A (eds.) (2013) Impacto del Cambio Climático y Medidas de adaptación en Cuba. Instituto de Meteorología, Agencia de Medio ambiente, Ministerio de Ciencia Tecnología y Medio Ambiente. La Habana, Cuba, 430 pp
- Prugh LR, Hodges KE, Sinclair ARE, Brashares JS (2008) Effect of habitat area and isolation on fragmented animal populations. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:20770–20775. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0806080105
- R Core Team (2018) R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. https://www.R-project.org/
- Ramsar Convention Secretariat (2010) Designating Ramsar Sites: Strategic Framework and guidelines for the future development of the List of Wetlands of International Importance, Ramsar handbooks for the wise use of wetlands, 4th edition, vol. 17. Ramsar Convention Secretariat, Gland, Switzerland
- Ramsar Convention Secretariat (2011) Wetland ecosystem services. Reservoirs of biodiversity. https://www.ramsar.org/sites/default/files/documents/library/services_06_e.pdf. Accessed 2 Feb 2019
- Ranganathan J, Krishnaswamy J, Anand MO (2010) Landscape-level effects on avifauna within tropical agriculture in the Western Ghats: insights for management and conservation. Biological Conservation 143(12):2909–2917. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2010.04.018
- Rappole JH, King DI, Diez J (2003) Winter vs. breeding habitat limitation for an endangered avian migrant. Ecological Application 13:735–742. doi.org/10.1890/10510761(2003)013[0735:WVBLFA]2.0.CO;2
- Riffell SK, Keas BE, Burton TM (2001) Area and habitat relationships of birds in Great Lakes coastal wet meadows. Wetlands 21:492–507. https://doi.org/10.1672/0277-5212(2001)021[0492:AAHROB]2.0.CO;2
- Rodríguez A (2004) Análisis de los patrones de migración de varias especies de anátidos en el Neotrópico durante el período 1910-2004. Dissertation, University of Havana
- Rodríguez BD, Arias A, Ruiz E (eds.) (2014) Fauna terrestre del archipiélago Sabana-Camaguey, Cuba. Editorial Academia, La Habana

- Rodríguez YJ, Fernández L, Cruz R (eds.) (1993) Estudio Geográfico Integral: Ciénaga de Zapata. Academia de Ciencias de Cuba e Instituto Cubano de Geodesia y Cartografía, La Habana, Cuba
- Romano M, Barberis I, Pagano F, Maidagan J (2005) Seasonal and interannual variation in waterbird abundance and species composition in the Melincue' saline lake, Argentina. European Journal of Wildlife Research 51:1–13. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10344-005-0078-z
- Rooth J (1965) The Flamingos on Bonaire: Habitat, Diet and Reproduction of Phoenicopterus ruber ruber. Utrecht, Holland: Foundation for Scientific Research in Surinam and The Netherlands
- Roshier DA, Robertson AI, Kingsford RT (2002) Responses of waterbirds to flooding in an arid region of Australia and implications for conservation. Biological Conservation 106:399–411. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3207(01)00268-3
- Roynesdal K (2007) The Flamingo (On-line). http://www.bio.davidson.edu/people/vecase/Behavior/Spring2007/Roynesdal/index.html. Accessed April 15 2010
- Russell IA, Randall RM, Hanekom N (2014) Spatial and Temporal Patterns of Waterbird Assemblages in the Wilderness Lakes Complex, South Africa. Waterbirds 37(1):1-18. https://doi.org/10.1675/063.037.0104
- Sánchez MC, Cushman SA, Saura S (2013) Scale dependence in habitat selection: the case of the endangered brown bear (Ursus arctos) in the Cantabrian Range (NW Spain). Int J Geogr Inf Sci 28(8):1–16. https://doi.org/10.1080/13658816.2013.776684
- Sandilyan S, Kathiresan K (2015) Density of waterbirds in relation to habitats of Pichavaram mangroves, Southern India. Journal of Coastal Conservation 19:131–139. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s11852-015-0376-x
- Saygili F, Yigit N, Bulut S (2011) The spatial and temporal distributions of waterbirds in Lakes Aks ehirEber and Lake Köyceig z in western Anatolia, Turkey - a comparative analysis. Turkey Journal of Zoology 35:467-480. http://journals.tubitak.gov.tr/zoology/abstract.htm?id=11806
- Sebastian-González E, Green AJ (2014) Habitat Use by Waterbirds in Relation to Pond Size, Water Depth, and Isolation: Lessons from a Restoration in Southern Spain. Restoration Ecology 22(3): 311–318. https://doi.org/10.1111/rec.12078
- Sebastian-González E, Sánchez-Zapata JA, Botella F (2010) Agricultural ponds as alternative habitat for waterbirds: Spatial and temporal patterns of abundance and management strategies. European Journal of Wildlife Research 56: 11–20. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10344-009-0288-x
- Shirk AJ (2012) Scale dependency of American marten (Martes americana) habitat relationships. Biology and conservation of martens, sables, and fishers: a new synthesis. Cornell University Press, Ithaca
- Sillet TS, Holmes RT, Herry TWS (2000) Impacts of a global climate cycle on the population dynamics of a migratory songbird. Science 288: 2040–2042. DOI: 10.1126/science.288.5473.2040
- Silvera Y (2005) Dinámica de la comunidad de aves acuáticas en la micropresa del parque Lenin durante las etapas migratorias del 2002 al 2005. Tesis de diploma. Facultad de Biología. Universidad de la Habana. Ciudad de la Habana. 60pp.
- Simmons RE (1996) Population declines, viable breeding areas, and management options for flamingos in southern Africa. Biology 10: 504–514. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1739.1996.10020504.x

- Skelly DK, Joseph LN, Possingham HP, Freidenburg LK, Farrugia TJ, Kinnisony MT, Hendry AP (2007) Evolutionary responses to climate change. Conservation Biology 21:1353-1355.
- Smith JA, Reitsma LR, Marra PPM (2010) Moisture as a determinant of habitat quality for a nonbreeding Neotropical migratory songbird. Ecology 91: 2874–2882. https://doi.org/10.1890/09-2212.1
- Soberón J, Nakamura M (2009) Niches and distributional areas: concepts, methods, and assumptions. PNAS 17: 19644-19650. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0901637106
- Solomon S, Qin D, Manning M, Marquis M, Averyt K, et al, (eds.) (2007) Climate change 2007: the physical science basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge and New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Stafford JD, Kaminski RM, Reinecke KJ (2010) Avian Foods, Foraging and Habitat Conservation in World Rice Fields. Waterbirds 33 (Special Publication 1): 133-150. https://doi.org/10.1675/063.033.s110
- Steen V, Powell AN (2012) Potential Effects of Climate Change on the Distribution of Waterbirds in the Prairie Pothole Region, U.S.A. Waterbirds 35(2): 217-229. https://www.pnas.org/content/106/Supplement 2/19644.short. Accessed 7 Sept 2019
- Stocker TF, Qin D, Plattner GK, Alexander LV, et al. (2013) Resumen técnico. En: Stocker, TF, Qin D, Plattner GK, Tignor M, Allen SK, Boschung J, Nauels A, Xia Y, Bex V, Midgley PM (eds.): Cambio climático 2013. Bases físicas. Contribución del Grupo de trabajo I al Quinto Informe de Evaluación del Grupo Intergubernamental de Expertos sobre el Cambio Climático. 33-182. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, Reino Unido y Nueva York
- Studds CE, Marra PPM (2007) Linking fluctuations in rainfall to nonbreeding season performance in a long distance migratory bird, Setophaga ruticilla. Climate Research 35: 115–122. https://doi.org/10.3354/cr00718
- Summer DM, Bryan BA, Crossman ND, Meyer WS (2012) Species vulnerability to climate change: impacts on spatial conservation priorities and species representation Global Change Biology 18: 2335–2348. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2012.02700.x
- Sutton-Grier AE, Sandifer PA (2018) Conservation of Wetlands and Other Coastal Ecosystems: A Commentary on their Value to Protect Biodiversity, Reduce Disaster Impacts, and Promote Human Health and Well-Being. Wetlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13157-018-1039-0
- Taft OW, Haig SM (2006) Landscape context mediates influence of local food abundance on wetland use by wintering shorebirds in an agricultural valley. Biological Conservation 128: 298-307. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2005.09.036
- Thomas CD, Cameron A, Green RE, Bakkenes M, Beaumont LJ, Collingham YC, Erasmus BFN, de Siqueira MF, Grainger A, Hannah L, Hughes L, Huntley B, van Jaarsveld AS, Midgley GF, Miles L, Ortega-Huerta MA, Peterson AT, Phillips OL, Williams SE (2004) Extinction risk from climate change. Nature 427: 145-148. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature02121
- Thornton DH, Branch LC, Sunquist ME (2011) The influence of landscape, patch, and within-patch factors on species presence and abundance: a review of focal patch studies. Landscape Ecology 26:7–18. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-010-9549-z
- Thuiller W, Broennimann O, Hughes G, Alkemade JRM, Midgley GF, et al. (2006) Vulnerability of African mammals to anthropogenic climate change under conservative land transformation

assumptions. Global Change Biology 12: 424–440. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2006.01115.x

- Tingley MW, Monahan WB, Beissinger SR, Moritz C (2009) Birds track their Grinnellian niche through a century of climate change. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 106: 19637–19643. https://www.pnas.org/content/106/Supplement_2/19637.short. Accessed 18 Sept 2019
- Trzcinski MK, Fahrig L, Merriam HG (1999) Independent effects of forest cover and fragmentation on the distribution of forest breeding birds. Ecological Applications 9: 586–593
- Tomankova I, Boland H, Reid N, Fox A (2013) Assessing the extent to which temporal changes in waterbird community composition are driven by either local, regional or global factors. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 23: 343–355. https://doi.org/10.1002/aqc.2303
- Toral G, Aragone's D, Bustamante J, Figuerola J (2011) Using Landsat images to map habitat availability for waterbirds in rice fields. Ibis The international journal of avian science 153: 684–694. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1474-919X.2011.01147.x
- Tuite CH (2000) The distribution and density of Lesser Flamingos in East Africa in relation to food availability and productivity. Waterbirds 23: 52–63. https://doi.org/10.2307/1522147
- Turner MG (2005) Landscape ecology: what is the state of the science? Ann Rev Ecol Evol Syst 36:319–344. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.36.102003.152614
- Turner MG, Gardner RH (2015) Lanscape Ecology in Theory and Practice, Pattern and Process, second edition. Springer-Verlag, New York
- Vales M, Alvares A, Montes L, Feraz H (eds.) (1998) Estudio Nacional de Biodiversidad, Proyecto GEF/PNUMA, CITMA, La Habana, Cuba
- Van Dijk JG, Duijns S, Gyimesi A, de Boer WF, Nolet BA (2012) Mallards feed longer to maintain intake rate under competition on a natural food distribution. Ethology 118: 169–177. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0310.2011.01994.x
- VanRees-Siewert KL, Dinsmore JJ (1996) Influence of wetland age on bird use of restored wetlands in Iowa. Wetlands 16 (4): 577–582. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03161348
- Varela S, Lima-Ribeiro MS, Terribile LC (2015) A short guide to the climatic variables of the lastglacial maximum for biogeographers. Plos One 10:e0129037. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0129037
- Vargas FH, Macdonald DW, Barlow S, Hart T, Jimenez-Uzcategui G, Chavez J, Naranjo S (2008) Effects of climate variation on the abundance and distribution of flamingos in the Galapagos Islands. Journal of Zoology 276 (2008) 252–265. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7998.2008.00485.x
- Vega R, Sardiñas E, Nieves ME, Centella A (1990) Análisis estadístico-climatológico del régimen de la velocidad máxima del viento en Cuba. Informe Final de Proyecto Científico, INSMET, CITMA, La Habana, Cuba
- Venables WN, Ripley BD (2002) Modern Applied Statistics with S, Fourth Edition. Springer, New York
- Velazco K (2017) Valoración del efecto del cambio climático sobre la distribución de especies cubanas del género Sphaerodactylus (Sauria: Sphaerodactylidae). Tesis de Maestría. Universidad de la Habana

- Virkkala R, Heikkinen RK, Fronzek S, Leikola N (2013) Climate change, northern birds of conservation concern and matching the hotspots of habitat suitability with the Reserve Network. Plos One 8 (5): e63376. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0063376
- Vuuren DP, Edmonds J. Kainuma M, Rihai K, Thomson A, Hibbard K, Hurtt GC, Kram T, Krey V, Lamarque JF, Masui T, Meinshausen M, Nakicenovic N, Smith SJ, Rose SK (2011) The representative concentration pathways: an overview. Climate Change.109:5-31. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-011-0148-z
- Wang R, Li Q, He S, Liu Y, Wang M, Jiang G (2018) Modeling and mapping the current and future distribution of Pseudomonas syringae pv. actinidiae under climate change in China. PLOS ONE 13(2). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0192153
- Wasserman TN, Cushman SA, Do W, Hayden J (2012) Multiscale habitat relationships of Martes americana in northern Idaho, USA. Research Paper RMRS-RP-94.. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station, Fort Collins, CO, U.S
- Wayne GP (2013) The beginners's guide to representative concentration pathways. Skeptical Science. http://www.gci.org.uk/RCPs/RCP_Guide.pdf. Accessed 22 Sept 2019
- Weaver PL, Gonzales KA (2005) Wild-land fire management and restoration. In: Twelfth meeting of Caribbean foresters. Weaver PL, Gonzales KA (eds.), p. 85. United States Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, International Institute of Tropical Forestry, R10 Piedras, PR
- Webb E, Smith LM, Vrtiska MP, Lagrange TG (2010) Effects of Local and Landscape Variables on Wetland Bird Habitat Use During Migration Through the Rainwater Basin. Journal of Wildlife Management 74(1):109–119. https://doi.org/10.2193/2008-577
- Wen L, Saintilan N, Reid JRW, Colloff MJ (2016) Changes in distribution of waterbirds following prolonged drought reflect habitat availability in coastal and inland regions. Ecology and Evolution 6 (18):6672-6689. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.2091
- Wetlands International (2018) Waterbird Population Estimates. http://www.wpe.wetlands.org on. Accessed 1 Feb 2018
- Wiens JA, Stralberg D, Jongsomjit D, Howell CA, Snyder MA (2009) Niches, models, and climate change: Assessing the assumptions and uncertainties. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 106: 19729-19736. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0901639106
- Williams PH, Margules CR, Wilbert DW (2002) Data requirements and data sources for biodiversity priority area selection. Journal of Bioscience 27:327–338. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02704963
- Wilson S, Ladeau L, Tottrup AP, Marra PP (2011) Range-wide effects of breeding and non-breeding season climate on the abundance of a Neotropical migrant songbird. Ecology 92: 1789-1798. https://doi.org/10.1890/10-1757.1
- Wilson TE, Wheeler J, Green MC, Palacios E (eds.) (2014) Reddish egret (Egretta rufuscens)
conservationaction plan. Unpublished report, Reddish Egret Conservation Planning Workshop,
October 2012, Corpus Christi, Texas.
http://www.reddishegret.org/REEG plan final single.pdf. Accessed 23 Oct 2019
- Wu T (2012) A mass-flux cumulus parameterization scheme for large-scale models: description and test with observations. Clim Dyn 38: 725-744. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00382-011-0995-3
- Xu Y, Si Y, Yin S, Zhang W, Grishchenko M, Prins H H T, Gong P, de Boer WF (2019) Speciesdependent effects of habitat degradation in relation to seasonal distribution of migratory

waterfowl in the East Asian–Australasian Flyway. Landscape Ecology 34:243–257. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-018-00767-7

- Zhang Y, Fox AD, Cao L, Jia Q, Lu Ch, Prins HHT, de Boer WF (2019) Effects of ecological and anthropogenic factors on waterbird abundance at a Ramsar Site in the Yangtze River Floodplain. Ambio 48:293–303. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-018-1076-1
- Zuur AG, Ieno EN, Walker NJ, Savaliev AA, Smith GM (2009) Mixed effects models and extensions in ecology with r. Springer, New York, USA